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It was a year of record sales and record earnings.
We achieved critical scale in faster-growing
markets and greatly expanded our product range.
We extended our geographic diversification and
completed a transforming acquisition. And we
came closer together as One Company focused
on the long-term benefit of our customers,
associates and shareholders.




LETTER TO SHARETOLIFERS

To Our Shareholders
Over the past 10 years we have transformed General Cable from a U.S.-centric business focused on communi-
cations and construction cable to a global enterprise with a product range and geographic diversity sceond to
none. We now have 45 manufacturing facilities in 22 countries and sell our wire and cable products throughout
the world. Two-thirds of our business comes from outside the United States, and we participate in nearly every
major wire and cable market,

In 2007 we demonstrated our ability w perform as we transform, delivering record revenues and carnings
for our sharcholders while complening four strategic acquisinions and expanding internal investinent in higher-

growth products to improve our ability to serve faster-growing economies and markets.

Generating Record Results
Net sales in 2007 were up $874 million to more than $4.6 billion, We achicved this increase largely through
strategic acquisitions and our partcipation in several kev markets, such as:
¢ Global exploration and extraction ol cnergy resources
¢ Generation, transmission and distribution of electricity, including alternative energy sources
*  Global infrastructure and construction growth

Electric utility cable sales were up 22%. and electrical industrial infrastructure cable sales grew 36%.
Overall, communications product sales were up nearly 11%, despite a continuing decline in North American
outside plant telecommunications cable demand.

Operating carnings increased $130 nullion, or 55%, to $366 million during the vear. Adjusted EBITDA
was up $15¢ million, or 52%, to $436 mlhon, On the strength of those results, our share price rose 68% to

close the year at $73.28.
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LETTER TO SHARETOLDBERS

Generating Strategic Momentum

In 2007 we took a giant leap forward in our vision to become a leading global player in the wire and cable
industry with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge International Corporation (PDIC). PDIC itself is a global
company, with 19 manufacturing locations including three minority positions, selling electric utility and
electrical infrastructure produets mto 45 countries. When we completed this transaction, we estimated that
this business would add approximately $1.4 billion in revenues at current metal prices und be 40 to 50 cents per
share accretive to earnings in its first full vear as part of General Cable.

We have been actively looking to expand inte many developing economies of the world for a long time, and
this acquisition greatly accelerates our progress. With the addition of PDIC and its outstanding platform of
asscts and management, General Cable i1s pushing deeper into developing economies as well as introducing our
combined Company to areas of the world where we have not historically participated in a meaningful way. An
early return on this investment came in the form of recently awarded contracts that will more than double our
presence in the Middle East over the next year.

The integration of PDIC into General Cable has been seamless, aided considerably by PDIC’s history as
a stand-alone division of a major U.S. compauy. As a result, our management team has been able to {ocus on
higher-value synergistic activities rather than on integration efforts alone.

Looking ahead, we see many opportunities to expand into new markets using PDIC as a launching pad w
some of the highest-growth regions of the world. And going forward, the addition of PDIC will help reduce our
reliance on U.S. markets to less than 35% of revenues.

The PDIC transaction came on the heels of our acquisition of Norddeutsche Seckabelwerke GmbH, well
known as NSW, located in Nordenham, Germany. We saw these assets and the outstanding global technical
reputation of NSW as the ideal platform to enter two new markets for us: global submarine power cable and

submarine fiber optie communications systems.
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During the year, we began an investment plan to design and manufacture submarine cables for transmis-
sion and distribution of electricity, with particular focus on the emerging wind farm markets and the ever-
deeper-water requirements of offshore exploration and production platforms. With energy cable expertise from
our Silec operations in France, combined with submarine cable manufacturing and installation expertise from
NSW, we have already developed a line of products that is quickly gaining recognition in the marketplace.
In fact, we recently announced a more than $30 millton contract to supply cables to the first wind farm to be
located 1n the North Sea, with installation occurring over the next 18 months,

We are also expanding the capabilities of NSW’s core submarine fiber optic communications business to
include long-haul repeatered lengths. In partnership with a premier repeater technology company we have
developed cables to meet the rigorous demands of the submarine environment. Together, we are working on a
significant long-haul submarine fiber optic communications link which is currently in sea trials. We believe the
global submarine power cable and submarine fiber optic communications systems markets will be important
growth drivers for several years.

In addinion to the PDIC and NSW acquisitions, we also expanded our market presence in India and China
in 2007, In India, we acquired a power cable company to serve one of the world’s fastest-growing markets for
cnergy and electrical infrastructure cables. In China, we purchased an automotive and industrial cable
products business to provide a trusted, reliable source of specialty cable to some of the world’s largest original
equipment manufacturers.

We also introduced new products for the global oil. gas and wind farm markets, and effectivelv trans-
ferred proprietary high-voltage overhead utility cable technology developed in North America to our
European operations for application in their local markets. We continued to stretch the boundaries of

networking cable performance. To meet the high-speed bandwidth needs of global communications networks,

we developed innovative, patented designs for enhanced Category and 10 Gigabit data communications




LETTER TOo SIHAREIOLDIERS

cable. In addition we created a joint venture for the development and commercialization of superconductu

cables for specialty applications in power transformers and generators. We also made investments to main-
tain our cdge in compounding and material science technologies. Behind each of these achievements is our
global rescarch and development capability, which we count on to remain at the forefront of our industry with
new products, innovative designs, advanced materials and a continuous effort to reduce cost and waste in the
manuficturing process.

Financially, in a year of credic market turmail, we successtully completed three significant eredit transac-
tions. First, we issued $325 million of high-vield bonds that allowed us to call our $285% million of high-yield
bonds at a net interest savings of about 200 basis points. The new bonds included a variable tranche, allowing
us the flexibility to pay down a portion of our debt as the business generates cash. Second, we 1ssued $475
million of convertible notes at a 1% coupon o partially fund the PDIC transaction, And finally, we were able to
raise the limit of our Asset Backed Louan (ABL} by $100 million. These transactions were initiated in support
of our global expansion and internal investment goals and were made possible in a difficult credit market by the

strength of our business.

Generating Organizational Agility

With the completion of the PDIC acquisttion, we announced the creation of a five-member global Operating
Committee. By combining local leadership and global responsibilities, this structure allows us to better leverage
one of our longstanding competitive advantages: the agility of a small company combined with the power and
strength of a large company. We achieve this Hexibility through global communication, shared resources,
quicker dectsions with better information, faster responses to changing market conditions, and immediate
dissemination of best practices and solutions. Each executive on the Operating Committee is charged with the

collective benefit of the Company rather than only his own silo of responsibility. I%s working. Already we are




benefiting in areas such as product development, technology transfer, commercial opportunities, purchasing,

capital investment and new market opportunities.

Generating Long-Term Opportunity

Over the past couple of years, we have been investing to position our Company to benefit from many global
developments that we are confident will provide opportunity for us over the next decade. Two major themes
stand out,

First, alternative energy is beginning to take center stage in the global arena, and “green jobs™ are now part
of the U.S. political dialogue. Countries are identifying new sources of power generation in a world that has
experienced tremendous increases in oil prices, at a time when new deposits of fossil fuels are becoming
more difficult to find. There is mounting political pressure in countries around the world to improve energy
security and to use cleaner fuels to lower carbon emissions. Many countries are initiating targets for the amount
of electricity generated by renewable technologies. Given that terrestrial and offshore wind power is the most
developed technology and is becoming increasingly competitive on an economic basis, it should account for a
disproportionate amount of the growth in this market. Alternative energy mandates are occurring all over the
world, including Western Europe, Australia, New Zealand, and North and South America. We see tremendous
opportunity te participate in a meaningful way, given our global footprint and experience.

Second, developing countries are keenly aware that the electrical grid and power generation are key
enablers of economic growth and social development. This is particularly evident in nations with abun-
dant natural resources that are now reinvesting in their infrastructures to attract new business, grow their
economies and take more active roles in the global economy. Recently in South Africa we saw a major utility

company resort to rolling blackouts because it could not keep up with strong economic development coupled

with the energy needs of a growing middle class. According to a leading energy analyst, Africa’s electricity
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supply industry 1s expected to require a total investment of $563 billion over the next 20 years to meet growing
demand. We see this type of trend occurring in South America, China, India and the Middle East, and we have

positioned our Company to benefit from these trends.

Generating Success
We redefine our future every day through the decisions we make and the actions we take, especially in the
areas of energy infrastructure, developing economies and investing for profitable growth internally and through
acquisition, We approach the future with confidence that our position in the $150 billion wire and cable
industry is stronger than ever and that our human and productive assets provide an outstanding platform for
diversified growth,

At the core of our ability to act on long-term opportunities, there are nearly 12,000 associates who drive our
success through hard work, persistence, vision, dedication, attention to detail and taking care of our customers.
Our job is to give them the opportunity to excel and the tools to do the job, Toward that end, we made great

strides In 2007, and we look forward to reporting on our associates’ many successes in 2008,

D /{&ma /@% S i, <

GREGORY B. KENNY JOHN E. WELSH 111
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER NONEXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN




Generating Opportunities

We create our own opportunities by aligning

with marketplace realities. Supplying products
for the renovation of deteriorating infrastructure
in developed countries. Enabling the build-out

of infrastructure in developing nations. Finding
seams of growth in established markets. Applying
our capabilities to expansion initiatives in high-
growth regions of the world. Rapidly leveraging
localized innovation across global applications.
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Demand for energy cable has been increasing in every region of the world. as developed economies rebuild their energy
infrastructures and developing economies focus on meeting their escalating electricity needs. Throughout the glohal
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As wind farms proliferale offshore and oil exploration and production platforms move inio deeper parts of the ccean. the

need increases for high-performance submarine power cable and submarine fiber optic communications systems. We are

answenng the call with new products and complete solutions involving manufactunng, engineering, seabed mapping. project

management and installation of submarine systems.




We are expanding our presence in India and China to better serve fast-growing markets with a complete line of energy,
construction and communications infrastructure cables. From our base in the Jiangsu province, we wiil reach out to the
domestic Chinese market and export to the wider Asia-Pacific region. With our power cable company in northern India, we
expect to become a leading supplier to the Indian market.
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& BLUE SKY THINKING # & /
With the expeditious integration of PDIC and General Cable assets and organizations, we have moved rapidly to
leverage the knowledge that resides in each region. We have formed global councils to share ideas and expertise.

We communicale best practices in manufacturing and distribution and apply Lean Six Sigma prninciples as a way of
hfe in all General Cable localions to produce and deliver quality products when and where our customers need them,
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in depth and breadth of products, in geographical presence, and in innovative technology development and {ransfer,
General Cable is one of the most diverse and expansive wire and cable manufacturers in the world. Qur talented associates
are poised to capitalize on new business opportunities in established and emerging regions around the globe.
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EMERGING MARKETS

GOING WHERE
THE GROWTH IS

General Cable has been expanding its global footprint for
the better part of a decade. Tn 2007, with the acquisition
of Phelps Dodge International Corporation (PDIC), we
greatly enhinced our presence in many developiog regions
ol the world, Tn these regions, we find significant invest-
ment in industrial and energy infrastructure networks to
support a growing midedle class and economies that are
growing at rates far above those in developed nations.

Stx vears ago, PDIC was selling in 10 countries. When
thev joined General Cable in 2007, they were selling in
45 countries. The products were the same, the equippment
was the sume, and the people were the same. What was
different was their approach to doing business using their
One Company concept,

That One Comfrany concept now applies to all of General
Cable. Moving forward together, we are focusing on the
profitability ol the whole Company instead of individoal
units, sharing resources instead of competing for them,

leveraging best practices everywhere instead of operating

insilos, and viewing the entire world as our market instead
nf“miting vurselves to Tegitmal lJchpcc[ivcs.

We are expanding throughout Latin America and
across Sub-Saharan Africa, the Middle East and Asia-
Pacific regions. We have become very fast and flexible
in creating opportunity i these parts of the world and
very disciplined in how we go o market. We understand
how to work in emerging markets, how 1o manage the
risks, how to operate the joint ventures, how to harvest
the substantial opportunities those markets offer.

Going forwurd as One Company combining the assets
of PDIC and General Cable, we know these markets are
ever-changing: they have risks, they move fast, and they are
unpredictable. But if you understand them, the rewards
are significant, regardless of the economic cyvele. Today
our customers choose us because we can serve them any-
where in the world with globally competitive products,
with the same service, same philosophy and sume culture,

That is a unique value proposition. difficult to replicate.

Genvral Cable s well-pusitioned
tomeet the wire awd cable necds
of Brazil™s 32,4 hillion rural

electrification program, L finrn

Taddos (Liht fur ).

Coneral Cables Aeraprex”
cabile was designed wo meet
Braziliun Uty Compranies”
requirements fora speciyl
colar-coded muldiples cuble tor
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Mathias Sandoval

Executive Vice President, President and Chief Executive Officer,
General Cable Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa and Mideast/Asia-Pacific;
President and Chief Executive Officer, Phelps Dodge International Corporation

Experience:

Mathias started with PINC 24 vears ago as o process engineer in Costa Rica, He has held positions in

engineering, operations and nanagement. 1le has served as President of PDICTS Veneznelan operations.

Viee President of their Global Alumisun: Business and Viee President of Global Energy. He was named

President of PDHC i 20070 aned |-

cecutive Vice President. President and Chiel Excentive Oflicer.

Latin America. Sub-Salaran Africaand Mideast/Asia-Pacific Region for General Cable 1n 2007,




“We are experienced in serving growing markets in
developing countries around the world, and now we

are resourced to serve them better than cver.”




ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE

BIG SOLUTIONS
FOR BIG NEEDS

Insupplving global euergy infrastructure markets, we play
a key role in providing higher-value produets, cultivating
stronger  end-customer  relationships, and  developing
product and material design capabilities that differentiate
us from competitive offerings.

When we say “energy infrastructure,” we're actually
talking about a range of solutions that support the
Exploration and Extraction ol natural resources and fossil
fuels and the Generation, Preduction, Transmission and
Distribution of energy, hoth teaditional and alternative.

The global demand for natural resources and new
or alternative energy sources, as well as the upgrade of
existing infrastructure, has been well documented in the
press. These trends. combined with our global footprint,
product profile and resources, are providing growth
opportunities for our Company now and inta the future.

Countries are identifying new sources of power
generation in the face of price increases for oil and
difficulty in finding new deposits of fossil fuels. The
political pressure to improve energy security is building
in countries around the world, us is the case for using

cleaner fuels to reduce carbon emissions. We provide the

products to respond to these needs for traditional as well
as alternative sources of energy. In fact, we are one of the
leaching companies in the world for cables that support
ulternative energy technologies.

Developing countries are learning quickly thai the gen-
cration and transmission of electricity can be a critical
limiting factor in their pursuit of new business, financial
growthand full participationin the global cconomy. These
regions need aggressive nvestment in their electeicity
infrastructure just to keep up with their current level of
ceonomic ZICli\'il)‘.

Mast of our energy products are market-specitie. They
are made 1o customer specifications, with extensive
engineering requirements and service after the sale.
Compared to general market offerings. these produets
involve a higher emphasis on market rescarch, new
product development, engineering services and customer
support. Working globally as Oue Gompany, we are able
to cffectively transfer product design, product technology
and manufacturing capabilities from areas of expertise to
other regions of the world to support rapid development

of local products for local markets,

Generad Cable's Freneh subsidiary.
Sitfee Cablesis a magor supplier for
an tmportent apgrade to the ander-
ground extra-high-voltage electrie

transmission and disteibugion

systennin the eastern Diited States,

Siler Brand 230KV XPLE extra-
high-vesltage cable is representative
ol eur new underground
transmission products that
connplemenit onr established

overliead transiission cables,

Mike Andrews

Executive Vice President and Group President,
North American Energy Infrastructure and Technology

Experience:

Mike joined General Cable in 1996, Liringing with him a hackgronnd in finanee and managenent consalting. A1 General
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to record levels of sales aud profic perlormance and headed up significant ternarvannds inanr Tadusorialand

Spectaley husinesses. He was namud Executive Viee Presilent and Croup President. North American Frergy

Enlrastructive aud Techmology Yor Ceneral Cable in 2007,




“We are well-positioned globally to support the

surging demand for electrical energy.”




ELECTRICAL & COMMUNICATIONS

LEVERAGING
OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

General Cable offers a portfolio of products that affect the
lives of people everywhere. From computer networking,
audiofvideo and security svstems 1o broadeast and tele-
phony products and those supporting factory productivity,
powering job sites and operating medicul imaging equip-
ment. our wire atd cable products provide the essential
linkages in the equipment that people rely nn every day.

We are mvesting for growth in Daefa Communications
products, where we provide copper and fiber infrastructure
wiring, alsa known as enterprise cabling, We are taking a
leaclership position in the market and are constantly devel-
oping the next generation of products te support growing
bundwidih requirements, We are taking advantage of our
product development capability and low-cost position to
Cxl]u[l(l our [)I'USC“CC .lll I]ll‘i lll'.ll‘l(l:[.

Our Carol® Brand Electronics and Portable Cord prod-
ucts ehjoy wide hrand recognition in a highly fragmented
marketplace. These products serve many industries and
end markets with specialized needs such as security,
digital broadeast and portable power,

Qur fndusirral products consise of instrumentation,

power and control exbles and serve a range of markets

such as power generation, petrochemical, and pulp and
paper. We benefit from our fully integrated approach to
cable manufacturing and our focus on heavy industries
that are not likely to move averseas.

Qur Specialty Wire Harness products support automo-
tive aftermarket retailers as well as OEMs with just-in-time
value-added products. We leverage our global economics of
scale, low-cost position and strong customer relationships
 identify niche applications in locomotive engines, wind
farm turbines and other specialties.

Our Telephony products are copper wire and cable sold
to the Regional Bell Operating Companies (RBOCs) and
distributors. While demand for these products peaked
in the late 1990s and may eventually reach maintenance
levels, margins remain attractive. We are one of two
h‘u}]])licrs rcmainir]g in the North American market.
Our focus is on containing costs by maintaining & Lean
orgunization with an emphasis on strategic partners. We
are limiting the recapitalization rate and directing excess
cash Hows into other faster-growing produets.

Across all of these products, operational excellence and

rapid change o marketplace realities are key fundamentals.

Elevtromie vables from
Cieneral Cable will help enable
the converston of all UUS over-
the-air television hroadeast

svstetns ronamalog (o dieital

format by Felsruary 2004,

General Cable's Caral® Braned
digital ield prodoction camera
vable is nsed for seriad digizal
transinssion via mobile video
trucks at najor sparting events,

coteeris and news broadeasis,

Greg Lampert

Executive Vice President and Group President,
North American Electrical and Communications Infrastructure

Experience:

Cireg. u chemici engineer, joined General Cable in 1908 seidh an MBA fronn the Universite of Clizeage unel experienee in

sales. marketing. operations and finance. He lus led the reerergence of our Daca Communications business and brought

cur Carol Brand products 1o record levels of sales and proficibilits. e wis ramed Exeenrive Vice President and Group

President, North Amerviean Elecorical aud Conmmunieations Infrastracture for General Cable n 2007,




“We are focused on capturing opportunities in

a diverse and ever-changing marketplace.”




EUROPE & NORTH AFRICA

EXECUTING
GROWTH STRATEGIES

General Cable is serving the cabling needs of Europe by
investing in capabilities and presence. We are expand-
ing our product lines, introducing new technologies and
entering new markets, as we also export more extensively
into North Africa, the Middle East and Eastern Europe
from our strong manufacturing and operations base n
the Iberian Peninsula.

The size of vur European operations has nearly teipled
i the last several vears, In additon to strong internal
growth in our many served markets, we have benefited
fronm theee strategic acquisitions.

The 2005 acquisition of the French company, Silec
Cuble, gave us access to the underground extra-high-
voltage systems market. This is an important technology
that allows utilities to bring power from the grid into
major urban areas.

The acquisition of the Spunish company, E.C.N.

Cuble Group, in 2006 further expanded our product

offering in Europe to include acrial transmission cables
for clectric utilities. We have cffectively transferred
technology that will enable ECN to manufaciure our
innovative trapezoidal design hardened steel core over-
bead transmission cable. This cable is ideally suited
to the congested rights-of-way of Europe because it
delivers about 75% more capacity than sumlarly sized
cable of traditional design.

And, in 2007, the acquisition of the German company,
Norddeutsche Seekabelwerke (NSW), enabled us to
provide submarine cable systems with complete selutions
involving manufacturing. engineering, seabed mapping,
project management and installation for the offshore
communications, energy exploration. distribution and
alternative energy markets. We continue to invest to
expand ourcapabilities, providingsolutionsinsubmarine
power cable applications with an emphasis on the fast-

growing offshore wind farm market.

Ceneral Cuble™s Cerman
subssidiars, NSW, i supplving
approsinmately 56 miles of pawer
cable for trleld intrastrocture
ol the first commercial wind tarm

i thie North Sea.

NSW S submarine power
cable  witltsteel-wire
armaring Iy rogged cnough
ter be Laied o adl tvpes of

~ewbeds invarving depths and

cun be recovered und reeveled,

Dominge Goenaga

Executive Vice President, President and Chief Executive Officer,
General Cable Evrope and North Africa

Experience:

Domingo joined Generat Cuble in 19635, He has been President of General Calile Europe

since 2004, He has led asignihcang inerease inour European and Novel Afvican businesses

through three wajer acquisitions and internal growth, e was named Executive Viee Prestdent.

President and Chiel Exceutive Officer., Europe and Novth Atrica tor General Cable in 2007




“We are transforming our business

with new products and new markets.”

i




COMMERCIAL STRATEGIES

ONE FACE TO
GLOBAL CUSTOMERS

General Cable has deploved its Global Sales and Business
Development organization to manage a complex mix of
global resources, capabilities and relationships to help
mmprove the performance of global customers in ways
that pull threugh a broad range of products and value-
added offerings.

We are not fixated on boundaries in our global com-
mercial organization; we seek to work as One Company,
meeting the needs of our customers in every part of the
world. We help each other design solutions to meet our
customers’ needs. We work with growing confidence that
the business teams, engineers, manufacturing plants,
supply chain and finance associates are aligned with us
inour focus on the customer, Together we concentrate
on improving our customers’ performance through the
application of our products and value-added offerings
such as assemblies and services.

We currently have dedicated teams focused on provid-

ing solutions for customers in the sectors of oif and gas,

transportation, nuclear, automotive, subsea power, subsea
communications, OEM, alternative energy (such as
wind, solar and hydro), extra-high-voltage underground
transmission and distribution, and data communications.

The value of specialized teamwork was demonstrated
when one of our UK sales associates heard of an oil and
gas order in the Russian Arctic. This order was being
consolidated and serviced by an oil and gas company witha
distributor out of Houston, Texas. Our UK sales associate
knew we had a Canadian design that would meet the
customer’s extremely low temperature requirement. The
Houston oil and gas team worked with our Spanish manu-
facturing team to have this cuble made to the Canadian
design and then submted it for special Russian, European
and international testing. With support from Spain and
the UK, the Houston team closed the sale. The product
was made in Spain and shipped to Russia. None of this
would have been possible had these associates not been

working together as one team.

Creneral Cable purtners with
leaders of transit technology
waorldwide to belp power the
arowth of environmentally

friendly public ransportation

.‘v‘\'h[(‘lll\.

General Cable's high-
performance Polvrad™ XT
andd Ultra rapid transitand
locamotive eables are industry

standurds for the transit

market.

Roddy Macdonald

Executive Vice President,
Global Sales and Business Development

Experience:

Raoddy retired as a brigadier general in the British Aviy i 1993, [n the privace seetor. he worked as an entreprencur,

aconsultunt and in corperate executive positions before jolning General Cable in 1994, He has heen leading our
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PARTL

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General Cable Corporation (the Company) is a global leader in developing. designing, manufacturing, marketing,
distributing and installing copper, aluminum and fiber optic wire and cable products. The Company is a Delaware
corporation and was incorporated in April 1994. The Company and its predecessors have served various wire and cable
markets for over 150 years. The Company’s immediate predecessor was a unit of American Premier Underwriters, Inc.
{American Premier), previously known as The Penn Central Corporation. American Premier acquired the Company’s
exisling wire and cable business in 1981 and significantly expanded the business between 1988 and 1991 by acquiring Carol
Cable Company, Inc. and other wire and cable businesses and facilities. In June 1994, a subsidiary of Wassall PLC acquired
the predecessor by purchase of General Cable’s outstanding subordinated promissory note, the General Cable common stock
held by American Premicr and a tender offer for the publicly-held General Cable common stock. Between May and August
1997. Wassall consummated public offerings for the sale of all of its interest in General Cable’s common stock. The
Company has operated as an independent public company since completion of the offerings.

On October 31, 2007, the Company purchased the worldwide wire and cable business of Freeport-McMoRan Copper and
Gold, Inc., which operated as Phelps Dodge [nternational Corporation (PDIC). The acquisition was completed as part of the
Company's strategy to expand globally into energy and electrical infrastructure markets. With more than 50 years of
experience in the wire and cable industry, PDIC manufactures a full range of electric utility, electrical infrastructure,
construction and communication products. PDIC serves developing countries and customers in sectors that continue to grow
faster than the developed world. In addition to its manufacturing capabilities. PDIC provides a global network of
management. development. design, distribution. marketing assistance, technical support and enginecring and purchasing
services to contractors, distributors, and public and private utilitics. The transaction created the need to manage operations
on a geographic basis and therefore, effective November 1, 2007 the Company realigned its management structure along
geographic lines.

Consistent with the new management structure of the Company. ¢xternal reportable segments are reported using these same
geographic lines. The Company operates in three segments: (1) North America, (2) Europe and North Africa, and (3) Rest of
World (“ROW?™), which consists of operations in Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and Asia Pacific. These
segments are discussed below and additional financial information regarding the segments appears in Note 17 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Items 1, 1A, 2, 7. and § of this Annual Report on Form 10-K give effect to the change in
reportable segments and impact on historically reported results.

The Company has a strong markef position in each of the segments in which it competes due to product, geographic, and
customer diversity and the Company’s ability to operate as a low cost provider. The Company sells a wide variety of
copper, aluminum and fiber optic wire and cable products, which it believes represents one of the most diversified product
lines in the industry. As a result, the Company is able to offer its customers a single source for most of their wire and cable
requirements. As ol December 31, 2007, the Company manufactures its product lines in 45 facilities including 3 facilities in
which the Company has an equity investment and sells its products worldwide through its global operations. Technical
expertise and implementation of Lean Six Sigma (“Lean™) strategies have contributed to the Company’s ability to maintain
its position as a low cost provider.

Business Segments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information
(SFAS 131), establishes standards for reporting information regarding operating segiments in annual financial statements and
requires selected information of those segments to be presented in interim financial statements. Operaling segments are
identified as components of an enterprise for which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the
chief operating decision-maker in making decisions on how to allocate resources and assess performance and should be
consistent with the management structure. Under the criteria of SFAS 131, the Company has three operating and reportable
segments based on geographic regions: (1) North America, (2} Europe and North Africa, and (3) Rest of World (ROW),
which consists of operations in Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and Asia Pacific. Additionally, see Note 17
1o the Consolidated Financial Statements for revenue by country, long-lived assets by country and other required disclosures.

North America

The North America segment engages in the development, design, manufacturing, marketing and distribution of copper,
aluminum, and fiber optic wires and cables in the United States and Canada primarily to domestic customers for use in the
electric utility, electrical mfrastructure and communications industries. The North America segment contributed
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approximalely 49%, 56%. and 66% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. In
2007, within the United States. Canada and Mexico, the Company has experienced an overall increase in sales and operating
income.

Growth in the electric utility market served by the Company will be largely dependent on the investment policies of electric
utilities and infrastructure improvement. The Company believes that the increase in electricity consumption in North
America has outpaced the rate of utility investment in North America’s energy grid.  As a result, the Company believes the
average age of power transmission cables has increased. the current clectric transmission infrastructure needs to be upgraded
and the transmission grid is near capacity. Continued investment in the energy grid stemming from historical power outages
in the U.S. and Canada and published studies by the North American Electric Reliability Council emphasizing the need to
upgrade the power transmission infrastructure used by electric utilities have caused an increase in demand for the Company’s
electric utility products. In addition, tax legislation was passed in the United States in 2004, which included the renewal of
tax credits for producing power from wind. This has caused an increase in demand for the Company’s products, as the
Company is a significant manufacturer of wire and cable used in wind farms. The passage of energy legislation in the United
States in 2005 that was aimed at improving the transmission grid infrastructure and the reliability of power availability has
contributed to an increase in demand for the Company’s transmission and distribution cables and is expected to continue to
do so with some variability over time.  While the overall long-term trend in demand for electric utility products remain
strong. the Company has experienced some demand volatility. especially related to low-voltage and small gauge medium
voltage cable demand within the United States. Demand for these low-voltage utility products is more closely related to new
home construction, a market that has weakened in 2007. The Company expects that over time growth rates for electric utility
products in North America will be highly variable depending on related product business cycles and the approval and funding
cycle times for large utility projects.

The Company has strategic alliances in the United States and Canada with a number of major utility customers and is
strengthening its position through these agreements. The Company utilizes a network of direet sales and authorized
distributors to supply low- and medium-voltage and high-voltage bare overhead cable products. Approximately, 3,500 utility
companies represent this market. A majority of the Company’s clectric utility customers have entered into writlen
agreements with the Company for the purchase of wire and cable products, These agreements typically have two to four year
terms and provide adjustments to selling prices to reflect fluctuations in the cost of raw materials. These agrecments do not
guarantee a minimum level of sales. Historically. approximately 70% of the Company’s electric utility business revenues in
North America are under contract prior to the start of each year.

The market for electrical infrastructure cable products in North America has many niches. Sales in North America are
heavily influenced by the level of industnal construction spending as well as the level of capital equipment investment and
maintenance, factory automation and mining activity. The Company experienced strengthened demand throughout 2005,
2006 and 2007 as a direct result of a strong turnaround in industrial construction spending in North America. This segment
has also experienced high demand for products used in the mining, oil, gas. and petrochemical markets, and the Company
expects strong demand to continue for these products into 2008 partly as a result of high o1l prices, which influence drilling
and coal mining activity and investment in alternatives energy sources. Recenl demand has also been influenced by
industrial sector maintenance spending in North America and as a result of short-term events such as the rebuilding etforts
linked 1o the damage caused by hurricanes Katrina and Rita in 2005, An improved pricing environment continues to offset
the historically high raw matcrial costs experienced in recent vears.

Sales of the automotive products are heavily influenced by the general overall health of the economy. ignition set complexity
and ignition set design trends, Sales are often stronger during slower economic times since aftenmarket ignition wire sets are
used to maintain and lengthen the life of automobiles.

Over the fast several years, demand for outside plant telecommunications cables has experienced a signilicant decline from
historical levels. Overall demand for telecommunications products from the Company’s traditional Regional Bell Operating
Company (RBOC) customers in North America has mostly declined over the last several years. Recent RBOC merger
activity, atlocation of capital to fiber-to-the-home initiatives, and budgetary constraints caused partially by higher copper
costs has reduced both RBOC and distributor purchasing volume in this segment. The Company partially offset the impact of
long term declining demand with the 2003 closure of its Bonham, Texas facility which is allowing the Company to better
utilize its manufacturing assets.  Similarly, during the fourth quarter 2007, the Company rationalized outside plant
telecommunication products manutacturing capacity due to continued declines in telecommunications cable demand. The
Company closed a portion of its teleccommunications capacity located primarily at its Tetla, Mextco facility and has taken a
pre-tax charge to write-ofT certain production equipment of $6.6 million. This action will free approximately 100,000 square
feet of manufacturing space. which the Company plans 1o utilize for other products for the Central and South American
markets.




The Company anticipates, based on recent public announcements, further deployment of fiber optic products into the
telephone network. Increased spending by the telephone companies on fiber deployment negatively impacts their purchases
of the Company’s copper based telecommunications cable products. The Company belicves the negative impact on the
purchase of copper based products has been somewhat mitigated in that some of its customers have upgraded a portion of
their copper network to support further investment in {iber broadband networks.

Growth in the overall communications market will be largely dependent upon the level of information technology spending
on network infrastructure. During the early part of this decade, sales of data communication products decreased, primarily as
a result of a weak market for switching/local area networking cables. However, in the last few years. sales volume has shown
improvement and the Company has benefited from the 2005 integration of its Dayville, Connecticut facility into a specialty
networking manufacturing facility in Franklin, Massachusetts, acquired in March 2003, which is allowing the Company 10
better utilize its Networking manufacturing assets and grow specialty products in the networking market. In 2006 and 2007,
the Company has benefited from increased demand for high-bandwidth data cables.

Europe and North Africa

The Europe and North Africa segment designs, manufacwres, markets and distributes copper. aluminum and fiber optic
cables originating in Spain, Norway, Porlugal, France, and Germany and services markets throughout Europe and North
Africa. This segment produces electric utility, electrical infrastructure, construction, and communications products.
Additionally, the Europe and North Africa segment provides installation services for high-voltage and extra high-voltage
electric utility projects around the world. The Europe and North Africa segment contributed approximately 42%, 40%, and
29% of the Company’s consolidated revenues tor 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

This segment has expanded in recent years due to several key acquisitions. These acquisitions have broadened the
Company’s customer base and the product availability to increase its presence in the European market. These acquisitions
include the purchase of Norddeutsche Seekabelwerke GmBH& Co. (NSW) in April 2007, E.C.N. Cable Group S.L. (ECN) in
August 2006 and Silec Cables, S.A.S. (Silec) in December 2005. NSW is a lcading global supplier of offshore
communications, power and control cables as well as aerial cables for power utility communication and control networks.
ECN Cable global sales consist mostly of sales of aluminum aerial high-voltage cables, low- and medium-voltage insulated
power cables and bi-metallic products used in electric transmission and communications. The Silec acquisition has helped to
position the Company as a global leader in cabling systems for the cnergy exploration, production. and transmission and
distribution markets. These acquisitions demonstrate the Company’s strategic initiative to expand geographic and product
diversity in the European market.

Growih in the Europe and North Africa segment will be largely dependent on the investment policies of electric utilities,
infrastructure improvement and the growing needs of emerging economies. The Company believes that the increase in
clectricity consumption in Europe has outpaced the rate of utility investment in Europe’s energy grid.  As a result, the
Company believes the average age of power transmission cables has increased, the current clectric transmission infrastructure
needs to be upgraded and the transmission grid is near capacity. Capacity issues combined with periodic power outages in
Europe emphasized the need to upgrade the power transmission infrastructure used by electric utilities, which has caused an
increase in demand for the Company’s products. Demands for medium- and high-voltage cable has increased due to the
continuing rebuild of the electric utility distribution infrastructure and increasing investments throughout Europe in wind
farm electricity generation, including offshore wind farms. In addition, extra-high-voltage underground cable systems
continue to experience high demand with lead times often extending beyond one year.

The market for electrical infrastructure cable products has many niches. The level of residential, non-residential and
indusirial construction spending heavily influences sales in Europe and North Africa. The Company experienced high
demand throughout 2005 and 2006 as a result of continuing strength in residential and non-residential construction spending
in the region, particularly in Spain. However, demand for residential low-voltage cables and building wire has decreased
during 2007 in the Spanish domestic market and may decrease further into the foreseeable future. The slowdown in
construction spending in Spain is being partially offset by a strong construction market in the broader European Union. An
improved pricing environment continues to offset the historically high raw matenal costs in this segmeni.

Rest of World {ROW)

The ROW segment consists of sales and manufacturing resources in Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and
Asia Pacific that resuited from the PDIC acquisition and will be managed in comjunction with the Company’s historical
operations in the Pacific Islands, New Zealand, Australtia, India and China. The ROW segment develops, designs,
manufactures, markets, and distributes wire and cable products for use in the electric utility, electrical infrastructure,
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construction and communications markets as well as rod mitl products. specifically copper and aluminum rod. This segment
contributed approximately 9%, 4%. and 5% of the Company’s consolidated net sales in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.
It should be noted historical results only include PDIC results since October 31, 2007, The ROW segment operations are
located in Australia. Brazil, Chile. China, Costa Rica. Ecuador, Ei Salvador, Fiji. Honduras, India. New Zealand. Panama,
South Africa. Thailand. Venezuela and Zambia.

This segment is expected 1o grow prospectively as a result of the October 31, 2007 acquisition of PDIC, which has leading
market positions in Latin America. Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia Pacific. In 2006, the last full year before the acquisition,
PDIC reported global net sales of approximately $1,168.4 million (based on average exchange rates).  This expectation s
based on the [act that markets in the countries served are generally growing faster than the developed markets of North
America and Europe.  Additionally, throughout the region. the Company anticipates an expanded product offering will
provide greater accessibility to customers as it relates to recent announcements of planned investment in clectrical
infrastructure, construction and electric utility throughout Central and South America.

In Brazil. political stability has contributed to several key initiatives as it relates to investment in electric atility, construction
and clectrical infrastructure products such as the “Lights for All™ project, which is a program intended to expand the
availability of e¢lectricity to consumers throughout the country. Political stability has also contributed 1o the substantial
growth in the housing and various other industrial segments. In Venezuela. the centralized political structure has lead to
several positive implications as it relates w0 the Company’s business such as fewer competitors, a growing construction
segment and a higher level of government investment. [n sub-Saharan Africa, countries such as South Africa and Zambia are
expected to experience mvestment in construction and housing markets in preparation for the 2010 World Cup to be held in
South Africa and in Zambia where the National Housing Authority has authorized a significant housing appropriations
agreement.  The region has also recently experienced clectricity shortages as a result of historical under investment in the
regional energy infrastructure, This may cause an increase in future demand for the Company’s products over time.

In Asia Pacific. specifically Thailand, the country’s first election since the military coup in September 2006 was held in
December 2007, A coalition government has been formed, if the clection results are upheld the new government is expected
1o stabilize the political arena and generate cconomic growth.  Additionaily, the That Government has dropped an earlier
proposal 1o revise the Foreign Business Act that would have presented several invesunent restrictions o outside or foreign
investors. The Company expects this announcement will lead o further investment in the country and over time may also
increase demand for the Company’s products.

Products

The various wire and cable product lines are sold and manufactured by all geographic segments except for rod mill products
which are only manufactured and sold by the ROW segment and construction products which are only sold in the Europe and
North Africa and ROW segments, Additionally, revenue by product line is included in Nete 17 to the Conselidated Financial
Statements. Products sold by the Company’s three segments include the following:

e FElectric Utility products - The primary products in this grouping include low- and medium-voltage distribution
cable: high- and extra-high voltage power transmission cable products and installation: and bare overhead
conductor.  These products are sold to electric utiiity and power compames and contractors, The Company is a
leader in the supply of electric uiility cables in North America, Latin America. Western Europe, Oceania and
Southeast Asia.

The Company manutactures low. and medium-voltage aluminum and copper distribution cable, bare overhead
aluminum conductor and high-voltage transmission cable. Bare transmission cables are utilized by utilities in the
transmission grid to provide electric power from the power gencrating stations 1o the distribution sub-stations.
Medium-voltage cables are utilized in the primary distribution infrastructure 1o bring power from the distribution
sub-stations 10 the transformers. Low-voltage cables are utilized in the secondary distribution infrastructure to take
the power from the transformers to the end-user,

The Company provides installation services for htgh-voltage and extra-high-voltage transmission cables used in
certain overhead and underground applications.  The underground power cables are highly engineered cables and
the installation of such requires specific expertise.  Through these services. the Company has strengthened its
materials science, power connectivity and systems integration expertise.

e FElectrical Infrastructure products — This product group includes electrical infrastructure, portable cord products and

transportation products and industrial harnesses. These products consist of wire and cable that are used for many
applications: maintenance and repair; temporary power on construction sites: conduction of electrical current and
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signals for industrial, original equipment manufacturers, and commercial power, residential power. and control
applications; and jacketed wire and cable products and harnesses for automotive and industrial applications.

These products include low- and medium-voltage industrial cables, rail and mass transit cables, shipboard cables, oil
and gas cables and other industrial cables. Applications for these products include power generaling stations,
marine, mining, oil and gas. transit/locomotive, original equipment manufacturers, machine builders and shipboard
markets. The Company’s Polyrad® XT marine wire and cable products also provide superior propertics and
performance levels that are necessary for heavy-duty industrial applications to both onshore and offshore platforms,
ships and oil rigs. Many wire and cable applications require cables with exterior armor and/or jacketing materials
that can endure exposure to chemicals, extreme temperatures and outside elements. The Company offers products
that are specifically designed for these applications.

The portable cord products in this product group consist of a wide variety of rubber and plastic insulated cord
products for power and control applications serving industrial, mining, entertainment. original equipment
manufacturers, and other markets. These products are used for the distribution of electrical power but are designed
and constructed to be used in dynamic and severe environmental conditions where a flexible but durable power
supply is required including both standard commercial cord and cord products designed to meet customer
specifications. Portable rubber-jacketed power cord. the Company’s highest volume selling cord product line, is
typically manufactured without a connection device at either end and is sold in standard and customer-specified
lengths. The cords are also sold to original equipment manufacturers for use as power cords on their products and in
other applications, in which case the cord is made to the original equipment manufacturers specifications. The
Company also manufactures portable cord for use with moveable heavy equipment and machinery. The Company’s
portable cord products are sold primarily through electrical distributors and electrical retailers to industrial
customers, original equipment manufacturers, contractors and consumers,

The transportation products consist of ignition wire scts for sale to the automotive aftermarket. These products are
sold primarily to automotive parts retailers and distributors. The Company’s automotive products are also sold on a
private label basis to retailers and other automotive parts manufacturers. Other products include cable harnesses
{assemblies) for use in industrial contro! applications as well as medical applications. These assemblies are used in
such products as industrial machinery. diagnostic imaging and transportation equipment. These products are sold
primarily to original equipment manufacturers and industrial equipment manufacturers.

Construction products - This product group includes wire and cable products for construction markets. These
products consist of construction cables, building wirc and flexible cords. This grouping includes construction cables
that meet low-smoke, zero-halogen requirements and flame retardant cables. The cables are used in the construction
markets served by electrical distributors, contractors and retail home centers. The principal end users are
electricians, distributors, installation and engineering contractors and do-it-yourself consumers.

Communication products - The communication products include wire and cable products that transmit low-voltage
signals for voice and data applications and electronic wire and cables.

One principal product category is data communication products that include high-bandwidth twisted copper and
fiber optic cables and multi-conductor cables for customer premises. local area networks and telephone company
central offices. Customer premise communication products are used for wiring at subscriber premises, and include
computer, riser rated and plenum rated wire and cable. Riser cable runs between floors and plenum cable runs in air
spaces, primarily above ceilings in non-residential structures. Local arca network cables run between computers
along horizontal raceways and in backbones between servers. Central office products interconnect components
within central office switching systems and public branch exchanges. The Company sclls data communications
products primarily through a direct sales force.

Another principal product category includes outside plant telecommunications exchange cable, which is short haul
teunk. feeder or distribution cable from a telephone company’s central office 1o the subscriber premises. The
product consists of multiple paired conductors {ranging from two to 4,200 pairs) and various types of sheathing,
water-proofing, foil wraps and metal jacketing. Service wire is used to connect telephone subscriber premises to
curbside distribution cable. The Company sells telecommunications products primarily to telecommunications
system operators through its direct sales force under supply contracts of varying lengths and to telecommunications
distributors. The contracts do not guarantee a minimum level of sales.




The Company’s electronics products include multi-conductor, multi-pair, coaxial. hook-up, audio and microphone
cables, speaker and television lead wire and high temperature and shielded electronic wire. Primary uses for these
products are various applications within commercial, industrial instrumentation and control and residential markets,
These markets require a broad range of multi-conductor products for applications involving programmable
controllers, robotics. process control and computer integrated manufacturing. sensors and test equipment, as well as
cable for fire alarm, smoke detection. sprinkler control, entertainment and security systems.

The Company produces and sells fiber-optic submarine communication cable systems and special cables for the
offshere industry and other underwater and terrestrial applications. Products include fiber-optic submarine cables
and hardware, low detection profile cables, turnkey submarine networks, and offshore systems integration.

o Rod Mill products— Rod Mill product include continuous cast copper and aluminum rod. which is sold to other wire
and cable manutacturers. These products are only produced and sold by former PDIC operations in our ROW
segment. Copper and aluminum rod are the key material used i the manufacturing of wire and cable products.
Customers in this segment rely on the Company to provide just-in-time delivery of this important component.

Industry and Market Overview

The wire and cable industry is competitive, mature and cost driven. For many product offerings, there is little differentiation
among industry participants from a manufacturing or technology standpoint, During recent years and continuing through
2007, the Company’s end markets have continued to demonstrate recovery from the low points of demand experienced in
2003. In the past several years. there has been significant merger and acquisitton activity which, the Company believes. has
led to a reduction in ineflicient, high cost capacity in the industry. Wire and cable products are relatively low value added,
higher weight (and therefore relatively expensive 10 transport) and ofien subject 1o regional or country specifications. The
wire and cable industry ts raw materials intensive with copper and aluminum comprising the major cost components for cable
products. Changes in the cost of copper and aluminum are generally passed through (o the customer, although there can be
timing delays of varying lengths depending on the volatility in metal prices, the type of product, competitive conditions and
particular customer arrangements.

Raw Materials Sources and Availability

The principal raw maierials used by General Cable in the manufacture of its wire and cable products are copper and
aluminum. The price of copper and aluminum as traded on the Londen Metal Exchange ("LME™) and COMEX has
historically been subject to considerable volatility and during the past few years, has been subject to an upward trend. For
example, the daily selling price of copper cathode on the COMEX averaged $3.22 per pound in 2007, $3.09 per pound in
2006 and $1.68 per pound in 2005 and the daily price of aluminum rod averaged $1.23 per pound in 2007, $1.22 per pound in
2006 and $0.92 per pound in 2005, This copper and aluminum price volatility is representative of all reportable segments.

The Company purchases copper and aluminum from various global sources, generally through annual supply contracts.
Copper and alummum are available [rom many sources, however, unanticipated problems with the Company’s copper or
aluminum rod suppliers could negatively affect the Company’s business. In North America, the Company has centralized the
purchasing of its copper. aluminum and other significant raw materials to capitalize on economies of scale and to facilitate
the negotiation of favorable purchase terms from suppliers. In 2007, the Company’s largest supplier of copper rod accounted
for approximately 84% of its North American copper purchases while the largest supplier ol aluminum rod accounted for
approximately 83% ol its North American aluminum purchases. The Company’s European operations purchases copper and
aluminum rod from many suppliers or brokers with each generally providing a small percentage of the total copper and
aluminum rod purchased. The Company’s ROW segment internally produces the majority ol its copper and aluminum rod
production necds and obtains cathode and ingots from various suppliers with each supplier generally providing a small
percentage.

General Cable generally passes changes in copper and aluminum prices along to its customers, although there are timing
delays of varying lengths depending upon the volatility of metals prices, the type of product, competitive conditions and
particular customer arrangements. A signiticant portion of the Company’s electric utility and telecommunications business
and, to a lesser extent, the Company’s electrical infrastructure business has metal escalators written into customer contracts
under a variety of price setting and recovery formulas. The remainder of the Company’s business requires that volatility in
the cost of metals be recovered through negotiated price changes with customers. In these instances, the ability to change the
Company’s selling prices may lag the movement in metal prices by a period of time as the customer price changes are
implemented.  As a result of this and a number of other practices intended to match copper and aluminum purchases with
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sales, profitability over the periods presented has not been significantly affected by changes in copper and aluminum prices.
General Cable does not engage in speculative metals trading.

Other raw materials utilized by the Company include nylon, polyethylene resin and compounds and plasticizers,
fluoropelymer compounds, optical fiber and a variety of filling, binding and sheathing materials. The Company believes that
all of these materials are available in sufficient quantities through purchases in the open market.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company believes that the success of its business depends more on the technical competence. creativity and marketing
abilities of its employees than on any individual patent, trademark or copyright. Nevertheless, the Company has a policy of
seeking patents when appropriate on inventions concerning new products and product improvements as part of its ongoing
research, development and manufacturing activities.

The Company owns a number of U.S. and foreign patents and has patent applications pending in the U.S. and abroad.
Through the recent acquisition of PDIC, the Company acquired patents in Brazil, Canada, China. Hungary, India, Mexico,
Taiwan, Thailand and in the United States relating to magnet wire. Although in the aggregate these patents are of
considerable importance to the manufacturing and marketing of many of the Company’s products, the Company does not
consider any single patent or group of patents to be material to its business as a whole. While the Company occastonally
obtains patent licenses from third partics, none are deemed to be material.

The Company also owns a number of U.S. and foreign registered trademarks and has many applications for new registrations
pending. The Company acquired registered trademarks and trade names related to “Phelps Dodge International Corporation”
and PDIC global marks and symbols. Although in the aggregate these trademarks are of considerable importance to the
manufacturing and marketing of many of the Company’s products, the Company does not consider any single trademark or
group of trademarks to be material to its business as a whole with the exception of the recently acquired PDIC related
trademarks and trade names. Trademarks which are considered to be generally important are General Cable®. Anaconda®.
BICC¥, Carol®, GenSpeed®, Helix/HiTemp®, NextGen®, and Silec™. Polyrad® Phelps Dodge International Corporation™ and
Phelps Dodge International Corporation global symbol and the Company’s triad symbol. The Company believes that s
products bearing these trademarks have achieved significant brand recognition within the industry.

The Company also relies on trade secret protection for its confidential and proprietary information. The Company routinely
enters into confidentiality agreements with its employees. There can be no assurance, however, that others will not
independently obtain similar information and techniques or otherwise gain access to the Company’s trade secrets or that the
Company will be able 1o effectively protect its trade secrets.

Seasonality

General Cable generally has experienced and expects to continue to experience certain scasonal trends in construction related
product sales and customer demand. Demand for construction related products during winter months in certain geographies
is generally lower than demand during spring and summer months. Additionally, the Company has historically experienced
changes in demand resulting from poor or unusual weather. The Company believes that with the acquisition of PDIC the
impact of seasonality of the business will be somewhat mitigated as a result of the Company’s expanded geographical base.

Competition

The markets for all of the Company’s products arc highly competitive, and the Company experiences competition from
several competitors within most markets. The Company believes that it has developed strong customer relations as a result of
its ability to supply customer needs across a broad range of products, its commitment to quality contrel and continuous
improvement, its conttnuing investment in information technology, its emphasis on customer service and ils substantial
product and distribution resources,

Although the primary competitive factors for the Company’s products vary somewhat across the different product categories.
the principal factors influencing competition are generally price, quality, breadth of product line, inventory availability and
delivery time and customer service, Many of the Company’s products are made to industry specifications, and are therefore
functionally interchangeable with those of competitors. However, the Company believes that significant opportunities exist
to differentiate all of its products on the basis of quality, consistent availability, conformance to manufacturer’s specifications
and customer service. Within some markets such as local area networking cables, conformance to manufacturer’s
specifications and technological superiority are also important competitive factors.




Advertising Expense

Advertising expense consists of expenses relating to promoting the Company s products, including trade shows. catalogs. and
c-commerce promotions, and is charged 10 expense when incurred. Advertising expense was $16.9 million, $8.2 million and
$6.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to a variety of tederal. state. local and foreign laws and regulations covering the storage, handling.
emission and discharge of materials into the environment. including CERCLA, the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act
{including the 1990 amendments) and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the United States have been identified as potentially responsible parties with respect to
several sites designated for cleanup under CERCLA or similar state laws. which impose liability for cleanup of certain waste
sites and for related natural resource damages without regard to fault or the legality of waste gencration or disposal. Persons
liable for such costs and damages generally include the site owner or operator and persons that disposed or arranged for the
disposal of hazardous substances found at those sites. Although CERCLA imposes joint and several liability on all potentially
responsible parties, in application, the potentially responsible parties typically allocate the investigation and cleanup costs
based upon, among other things, the volume of waste contributed by each potentially responsible party.

Settlements can often be achieved through negotiations with the appropriate environmental agency or the other potentially
responsible partics. Potentially responsible parties that contributed small amounts of waste (typically less than 1% of the
waste) are often given the opportunity to settle as “de minimus™ parties, reselving their liability tor a paricular site. The
Company does not own or operate any of the waste sites with respect to which it has been named as a potentially responsible
party by the government. Based on the Company’s review and other factors. it belicves that costs 1o the Company relating to
environmental clean-up at these sites will not have a material adverse effect on its results of operations. cash flows or
financial position.

In the transaction with Wassall PLC in 1994, American Premier Underwriters. Inc. agreed to indeminity the Company againsi
lhabilities (including all environmental Liabilities) arising out of the Company’s or the Company’s predecessors” ownership or
operation of the Indiana Steel & Wire Company and Marathon Manufacturing Holdings. Inc. businesses (which were
divested by the predecessor prior to the 1994 Wassall transaction), without limitation as to time or amount. American Premier
also agreed to indemnily the Company against 66%/:% of all other environmental habilities arising out of the Company’s or
the Company’s predecessors’ ownership or operation of other properties and assets in excess of $10 million but not in excess
of' $32 million. which were identified during the seven-year period ended June 2001, Indemnifiable environmental liabilities
through June 2001 were substantially below that threshold. In addition, the Company also has claims against third parties
with respect to some of these liabilities.

During 1999, the Company acquired the worldwide energy cable and cable systems business of Balfour Beatty plc,
previously known as BICC ple. As part of this acquisition, the seller agreed w indemnify the Company against environmental
liabilities existing at the date of the closing of the purchase of the business. The indemnity was for an eight-year period that
ended in 2007, while the Company operates the businesses, subject to certain sharing of losses {with BICC ple covering 95%
of losses in the [irst three years, 80% in vears four and five and 60% in the remaining threc ycars). The indemnity is also
subject to the overall indemnity limit of $150 million, which applies to all warranty and indemnity claims in the transaction.
In addition. BICC plc assumed responsibility for cleanup of certain specific conditions at various sites operated by the
Company and cleanup is mostly complete at these sites. In the sale of the businesses to Pirelli in August 2000, the Company
generally indemnitied Pirelli against any environmental liabilitics on the same basis as BICC plc indemnified it in the earlier
acquisition. However, the indemnity the Company received from BICC ple relating to the European businesses sold to Pirelli
terminated upon the sale of those businesses to Pirelli. In addition, the Company generally indemnified Pirelli against other
claims relating 1o the prior operation of the business. Pirelli has asserted ¢laims under this indemnification. The Company is
continuing to imvestigate and defend against these claims and believes that the reserves currently included in the Company’s
balance sheet are adequate to cover any obligations it may have.

In connection with the sale of certain business 1o Southwire Company in 2001, the Company has agreed to indemnify
Southwire Company against certain environmental liabilities arising out of the operation of the business it sold to Southwire.
The indemnity s for a ten-year pertod from the closing of the sale. which ends in the fourth quarter of 2011, and is subject Lo
an overall limit of $20 million. At this time, there are no claims outstanding under this indemnity.

As part of the acquisition of Silec, SAFRAN SA agreed 10 indemmify General Cable against environmental losses arising
from breach of representations and warranties on environmental faw compliance and against losses arising from costs
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General Cable could incur to remediate property acquired based on a directive of the French authorities to rehabilitate
property in regard to soil, water and other underground cortamination arising before the closing date of the purchase. These
indemnitics are for a six-vear period ending in 2011 while General Cable operates the businesses subject to sharing of certain
losses (with SAFRAN covering 100% of losses in year one, 75% in years two and three, 50% in year four, and 25% in years
five and six). The indemnities are subject to an overall limit of 4.0 million euros. As of December 31, 2007, there were no
claims outstanding under this indemnity.

In 2007, the Company acquired the worldwide wire and cable business of Freeport-McMoRan Copper and Gold Inc., which
operates as PDIC. As part of this acquisition, the seller agreed to indemnify the Company for certain environmental
liabilities existing at the date of the closing of the acquisition. The seller’s obligation to indemnify the Company for these
particular liabilities generally survives four years from the date the parties executed the definitive purchase agreement unless
the Company has properly notified the seller before the expiry of the four year period. The seller also made certain
representations and warrantics related to environmental matters and the acquired business and agreed to indemnify the
Company for breaches of those representation and warranties for a period of four years from the closing date,
Indemnification claims for breach of representations and warranties are subject to an overall indemnity limit of
approximately $105 million with a deductible of $5.0 million, which generally applies to all warranty and indemnity claims
for the transaction.

While it is difficult to estimate future environmental liabilities accurately, the Company does not currently anticipate any
material adverse cffect on its consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows as a result of compliance
with federal. state, local or foreign environmental laws or regulations or remediation costs of the sites discussed above.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, General Cable employed approximately 11,800 persons, and collective bargaining agreements
covered approximately 6,900 employees, or 58% of total employees, at various locations around the world. During the five
calendar years ended December 31, 2007, the Company experienced two strikes in North America both of which were settled
on satisfactory terms. There were no other major strikes at any of the Company’s facilities during the five years ended
December 31, 2007. In the United States, Canada, Venezuela, Brazil and Zambia union contracts will expire at four facilities
in 2008 and six facilities in 2009 representing approximately 5.5% and 1(0.5%, respectively, of total employees as of
December 31, 2007. The Company believes it will successtully renegotiate these contracts as they come due. For countries
not specitically discussed above, labor agreements are generally negoliated on an annual or bi-annual basis.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K including, without limitation, statements regarding future
financial results and performance, plans and objectives, capital expenditures and our or management’s beliefs, expectations
or opinions, are forward-looking statements, and as such, we desire to take advantage of the “safe harbor” which is afforded
such statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements arc those that
predict or describe future events or trends and that do not relate solely to historical matters. You can generally identify
forward-looking statements as statements containing the words “believe,” “expect,” “may,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “assume,” “seek 10 or other similar expressions, although not all forward-looking statements
contain these identifying words.

LE I LR I3

LIS

Actual results may differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking statements as a result of factors, risks and
uncertainties over many of which we have no control. These factors include, without limitation, the following: economic
and political consequences resulting from terrorist attacks, war and political and social unrest; economic consequences
arising from natural disasters and other similar catastrophes, such as floods, earthquakes, hurricanes and tsunamis; domestic
and local country price competition, particularly in certain segments of the power cable market and other competitive
pressures; general economic conditions, particularly those n the construction, energy and information technology scctors;
changes in customer or distributor purchasing patterns in our business segments; our ability to increase manufacturing
capacity and productivity; the financial impact of any future plant closures; our ability to successfully complete and integrate
acquisitions and divestitures; our ability to negotiate extensions of labor agreements on acceptable terms and to successfully
deal with any labor disputes; our ability to service, and mect all requirements under, our debt, and to maintain adequate
domestic and international credit facilities and credit lines; our ability to pay dividends on our preferred stock: our ability to
make payments of interest and principal under our existing and future indebtedness and to have sufficient available funds to
effect conversions and repurchases from time to time; lowering of one or more debt ratings issued by nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations, and the adverse impact such action may have on our ability to raise capital and on our
liquidity and financial conditions; the impact of unexpected future judgments or settlements of claims and litigation; our
ability to achieve target returns on investments in our defined benefit plans; our ability to avoid limitations on utilization of
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net losses for income tax purposes; the cost and availability of raw materials, including copper, aluminum and
petrochemicals: our ability to increase our setling prices during periods of increasing raw material costs; the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations and changes in interest rates: the impact of technological changes: and other material factors.
See ltem | A, "Risk Factors.” for a more detailed discussion on some of these risks. We do not undertake and specifically
decline any obligation to update or correct any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of
such statements or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events.

Available Information

The Company’s principal cxecutive offices are located at 4 Tesseneer Drive, Highland Heights, Kentucky 41076-9753 and
its telephone number is (859) 572-8000. The Company’s internet address is www.generalcable.com. General Cable’s
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form &-K, and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d} of the Exchange Act, are made available free of charge at
www generalcable.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it 1o, the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In addition, the Company will provide, at no cost, paper or electronic copies of
our reports and other filings made with the SEC. Requests should be directed 10: Investor Relations, General Cable
Corporation. 4 Tesseneer Drive, Highland Heights, KY 41076-9753,

The information on the website listed above is not and should not be considered part of this annual report on Form 10-K and
is not incorporated by reference in this document. This website address is and is only intended to be an inactive textual
reference.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the executive officers ot General Cable on December 31, 2007.

Name Age Position

Gregory B. Kenny 55 President, Chief Executive Officer and Class I Director

Brian J. Robinson 39 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Robert J. Siverd 59 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

1. Michael Andrews 43 Executive Vice President and Group President — North American
Energy Infrastructure and Technology

Domingo Geonaga 66 Executive Vice President, President and Chief Executive Officer,
General Cable Europe and North Africa General Cable Corporation

Gregory J. Lampert 40 Executive Vice President and Group President - North American
Electrical and Communications Infrastructure

Roddy Macdonald 59 Executive Vice President, Global Sales and Business Develepment

Mathias Sandoval 47 Executive Vice President, General Cable Rest of World, President and

Chief Executive Officer. Phelps Dodge International Corporation

Mr. Kenny has been one of General Cable’s directors since 1997 and has been President and Chief Executive Officer since
August 2001, He served as President and Chief Operating Officer from May 1999 to August 2001. He served as Executive
Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of General Cable from March 1997 to May 1999. From June 1994 to March
1997, he was Executive Vice President of General Cable’s immediate predecessor. He is also a director of Corn Producis
International. Inc. (NYSE; CPO) and Cardinal Health, Inc (NYSE: CAH).

Mr. Rebinson has served as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since January 1. 2007 and was
recently named Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer effective January 1, 2008. He has served as
Senior Vice President. Controller and Treasurer from March 2006 to December 2006. He served as General Cable Controller
from 2000 10 February 2006 and Assistant Controller from 1999 to 2000. From 1997 until 1999, he served as an Audit
Manager focused on accounting services for global companies for Deloitte & Touche LLP. and from 1991 to 1997, he served
in roles of increasing responsibility with the Deloitte & Touche LLP office in Cincinnati. Ohio.

Mr. Siverd has served as Exccutive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of General Cable since March 1997, From
July 1994 unmil March 1997, he was Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sccretary of the predecessor company.

Mr. Andrews has scrved as Executive Vice President and Group President. North American Energy Infrastructure and
Technology since October 2007. He served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of Energy, Industrial and Specialty
Cables since January 2004, He served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of Electric Utility Business from
November 1999 to January 2004, He served as Vice President Specialty Sales from September 1997 to November 1999,
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Mr. Andrews joined General Cable in January of 1996 and has worked in a number of capacities including product
management, sales and business team leadership. Prior to joining General Cable, he held management positions with
Andersen Consulting (Accenture), Automated Data Processing (ADP) and Fifth Third Bank.

Mr. Goenaga has served as Executive Vice President, President and Chief Executive Officer, General Cable’s Europe and
North Africa region since October 2007, He was President and Chief Executive Officer of General Cable Europe since 2001,
Mr.Goenaga joined General Cable in 1963. Throughout his service with General Cable, Mr.Goenaga has held numerous
leadership roles in both finance and general management, including Managing Director of General Cable 1beria.

Mr. Lampert has served as Execulive Vice President, Group President - North America Electrical and Communications
Intrastructure since October 2007. He served as Senior Vice President and General Manager - Data Communications and
Carol Brand Products from August 2005 until September 2007. He served as Vice President and General Manager - Carol
Brand Products from January 2004 until July 2005. Hec served as Vice President of Sales - Electrical and Industrial
Distribution from July 2000 until December 2003. He served as Product Manager - Building Wire from April 1998 until
June 2000. Prior to joining General Cable, Mr. Lampert spent eight vears with The Dow Chemical Company n sales and
marketing roles of increasing responsibility.

Mr. Macdonald has served as Executive Vice President of Global Sales and Business Development since October 2007, He
was Senior Vice President, Sales and Business Development for General Cable since September 2001. He joined the
Company as Senior Vice President and General Manager, Electrical Cables in December 1999, From the period 1994 —
1999, Mr. Macdonald served as Vice President, Human Resources, Information Technology and Corporate Secretary for
Commonwealth Aluminum Corporation. In 1995, Mr. Macdonald was appointed to the position of Executive Vice President,
Corporate Systems for Commonwealth, and in 1997, he assumed the role of President of Alflex Corporation, a subsidiary of
Commonwealth that manufactures armored cable products. He served for 25 years as an officer in the British Armed
Services. In 1983 he was made a Member of the Order of the British Empire for services leading commando [orces in combat
in the Falkland Islands and ended his distinguished military career in 1993 as a Brigadier General.

Mr. Sandoval has served as Executive Vice President of General Cable Rest of World and President and Chief Executive
Officer of Phelps Dodge International Corporation (“PDIC™) since October 2007. He began his 24-year career with PDIC as
a process engineer in Costa Rica and has held positions in engineering, operations and management, including General
Manager of PDIC’s Honduras-based business, President of their Venezuelan operations, Vice President of their Global
Aluminum Business Segment and Vice President of PDIC’s Global Energy Segment.  He became President of PDIC in
2001, He has served on Boards of Directors for joint ventures between United States companies and private- and
govermment-owned enterprises in China, Thailand, the Philippines, Zambia, South Africa, Mexico, Honduras, Costa Rica,
Panama, Venezuela, Ecuador, Brazil and Chile.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references to “we™, “us”, “our” in this Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” refer to the
Company. We are subject to a number of risks listed below, which could have a material adverse ¢ffect on our financial
condition, results of operations and value of our securitics.

L

Certain statements in the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K including, without limitation, statements regarding future
financial results and performance, plans and objectives, capital expenditures and our or management’s beliefs, expectations
or opinions, are forward-looking statements, and as such, we desire to take advantage of the “safe harbor™ which is afforded
such statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Our forward-looking statements should be read
in conjunction with our comments in this report under the heading, “Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
Actual results may differ materially from those statements as a result of factors, risks and uncertainties over which we have
no control. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the risks and uncertainties discussed below.

Risks Related to Our Business

e Our net sales, net income and growth depend largely on the economic strength of the geographic markets that we
serve, and if these markets become weaker, we could suffer decreased sales and net income.

Many of our customers use our products as components in their own products or in projects undertaken for their customers.
Our ability to sell our products is largely dependent on general economic conditions, including how much our customers and
end-users spend on power transmission and distribution infrastructures, industrial manufacturing assets, new construction and
building, information technology and maintaining or reconfiguring their communications networks. In the early 2000s, many
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companies significantly reduced their capital equipment and inlormation technology budgets. and construction activity that
neeessitates the building or modification of communication networks and power transmission and distribution infrastructures
slowed considerably as a result of a weakening of the U.S. and foreign economies. As a result. our net sales and financial
results declined significantly in those years. Beginning in 2004 and continuing through 2007, we have seen an improvenent
in these markets: however, it they were to weaken, we could sufter decreased sales and net income,

e The markets for our products are highly competitive, and if we fail to invest in product development, produciivity
improvements and customer service and support, sales of our products could he adversely affected.

The markets for copper. aluminum and fiber optic wire and cable products are highly competitive, and some of our
competitors may have greater financial resources than ours. We compete with at least one major competitor with respect to
cach of our business segments. Many of our products are made to common specifications and therefore may be fungible with
competitors” products.  Accordingly. we are subject to competition in many markets on the basis of price, delivery time,
customer service and our ability to meet specific customer needs.

We believe that competitors will continue to improve the design and performance ol their products and to introduce new
products with competitive price and performance characteristics. We expect that we will be required to continue to invest in
praduct development, productivity improvements and customer service and support in order to compete in our markets,
Furthermore. an increase in imports of products competitive with our products could adversely affect our sales on a region by
region basis.

o Our business is subject to the economic, political and other risks of maimaining facilities and selling products in
foreign countries.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, approximately 51% of our sales and approximately 73% of our assets were in
markets outside North America. Our operations outside North America generated approximately $86.5 million of our cash
flows from operations and the North American operations generated approximately $145.2 million of cash flows from
operations during this period. Our linancial results may be adversely affected by signilicant fluctuations in the value of the
U.S. dollar against foreign currencies or by the enactment of exchange controls or foreign governmental or regulatory
restrictions on the transfer of funds. [n addition, negative tax consequences relating to repatriating certam foreign currencies,
particularly cash generated by our operations in Spain. Venezuela and the Philippines, may adversely affect our cash flows.

Furthermore, our foreign operations are subject to risks inherent in maintaining operations abroad. such as cconomic and
political destabilization, international conflicts, restrictive actions by foreign governments, nationalizations, changes in
regulatory requirements, the difficulty of effectively managing diverse global operations, adverse foreign tax laws and the
threat posed by potential international disease pandemics in countries that do not have the resources necessary to deal with
such outbreaks, Over time, we intend to continue to expand our foreign operations, which would serve to exacerbate these
risks and their potential effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. In particular, with the acquisition
of PDIC. we will have significant operations in countries in Central and South America, Africa and Asia. Economic and
political developments in these countries, including future economic changes or crises (such as inflation, currency
devaluation or recesston). government deadlock. political instability. civil strife, international conflicts. changes in laws and
regulations and expropriation or nationalization of property or other resources. could impact our operations or the market
value of our common stock and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations,
Although PDIC and its subsidiaries maintain political risk insurance related to its operations in a number of countries, any
losses we may Incur may not be covered by this insurance and, even if covered, such insurance may not fully cover such
losses. In addition to these general risks, there are significant country specific risks including:

e Brazil and other Latin American countries have historically experienced uneven periods of cconomic
growth as well as recession, high inflation. currency devaluation and economic instability. The countries'
governments have been known to intervenc in their respective economies. which have involved price
controls, currency devaluations. capital controls and limits on imports.

¢ Thailand has recently experienced significant political and militant unrest in certain  provinces. The
country's elected government was overthrowir in September 2006, with an c¢lected government only
recently restored.

s Inrecent years. Vencezuela has experienced difficult economic conditions, relatively high levels of inflation,
and foreign exchange and price controls. The President of Venezuela has the authority to legislate certain
areas by decree, and the Venezuclan government has nationalized or announced plans to nationalize certain
industries and hag sought to expropriate certain companies and property.
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o Compliance with foreign and U.S. laws and regulations applicable to our international operations, including the
FCPA, is difficult and may increase the cost of doing business in international jurisdictions.

Various laws and regulations associated with our current international operations are complex and increase our cost of doing
business. Furthermore, these laws and regulations expose us to fines and penalties if we fail to comply with them. These laws
and regulations include import and export requirements, U.S. laws such as the FCPA, and local laws prohibiting corrupt
payments to governmental officials. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed 1o ensure compliance
with these laws, there can be no assurance that our employees, contractors and agents will not take actions in violation of our
policies, particularly as we expand our operations through organic growth and acquisitions. Any such violations could subject
us to civil or criminal penalties, including substantial fines or prohibitions on our ability to effer our wire and cable preducts
in one or more countries. and could also materially damage our reputation, our brand, our international expansion efforts, our
business and our operating results. In addition, if we fail to address the chalienges and risks associated with our international
expansion and acquisition strategy, we may encounter difficulties implementing our strategy, which could impede our growth
or harm our operating results.

o Volatility in the price of copper and other raw materials, as well as fuel and energy, could adversely affect our
businesses.

The costs of copper and aluminum, the most significant raw materials we use, have been subject to considerable volatility
over the past few years, Volatility in the price of copper, aluminum, polyethylene, petrochemicals. and other raw materials,
as well as fuel. natural gas and energy, may in turn lead to significant fluctuations in our cost of sales. Additionally, sharp
increases in the price of copper can also reduce demand if customers decide to defer their purchases of copper wire and cable
products or seck to purchase substitute products. Although we attempt to recover copper and other raw material price
changes either in the selling price of our products or through our commodity hedging programs, there is no assurance that we
can do so successfully or at all in the future.

e Interruptions of supplies from our key suppliers may affect our results of operations and financial performance.

Interruptions of supplies from our key suppliers. including as a result of catastrophes such as hurricanes, earthquakes, floods
or terrorisi activities, could disrupt production or impact our ability to increase production and sales. All copper and
aluminum rod used in our North American operations is externally sourced, and our largest supplier of copper rod accounted
for approximately 84% of our North American purchases in 2007 while our largest supplier of aluminum rod accounted for
approximately 83% of our North American purchases in 2007. The Company’s European operations purchase copper and
aluminum rod from many suppliers with cach supplier generally providing a small percentage of the total copper and
aluminum rod purchased while operations in ROW internally produce the majority of their copper and aluminum rod
production needs and obtain cathode and ingots from various sources with each supplier generally providing a small
percentage of the total amount of raw materials purchased. Any unanticipated problems with our copper or aluminum rod
suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally. we use a limited number of sources for most of
the other raw materials that we do not produce. We do not have long-term or volume purchase agreements with moest of our
suppliers, and may have limited options in the short-term for alternative supply if these suppliers fail to continue the supply
of malterial or components for any reason, including their business failure. inability 10 obtain raw materials or financial
difficulties. Moreover, identifying and accessing alternative sources may increase our costs.

o Failure to negotiate extensions of our labor agreements as they expire may result in a disruption of our operations.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 58% of our employees were represented by various labor unions. During the five
calendar years ended December 31, 2007, we have experienced only two strikes, which were settled on satisfactory terms.

We arc party to labor agreements with unions that represent employees at many of our manufacturing facilities. In the United
States, Canada, Venezuela, Brazil and Zambia, union contracts will expire at four facilities in 2008 and six facilitics in 2009
representing approximately 5.5% and 10.5%, respectively, of total employees as of December 31, 2007, Labor agreements
arc generally negotiated on an annual or bi-annual basis unless otherwise noted above and the risk exists that labor agrecment
may not be renewed on reasonably satisfactory terms to the Company or at all. We cannot predict what issues may be raised
by the collective bargaining units representing our employecs and. if raised, whether negotiations concerning such issues will
be successfully concluded. A protracted work stoppage could result in a disruption of our operations which could, in turn,
adversely affect our ability to deliver certain products and our financial results.
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o Our inability te continue te achieve productivity improvements may result in increased costs.

Part of our business strategy is to increase our profitability by lowering costs through improving our processes and
productivity. In the ¢vent we are unable to continue to implement measures improving our manufacturing techniques and
processes. we may not achieve desired efficiency or productivity levels and our manufacturing costs may increase. In
addition. productivity increases are related in part to factory utilization rates. Our decreased utilization rates from 2002 to
2004 adversely impacted productivity.

e Changes in industry standards and regulatory requirements may adversely affect our business.

As a manufacturer and distnbutor ot wire and cable products for customers that operate in various industries, we are subjcct
to a number of industry standard-setting authorities, such as Underwriters Laboratories, the Telecommunications Industry
Association, the Electronics Industries Association. the International Eiectrotechnical Commission and the Canadian
Standards Association. In addition, many of our products are subject to the requirements of federal, siate and local or foreign
regulatory authorities. Changes m the standards and requirements imposed by such authorities coutd have an adverse effect
on us. In the event that we are unable to meet any such new or modified standards when adopted. our business could be
adversely affected.

In addition, changes in the legislative environment could atfect the growth and other aspects of important markets served by
us. In August 2005, Prestdent George W. Bush signed into law the Energy Policy Act of 2005, This law was enacted to
establish a comprehensive, long-range national encrgy policy. Among other things. it provides tax credits and other
incentives for the production of traditional sources of energy, as well as alternative energy sources, such as wind, wave, tidal
and geothermal power generation systems,  Although we believe this legislation is currently having a positive impact on us
and our financial results, we cannot be certain that this impact will continue at this level over time or at all. We also cannot
predict the impact, either positive or negative, that changes in laws or industry standards that may be adopted in the future
could have on our financial results. cash flows or financial position,

s Advancing technologies, such as fiber optic and wireless technologies. may continue to make some of our products
less competitive.

Technological developments continue 1o have a material adverse effect on our business. For example. a continued increase in
the rate of installations using fiber optic systems or an increase in the cost of copper-based systems may have a material
adverse effect on our business. While we do manufacture and sell fiber optic cables, any further acceleration in the erosion of
our sales of copper cables due to increased market demand for fiber optic cables would most likely not be offset by an
increase in sales of our fiber optic cables.

Also. advancing wireless technologies, as they relate to network and communications systems represent an alternative to
certain copper cables we manufacture and may reduce customer demand for premise wiring. Traditional telephone
companies are facing increasing competition within their respective territories from, among others, providers of voice over
Internet protocol ("VolP™) and wireless carriers. Wircless communications depend heavily on a fiber optic backbone and do
not depend as much on copper-based systems. The increased acceptance and use of VolP and wireless technology. or
introduction of new wireless or fiber-optic based technologies, continues to have a material adverse effect on the
marketability of our producis and our profitability. Our sales of copper premise cables currently face downward pressure
from wireless and VolP technology. and the increased acceptance and use of these technologies has heighten this pressure
and the potential negative impact on our results of operations.

¢ We are substantially dependemnt upon distributors and retailers for non-exclusive sales of our products and they could
cease purchasing our products al any time.

During 2006 and 2007, approximately 34% and 36%, respectively, of our domestic net sales were made to independent
distributors and four of our ten larpest customers were distributors. Distributors accounted for a substantial portion of sales of
our communications- and industrial-related products.  During 2006 and 2007, approximately 10%. respectively. of our
domestic net sales were to retailers, and the two largest retailers, accounted for approximately 2% and 1%, respectively, of
our worldwide net sales 1n 2006 and 2007.

These distributers and retailers are not contractually obligated to carry our product lines exclusively or lor any period of time.,
Theretore. these distributors and retailers may purchase products that compete with our products or cease purchasing our
products at any time. The loss of one or more large distributors or retailers could have a material adverse effect on our ability

16




to bring our products to end users and on our results of operations. Moreover, a downturn in the business of one or more
large distributors or retailers could adversely affect our sales and could create significant credit exposure.

e In each of our markets, we face pricing pressures that could adversely affect our results of operations and financial
performance.

We face pricing pressures in each of our markets as a result of significant competition or over-capacity. While we
continually work toward reducing our costs to respond to the pricing pressures that may continue, we may not be able to
achieve proportionate reductions in costs. As a result of over-capacily and economic and industry downturn in the
communications and industrial markets in particular, pricing pressures increased in 2002 and 2003, and continued into 2004.
While we generally have been successful in raising prices to recover increased raw material costs since the second quarter of
2004, pricing pressures continued through 2005, 2006 and 2007, and price volatility is expected lor the foreseeable future.
Further pricing pressures, without offsetting cost reductions, could adversely affect our financial results.

o If either our uncommitted accounts payable confirming arrangement or our accounts receivable financing
arrangement for our European operations is cancelled, our liquidity will be negatively impacted.

Our Spanish operations participate in accounts payable confirming arrangements with several European financial institutions.
We negotiate payment terms with suppliers of generally 180 days and submit invoices to the financial institutions with
instructions for the financial institutions to transfer funds from our Spanish operations’ accounts on the due date (on day 180)
to the receiving partics to pay the invoices in full. At December 31, 2007, the arrangements had a maximum availability limit
of the equivalent of approximately $416.1 million, of which approximately $202.6 million was drawn, We also have
approximately $138.8 million available under uncommitted, Euro-denominated facilities in Europe, which allow us to sell at
a discount, with no or limited recourse, a portion of our accounts receivable to financial institutions. As of December 31,
2007, we have drawn approximately $46.7 million from these accounts receivable facilities. We do not have firm
commitments from these institutions to purchase our accounts receivable. Should the availability under these arrangements
be reduced or terminated, we would be required 1o repay the outstanding obligations over 180 days and seek alternative
arrangements. We cannot assure you that alternate arrangements will be available on favorable terms or at all. Failure to
obtain alternative arrangements in such case would negatively impact our liquidity.

e As a result of market and industry conditions, we may need (o close additional plants and reduce our recorded
inventory values, which would result in charges against income.

In 2005, we closed our telecommunications manufacturing plant located in Bonham, Texas. At that time, we also closed our
fiber optic military and premise cable manufacturing plant located in Dayville, Connecticut, and relocated production from
this plant to our acquired facility in Franklin, Massachusetts, which produces copper as well as some fiber optic
communications products. Total costs recorded during 2005 with respect to these closures were $18.6 million (of which
approximately $7.5 million were cash payments), including a $0.5 million gain from the sale of a previously closed
manufacturing plani. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company rationalized outside plant telecommunication products
manufacturing capacity due to continued declines in telecommunications cable demand. The Company closed a portion of its
telecommunications capacity located primarily at its Tetla, Mexico facility and has taken a pre-tax charge to write-off certain
production equipment of $6.6 million. This action wili free approximately 100,000 square feet of manufacturing space,
which the Company plans to utilize for other products for the Central and South American markets.

If, as a result of volatile copper prices, we are not able to recover the LIFO value of our inventory in a period when
replacement costs are lower than the LIFQ value of the inventory, we would be required to take a charge to recognize on an
adjustment of LIFO inventory to market value. 1f LIFO inventory quantities arc reduced in a future period when replacement
costs exceed the LIFO value of the inventory, we would experience an increase in reported earnings. Conversely, if LIFO
inventory quantities are reduced in a future period when replacement costs are lower than the LIFO value of the inventory,
we would experience a decline in reported eamings.

o We are subject to certain asbestos litigation and unexpected judgments or settlements that could have a material
adverse effect on our financial resulfs.

There are approximately 1,275 pending non-maritime asbestos cases involving our subsidiaries. The majority of these cases
involve plaintiffs alleging exposure to asbestos-containing cable manufactured by our predecessors. In addition to our
subsidiaries, numerous other wire and cable manufacturers have been named as defendants in these cases. Our subsidiaries
have also been named, along with numerous other product manufacturers, as defendants in approximately 33,440 suits in
which plainiiffs alleged that they suftered an asbestos-related injury while working in the maritime industry. Thesc cases are
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referred to as MARDOC cases and are currently managed under the supervision of the U.S. District Court for the Eastern
District of Pennsylvania. On May 1. 1996, the District Court ordered that all pending MARDOC cases be administratively
dismissed without prejudice and the cases cannot be reinstated, except in certain circumstances involving specific proof of
injury. We cannot assure you that any judgments or settlements of the pending non-maritime and/or MARDOC asbestos
cases or any cases which may be filed in the future will not have a matenal adverse effect on our financial results, cash flows
or financial position. Moreover, certain of our insurers may become financially unstable and in the event one or more of
these insurers enter into insurance liquidation proceedings, we will be required to pay a larger portion of the costs incurred in
connection with these cases.

»  Environmental liabilities could potentially adversely impact us and our affiliates.

We are subject to federal, state, local and foretgn environmental protection laws and regulations governing our operations and
the use, handling, disposal and remediation of hazardous substances currently or formerly used by us and our affiliates. A
risk of environmental liability is inherent in our and our affiliates’ current and former manufacturing activities in the event of
a release or discharge of a hazardous substance generated by us or our affiliates. Under certain environmental laws, we could
be held jointly and severally responsible for the remediation of any hazardous substance contamination at our facilities and at
third party waste disposal sites and could also be held liable for any consequences arising out of human exposure to such
substances or other environmental damage. We and our affiliates have been named as potentially responsible parties in
proceedings that involve environmental remediation. There can be no assurance that the costs of complying with
environmental, health and safety laws and requirements tn our current operations or the liabilities arising from past releases
of, or exposure to, hazardous substances, will not result in future expenditures by us that could matenally and adversely
affect our financial results, cash flows or financial condition.

*  Growth through acquisition has been a significant part of our strategy and we may not be able to successfully identify
or integrate acquisitions.

Growth through acquisition has been, and is expected to continue to be, a significant part of our strategy.
Transactions completed in 2007 include the following:

. The acquisition of Jiangyin Huaming Specialty Cable Co. Ltd., a manufacturer of specialty automotive and
industrial cable products based in Jiangsu province of the People’s Republic of China;

. The formation of joint ventures with the Plaza Cable Group, a manufacturer of low and medium voltage energy
and construction cables based in New Delhi, India; and
. The acquisition of Norddeutsche Seekabelwerke GmbH & Co. KG (NSW), a complete solutions provider for

submarine cable systems including manufacturing, engineering, seabed mapping, project management and
installation based in Nordenham. Germany.

. The acquisition of PDIC, a manufacturer of a full range of electric utility, electrical infrastructure, construction,
communication and rod miil products. PDIC has facilities in ninc countries throughout ROW.

Transactions completed during the 2006 and 2005 fiscal years included the following:
. The acquisition of E.C.N. Cable Group, S.L. (ECN Cable), a manufacturer of aluminum energy and power
cables and bimetaliic products based in Vitoria, Spain;

. The acquisition of the Mexican ignition wire set business of Beru AG based in Cuermnavaca, Mexico; and

. The acquisition of Silec Cable, S.A.S. (Silec). a manufacturer of high and extra high veltage cables for the
energy exploration, production, transmission and distribution markets based in Montercau, France.

We regularly evaluate possible acquisition candidates. We cannot assure you that we will be successtul in identifying,
financing and closing acquisitions at favorable prices and terms. Potential acquisitions may require us to issue additional
shares of stock or obtain additional or new financing. The issuance of shares of our common or preferred stock in connection
with potential acquisitions may dilute the value of shares held by our then existing equity holders, Further, we cannot assure
you that we will be successful in integrating any such acquisitions that are completed. [ntegration of any such acquisitions
may require substantial management, financial and other resources and may pose risks with respect to production, customer
service and market share of existing operations. In addition. we may acquire businesses that are subject to technological or
competitive risks, and we may not be able to realize the benefits originally expected from such acquisitions.
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o  We may be unable to successfully integrate the PDIC businesses we acquired into our business and operations and
thus, we may not achieve the benefits sought from this acquisition.

We compleied the acquisition of PDIC with the expectation that it would result in benefits to us, including, among other
things, growing revenue, increasing our international wire and cable business and increasing our geographic presence in
certain high-growth markets. Achieving these benefits will depend in part on our ability to integrate the acquired wire and
cable operations and related personnel in a timely and efficient manner. A successful integration of this business would
minimize the risk that the acquisition will result in the loss of market opportunity or key employees or the diversion of the
attention of management. Factors that could affect our ability to achieve these benefits include:

. the failure of the acquired operations to perform in accordance with our expectations;
. any future goodwill impairment charges that we may incur with respect to the acquired assets;
. failure to achieve potential revenue enhancements and potential cost savings between our wire and cable

operations and those we have acquired;

. fatlure to achieve the expected benefits of the acquisition as rapidly or to the extent anticipated by financial or
industry analysts;

. our ability to integrate the personnel and existing financial reporting, information technology and other logistical,
technical and operational systems into ours;

. the loss of any wire and cable business customers;
. impact of seasonal trends as it relates to the respective locations of the acquired business; and
. the loss of any of the key employees associated with the acquired business.

if the acquired business’ operations are not as successful as we anticipated, our business, financial condition and results of
operations may be materially and negatively affected. In such cases, we may experience significant declines in our stock
price.

e We have assumed substantially all of the liabilities of the PDIC operations, which may expose us to additional risks
and uncertainties that we would not face if the acquisition had not occurred.

As a result of the PDIC acquisition, we succeeded to substantially all of the liabilities associated with the wire and cable
business we acquired, which may include, without limitation:

. environmental risks and liabilities related to the operation of the acquired assets;

. risks associated with these operations in various foreign countries, including in Brazil, China, Colombia, India,
Thailand, Venezuela and Zambia;

. existing product liability claims with respect to the acquired wire and cable products;
. other existing litigation and tax liabilities involving the acquired wire and cable business;
. issues relating to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including issues relating to internal control

over financial reporting, or other applicable laws;
. issues related to debt assumed in connection with the acquisition; and
. employee and employee benefit liabilities.
[n addition to the risks set forth above, we may discover additional information, risks or uncertainties about this business that

may adversely affect us. An acquisition of operations in many foreign countries, such as this acquisition, makes it extremely
difficult for the acquirer to discover and adequately protect itself against all potentially adverse habilities, risks or
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uncertainties that exist or may arise. Based on all of the foregoing liabilities, risks and uncertainties, there can be no
assurance that the acquisition will not, in lzct, have a negative impact on our financial results.

Subject to certain limitations and exceptions, the stock purchase agreement we entered into in connection with the acquisition
provides us with indemnification rights for losses we incur in connection with:

. a breach by the sellers of specified representations and warranties;
. a breach by the sellers of a covenant in the stock purchase agreement; or
. specified environmental and tax liabilities.

Our right to seek indemnification for such losses is limited by the terms of the stock purchase agreement, which requires us to
absorb specified amounts of losses before we may seek indemnification. Moreover, the maximum amount of indemnity we
may seek under the stock purchase agreement is limited. Furthermore, it may be extremely difficult for us to prove that a loss
we incur was caused by a specified breach of a covered representation or warranty or covenant. Except in the case of fraud
and as to available equitable remedies. our right to seek indemnification will be the exclusive remedy we may pursue under
the stock purchase agreement for any losses we incur in connection with the acquisition.

If we arc unable to prove a breach of a representation, warranty or covenant necessary to support an indemnification claim. if
a claim or loss we incur is not covered by these indemnilication provisions, or if the total amount of liabilities and obligations
we incur in the acquisition exceeds the amount of indemnification provided, we may be responsible to pay unforescen
additional expenses and costs. Furthermore, any claim by us for indemnification under the stock purchase agreement may be
contested, which could have the eftect of delaying or ultimately preventing our receipt of remuneration for such a claim. As a
result. our business may be mateniaily adversely affected and our stock price could decline.

o Terrorist attacks and other attacks or acts of war may adversely affect the markets in which we operate and our
profitability.

The attacks of September 11, 2001 and subsequent events, including the military actions in Afghanistan, lraq and ¢lsewhere
in the Middle East, have caused and may continue to cause instability in our markets and have led and may continue to lead
1o, further armed hostilitics or further acts of terrorism worldwide, which could cause further disruption in our markets. Aclts
of terronism and those of guerilla groups or drug cartels may impact any or all of our facilities and operations, or those of our
customers or suppliers and may {urther limit or delay purchasing decisions of our customers. Depending on their magnitude,
these or similar acts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial results, cash flows and financial position.

We carry insurance coverage on our facilities of types and in amounts that we believe are in line with coverage customarily
obtained by owners of similar properties. We continue to monitor the state of the insurance market in general and the scope
and cost of coverage for acts of terrorism and similar acts in particular, but we cannot anticipate what coverage will be
available on commercially reasonable terms in future policy years. Currently, we do not carry terrorism insurance coverage.
If we experience a loss that 1s uninsured or that exceeds policy limits, we could lose the capital invested in the damaged
facilities. as well as the anticipated future net sales from those facilities. Depending on the specific circumstances of each
affected facility, it is possible that we could be liable for indebtedness or other obligations related to the facility. Any such
loss could materially and adversely affect our business, financial results, cash flows and financial position,

o Ifwe fail to retain our key employees, our business may be harmed.

Our success has been largety dependent on the skills, experience and efforts of our key employees and the loss of the services
of any of our executive officers or other key employees. without a properly executed transition plan. could have an adverse
effect on us. The loss of our key employees who have intimate knowledge of our manufacturing process could lead 0
increased competition to the extent that those employees are hired by a competitor and are able to recreate our manufacturing
process. Qur future success witl also depend in part upon ocur continuing ability to attract and retain highly qualified
personnel, who are in great demand,

o Asof December 31, 2006, we had material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, therefore our
disclosure controls and procedures were deemed ineffective.

In connection with the preparation of our 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as of December 31, 2006, we concluded that
control deficiencies in our internal control over linancial reporting as of December 31, 2006 constituted material weaknesses
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within the meaning of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s Auditing Standard No. 2, An Audit of Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with an Audit of Financial Statements. As we disclosed in our
2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K that we fled with the SEC on March 1, 2007, we identified material weaknesses
regarding the following:

Silec was acquired by us in December 2005 and was previously a division of a large French company. In connection with
management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management has determined that Silec did not
complete implementation of adequate internal controls for the purposes of identifying, recording, and reporting Silec’s
financial results of operations. Specifically, as part of the transition to the Company, as of December 31, 2006, Silec had not
completed a migration of systems from those provided by its former parent company. Management determined that the
controls over granting and monitoring access to its {inancial reporting system were not adequate. Further, management’s
testing of business process controls identified several control deficiencies, including lack of supporting documentation and
lack of timely and sufficient {inancial statement account reconciliation and analysis. Management determined that in the
aggregate, these control deficiencies result in a more than remote likelihood that a material misstatement in the interim or
annual financial statements could occur and not be prevented or detected.

Due 1o the material weakness discussed above, we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not
effective as of December 31, 2006. We have also concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as
of December 31, 2006, due solely to the material weakness related to our Silec subsidiary.

Management implemented the following steps to remediate this material weakness:

e In February 2007, a significant portion of Silec’s financial systems were migrated to the Company’s existing
European financial system. The majority of Silec’s remaining systems werc migrated Lo independent systems, with
appropriate controls in place, as of December 31, 2007.

¢  To cnsure successful transition to a formal control structure and to address the internal control implementation
issues noted above, Silec added several resources with Sarbanes-Oxley compliance experience to its financial
reporting function including a Chief Accountant, a Director of Cost Accounting, a Treasurer and an I'T Director.

These improvements have been fully implemented and tested, and we concluded that as of December 31, 2007, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective, within the meaning of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s
Auditing Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Integrated with An Audit of
Financial Statements which superseded Auditing Standard No. 2, An Audit of Imernal Control Over Financial Reporting
Performed in Conjunction with an Audit of Financial Statements and was effective for audits of fiscal years ending on or
after November 15, 2007.

There is the risk that additional material weaknesses, within the meaning of Auditing Standard No. 3, could be identified in
the future and although we have been successful at remediating material weaknesses in the past, a risk exists that we may not
successfully remediate future material weaknesses.

s Declining returns in the investment portfolie of our defined benefit pension plans and changes in actuarial
assumptions could increase the volatility in our pension expense and require us to increase cash contributions to the
plans.

We sponsor defined pension plans around the world. Pension expense for the defined benefit pension plans sponsored by us
is determined based upon a number of actuarial assumptions, including an expected long-term rate of return on assets and
discount rate. The use of these assumptions makes our pension expense and our cash contributions subject to year-to-year
volatility. As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, the defined benefit pension plans were underfunded by approximately
$72.5 million, $35.7 million and $40.9 million, respectively, based on the actuarial methods and assumptions utilized for
purposes of the applicable accounting rules and interpretations. We have experienced volatility in our pension expense and in
our cash contributions to our defined benefit pension plans. In 2007, pension expense increased approximately $0.1 million,
excluding a $3.2 million curtailment charge and a $4.3 million settlement gain, from 2006 and cash contributions increased
approximately 38.1 million from 2006. In the event that actual results differ from the actuarial assumptions or actuarial
assumptions are changed, the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans may change and any such deficiency could
result in additional charges Lo equity and an increase in future pension expense and cash contributions.

21




e Anownership change could resull in a limitation of the use of our net operating losses.

As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $10.8 million of NOL carryforwards that are subject to an annual limitation
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. Approximately 55.4 million of these
NOL carryforwards are scheduled to expire in each of 2008 and 2009. QOur ability to utilize NOL carryforwards, including
any future NOL carryforwards that may arise. may be further limited by Section 382 if we undergo an ownership change as a
result of the sale of our stock by holders of our equity securities or as a result of subsequent changes in the ownership of our
outstanding stock. We would undergo an ownership change if, among other things, the stockholders, or group of
stockholders, who own or have owned, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of the value of our stock or are othcrwise treated as
5% stockholders under Section 382 and the regulations promulgated thereunder increase their aggregate percentage
ownership of our stock by mere than 50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of our stock owned by these
stockholders at any time during the testing period, which is generally the three-year period preceding the potential ownership
change. In the event of an ownership change, Section 382 imposes an annual limitation on the amount of post-ownership
change taxable income a corporation may offset with pre-ownership change NOL carryforwards and certain recognized built-
in losses. The limitation imposed by Section 382 for any post-change year would be determined by multiplying the value of
our stock immediately betore the ownership change (subject to cerain adjustments} by the applicable long-term tax-exempt
rate in effect at the time of the ownership change. Any unused annual limitation may be carried over to later years, and the
limitation may under certain circumstances be increased by built-in gains which may be present in assets held by us at the
time of the ownership change that are recognized in the five-year period after the ownership change.

Risks Related to Our Debt
e Qur substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

We have a significant amount of debt. As of December 31, 2007, we had $1,398.8 million of debt outstanding, $54.9 miltion
of which was secured indebtedness, and 3266.1 million of additional borrowing capacity available under our amended senior
secured credit facility (“Amended Credit Facility™), $36.5 million of additional borrowing capacity under our Spanish
subsidiary’s revolving credit facility (“Spanish Credit Facility™) and approximately $16.1 million of additional borrowing
capacity under agreements related to ECN Cable and approximately $302.2 million of additional borrowing capacity under
our various credit agreements related to PDIC, subject to certain conditions. As of December 31, 2007, we had $475.0
million 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes outstanding and $355.0 million in (.875% Convertible Notes and $200.0 million of
fixed-rate 7.125% Senior Notes and $125.0 million of Senior Floating Rate Notes outstanding. Subject to the terms of the
Amended Credit Facility, our Spanish subsidiary’s term loan (“Spanish Term Loan™) and Spanish Credit Facility and the
indentures governing our 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, 0.875% Senior Convertible Notes, 7.125% Senior Notes and
Senior Floating Rate Notes, we may also incur additional indebtedness, including secured debt, in the future. See ltem 7 of
this document for details on the various debt agreements.

The degree to which we are leveraged could have important adverse consequences to us. limiting management’s choices in
responding to business, economic, regulatory and other competitive conditions. [n addition, our ability to generate cash flow
from operations sufficient to make scheduled payments on our debts as they become due will depend on our future
performance, our ability to successfully implement our business strategy and our ability to obtain other financing, which may
be influenced by economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. Our
indebtedness could also adversely affect our financial position.

We may not have sufficient cash to pay, or may not be permitted to pay, the cash portion of the required consideration that
we may need to pay if the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes or the 0.875% Senior Convertible Notes are converted. We will
be required to pay to the holder of a note a cash payment equal to the lesser of the principal amount of the notes being
converted or the conversion value of those notes. This part of the payment must be made in cash, not in shares of our
common stock. As a result, we may be required to pay significant amounts in cash to holders of the notes upon conversion,
A failure to pay the required cash consideration would be an event of default under the indenture governing the 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes and the 0.875% Senior Convertible Notes, which could lead to cross-defaults under our other
indebtedness.

In connection with the incurrence of indebtedness under our Amended Credit Facility, the lenders under that facility have
received a pledge of all of the capital stock of our existing domestic subsidiaries and any future domestic subsidiaries.
Additionally, these lenders have a lien on substantially all of our domestic assets, including our existing and future accounts
receivables, cash, general intangibles. investment property and real property. As a result of these pledges and liens, if we fail
10 meet our payment or other obligations under our Amended Credit Facility, the lenders with respect to this facility would be
entitled to foreclose on substantially all of our domestic assets and to liquidate these assets.
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e The agreements that govern our indebtedness contain various covenants that limit our discretion in the operation of
our business.

The agreements and instruments that govern our indebtedness contain various restrictive covenants that, among other things,
require us to comply with or maintain certain financial tests and ratios and restrict our ability to:

. incur more debt;

. pay dividends, purchase company stock or make other distributions;
. make certain investments and payments;

. create liens;

. enter into transactions with affiliates;

. make acquisitions;

. merge or consolidate; and

. transfer or sell assets.

Our ability to comply with these covenants is subject to various risks and uncertainties. In addition, events beyond our
control could affect our ability to comply with and maintain the financial tests and ratios required by this indebtedness. Any
failure by us to comply with and maintain all applicable financial tests and ratios and to comply with all applicable covenants
could result in an event of default with respect to, the acceleration of the maturity of, and the termination of the commitments
to make further extension of credit under, a substantial portion of our debt. Even if we are able to comply with all applicable
covenants, the resirictions on our ability to operate our business in our sole discretion could harm our business by, among
other things, limiting our ability to take advantage of financing, mergers, acquisitions and other corporate opportunities.

o Failure to comply with covenants and other provisions in our existing or future financing arrangements could result
in cross-defaults under some of our financing arrangements, which cross-defaults could jeopardize our ability to
satisfy our obligations.

Various risks, uncertainties and events beyond our control could affect our ability to comply with the covenants, financial
tests and ratios required by the instruments governing our financing arrangements. Failure to comply with any of the
covenants in our existing or future financing agreements could result in a default under those agreements and under other
agreements containing cross-default provisions. A default would permit lenders to cease to make further extensions of credit,
accelerate the maturity of the debt under these agreements and foreclose upon any collateral securing that debt. Under these
circumstances, we might not have sufficient funds or other resources to satisfy all of our obligations. [n addition, the
limitations imposed by financing agreements on our ability to incur additional debt and to take other actions might
sigitificantly impair our ability to obtain other financing. We may also amend the provisions and limitations of our credit
facilities from time to time.

Certain portions of our debt contain prepayment or acceleration rights at the election of the holders upon a covenant default
or change in control, which acceleration rights, if exercised, could constitute an event of default under other portions of our
debt. It is possible that we would be unable to fulfill all of these obligations simultaneously.

s QOur abifity to pay principal and interest on outstanding indebtedness depends upon our receipt of dividends or other
intercompany transfers from our subsidiaries, and claims of creditors of our subsidiaries that do net guarantee our
indebtedness will have priority over claims you may have as for our guaranteed indebtedness with respect to the assets
and earnings of those subsidiaries.

We are a holding company and substantially all of our properties and assets are owned by, and all our operations are
conducted through, our subsidiaries. As a result, we are dependent upon cash dividends and distributions or other transfers
from our subsidiaries to meet our debt service obligations, including payment of the interest on and principal of our
indebtedness when due, and other obligations. The ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends and make other payments to us
may be restricted by, among other things, applicable corporate, tax and other laws and regulations in the United States and




abroad and agreements made by us and our subsidiaries. including under the terms of our existing and potentially future
indebtedness.

In addition, claims of creditors, including trade creditors, of our subsidiaries will generally have priority with respect to the
assets and carnings of such subsidiaties over the claims of our creditors. except to the extent the claims of our creditors are
guaranteed by these subsidiaries. Certain of our indebtedness may be guaranteed by only some of our subsidiaries. [n the
event of our dissolution, bankruptey, liquidation or reorganization, the holders of such indebtedness will not receive any
amounts from our non-guarantor subsidiaries with respect to such indebtedness until after the payment in tull of the claims of
the creditors of those subsidiaries.

» A downgrade in our financial strength or credit ratings could limit our ability to conduct our business or offer and
sell additional debt securities, and could hurt our relationships with creditors.

Nationally recognized statistical rating organizations rate the credit risk associated with certain of our debt. Ratings are not
recommendations to buy or sell our securities. We may. in the future, incur indebtedness with interest rates that may be
affected by changes in or other actions associated with our credit ratings. Each of the rating agencies reviews its ratings
periodically, and previous ratings for our debt may not be maintained in the future. Rating agencies may also place us under
review for potential downgrade in certain circumstances or if we seek to take certain actions. A downgrade of our debt
ratings could afiect our ability to raise additional debt with terms and conditions similar to our current debt, and accordingly,
likely increase our cost of capital. In addition, a downgrade of these ratings, or other negative action, could make it more
difficult for us to raise capital to refinance any maturing debt obligations, to support business growth and to maintain or
improve the current financial strength of our business and operations.

»  The current accounting treatment applicable to our converiible notes may be rescinded.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™)} recently proposed FASB Staft Position (FSP) APB 14-a, Accournting
for Convertible Debt Insirumems That May Be Settled in Cash Upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlememt} (FSP
/4-a). The proposed FSP specilies that issuers of convertible debt instruments should separately account for the liability and
equity components of the instrument in a manner that will reflect the entity's nonconvertible debt borrowing rate on the
instrument's 1ssuance date when interest cost is recognized in subsequent periods. We have issued convertible notes that are
within the scope of FSP APB 14-a; therefore, we would be required to record the debt portions of our convertible notes at
their fair value on the date of issuance and amortize the resulting discount into interest expense over the life of the debt.
However. there would be no effect on our cash interest payments. The FASB is schedule to deliberate the guidance in the
current proposed, FSP APB [4-a in 2008 and it remains unclear as to the final form and effective date of this proposal. We
continue to monitor the status of this staff position and will evaluate the impact on our financial statements when more
definitive information becomes available. [f adopted in its current form, the proposed change would result in a significant
increase in our reported interest expense with respect to our convertible notes,

Risks Related to Our Securities
e Our stock has been and continues to be volatile, and our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is limired.

The value of our securities may fluctuate as a result of various factors. such as;

Announcements relating to significant corporate transactions:

*  Operating and stock price performance of companies that imvestors deem comparable to us;

¢ Changes in government regulation or proposals relating thereto,

s Sales or the expectation of sales ol a substantial number of shares of our commeon stock in the public market;

and
s General stock market fluctuations unrelated to our operating performance.

In addition. we do not expect to pay cash dividends on our commeon stock in the foreseeable future. Payment of dividends on
our common stock will depend on the carnings and cash flows of our business and that of our subsidiaries, and on our
subsidiaries” ability to pay dividends or to advance or repay funds to us. Before declaring a dividend. our Board of Directors
will consider factors that ordinarily affect dividend policy, such as earnings, cash flow, estimales of future earnings and cash
flow. business conditions. regulatory factors, our financial condition and other matters within its discretion, as well as
contractual restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. We may not be able 1o pay dividends in the future or, if paid, we
cannot assure vou that the dividends will be in the same amount or with the same frequency as in the past.
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Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, we may pay dividends, in cash or otherwise, only if we have surplus in an
amount at least equal to the amount of the relevant dividend payment. Any payment of cash dividends will depend upon our
financial condition, capital requirements, carnings and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. Further, our
Amended Credit Facility and the indentures governing our 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, 0.875% Senior Convertible
Notes and 7.125% Senior Notes and Senior Floating Rate Notes limit our ability to pay cash dividends, including cash
dividends on our common stock. In addition, the certificate of designations for our Series A preferred stock prohibits us from
the payment of any cash dividends on our common stock if we are not current on dividend payments with respect to our
Series A preferred stock. Agreements governing future indebtedness will likely contain restrictions on our ability to pay cash
dividends.

o Future issuances of shares of our conuinon stock may depress its market price.

Sales of substantial numbers of additional shares of common stock, including shares of common stock underlying the 0.875%
Convertible Notes and shares of our cutstanding Series A preferred stock, as well as sales of shares that may be issued in
connection with future acquisitions, ot the perception that such sales could occur, may have a harmful effect on prevailing
market prices for our common stock and our ability to raise additional capital in the financial markets at a time and price
favorable to us. Qur amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that we have authority to issue 200 million
shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2007, there were approximately 32.4 million shares of common stock
outstanding (net of treasury shares), approximately 0.9 million shares of common stock issuable upon the cxercise of
currently outstanding stock options and approximately 0.5 million shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of our
outstanding Series A preferred stock. In addition, a maximum of approximately 7.2 million shares of our common stock
could be issuable upon conversion of our 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes. Similarly, a maximum of approximately 9.0
million shares of common stock could be issuable upon conversion of our 0.875% Convertible Notes and approximately 7.0
million shares of common stock could be issuable due to the issuance of warrants we issued in connection with the offering
of our 0.875% Convertible Notes. All of the shares of our common stock that could be issued pursuant to the conversion of
our (.875% Convertible Notes by holders who are not our affiliates would be freely tradable by such holders.

«  Qur convertible note hedge and warrant transactions may affect the trading price of our common stock.

In connection with the issuance of our 0.875% Convertible Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions with
one or more of the participating underwriters or their affiliates, which we refer to as the counterparties. The convertible note
hedge transactions are comprised of purchased call options and sold warrants. The purchased call options are expected to
reduce our exposure to potential dilution upon the conversion of the 0.875% Convertible Notes. We also entered into warrant
transactions with such counterparties. The sold warrants have an exercise price that is approximately 92.4% higher than the
closing price of our common stock on the date the 0.875% Convertible Notes were priced. The warrants are expecled to
provide us with some protection against increases in our stock price over the conversion price per share. In connection with
these transactions, the counterparties, or their affiliates:

s may enter into various over-the-counter derivative transactions or purchase or sell our common stock in secondary
market transactions; and

e may enier into, or may unwind, various over-the-counter derivatives or purchase or sell our common stock in
secondary market transactions, including during any conversion reference period with respect to a conversion of
0.875% Convertible Notes.

These activities may have the effect of increasing, or preventing a decline in, the market price of our common stock. In
addition, any hedging transactions by the counterpartics, or their affiliates, including during any conversion reference period,
may have an adverse impact on the trading price of our common stock. The counterparties, or their affiliates, are likely to
modify their hedge positions from time to time prior to conversion or maturity of the 0.875% Convertible Notes by
purchasing and selling shares of our common stock, other of our securities, or other instruments, including over-the-counter
derivative instruments, that they may wish to use in connection with such hedging. In addition, we intend to exercise our
purchased call optiens whenever (0.875% Convertible Notes are converted, although we are not required to do so. In order to
unwind any hedge positions with respect to our exercise of the purchased call options, the counterparties or their affiliates
would expect to sell shares of comman stock in secondary market transactions or unwind various over-the-counter derivative
transactions with respect to our common stock during the conversion reference period for any 0.875% Convertible Notes that
may be converted.

The effect, if any, of any of these transactions and activities in connection with the 0.875% Convertible Notes on the market
price of our common stock will depend in part on market conditions and cannot be ascertained at this time, but any of these
activitics could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock and, as a result, the number of shares and value of the
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common stock received upon conversion of our (0.875% Convertible Notes.
o Issuances of additional series of preferred stock could adversely affect holders of our common stock.

Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue additional series of preferred stock without any action on the part of our
stockholders, Qur Board of Directors also has the power, without stockholder approval, to set the terms of any such series of
preferred stock that may be issued. including voting rights, conversion rights, dividend rights, preferences over our common
stock with respect to dividends or if we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our business and other terms. If we issue preferred
stock in the future that has preference over our common stock with respect to the payment of dividends or upon our
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, or if we issue preferred stock with voting rights that dilute the voting power of our
common stock, the rights of holders of our common stock or the market price of our common stock could be adversely
affected.

»  Provisions in our constituent documents could make it more difficult to acquire our company.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws contain provisions that may
discourage. delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our steckholders. Under
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, only our Board of Directors may call special meetings of stockholders,
and stockholders must comply with advance notice requirements for nominating candidates for election to our Board of
Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings. Directors may be
removed by stockholders only for cause and only by the effective vote of at least 66%4% of the voting power of all shares of
capital stock then entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class. Additionally, the
severance policy applicable to our executive officers may have the effect of making a change of control more expensive and,
therefore. less attractive.

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors may by resolution establish one or
more series of preferred stock. having such number of shares. designation, relative voting rights, dividend rates, conversion
rights, liquidation or other rights, preferences and limitations as may be fixed by our Board of Directors without any further
stockholder approval. Such rights, preferences, privileges and limitations as may be established, as well as provisions related
to our convertible notes that may entitle holders of those notes to receive make-whele or other payments upon the
consummation of a change in control or other fundamental transaction. could have the further effect of impeding or
discouraging the acquisition of control of our Company.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company’s principal manufacturing facilities are listed below. The Company owns the property at its global
headquarters located in Highland Heights, Kentucky and leases various distribution centers and sales and administrative
offices around the world. The Company believes that its properties are generally well maintained and are adequate for the
Company’s current level of operations.

Manufacturing properties by country Square Feet Owned or Leased

North America

United States — 12 5,240,000 10 owned, 2 leased
Canada - 3 285,000 3 owned
Mexico - 3 321,409 1 owned, 2 lcased

Europe and Nerth Africa

Spain— 4 1,373.000 4 owned
France -1 1,000,000 1 owned
Germany — | 511,286 1 owned
Portugal - 1 255,000 1 owned
ROW

Thailand - 2 1,892,832 3 owned
Venezuela - 3 1,058,381 3 owned
Brazil - 2 538,195 2 owned
Chile - 1 516,667 | owned
Honduras - | 458 465 | owned
India - 2 389,918 2 owned
New Zealand - 2 314,000 2 owned
China -2 279,760 2 owned
Costa Rica - 1 213,025 1 owned
Zambia - 1 131,203 | owned

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

General Cable is subject to numerous federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the storage, handling,
emission and discharge of materials into the environment, including CERCLA, the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act
(including the 1990 amendments) and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.

General Cable subsidiaries have been identified as potentially responsible parties with respect to several sites designated for
cleanup under CERCLA or similar state laws, which impose fiability for cleanup of certain waste sites and for related natural
resource damages without regard to fault or the legality of waste generation or disposal. General Cable does not own or
operate any of the waste sites with respect to which it has been named as a potentially responsible party by the government,
Based on its review and other factors, management believes that costs relating to environmental clean-up at these sites will
not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

American Premier Underwriters, Inc., in connection with the 1994 Wassall PLC transaction, agreed to indemnify General
Cable against liabilities (including all environmental liabilities) arising out of General Cable or its predecessors’ ownership or
operation of the Indiana Steel & Wire Company and Marathon Manufacturing Holdings, Inc. businesses (which were
divested by the predecessor prior to the 1994 Wassall transaction), without limitation as to time or amount. American Premier
also agreed to indemnify General Cable against 662/3% of all other environmental liabilities arising out of General Cable or
its predecessors” ownership or operation of other properties and assets in excess of $10 million but not in excess of $33
million, which were identified during the seven-year period ended June 2001. Indemnifiable environmental liabilities through
June 2001 were substantially below that threshold. In addition, General Cable also has claims against third parties with
respect to some of these liabilities. While it is difficult to estimate future environmental liabilities accurately, the Company
does not currently anticipate any material adverse effect on results of operations, financial condition or cash flows as a result
of compliance with federal, state, local or foreign environmental laws or regulations or cleanup costs of the sites discussed
above.
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As part of the BICC ple acquisition, BICC agreed to indemnify General Cable against environmental liabilities existing at the
date of the closing of the purchase of the business. The indemnity is for an cight-year period ending in 2007 while the
Company operates the businesses subject to certain sharing of losses (with BICC plc covering 95% of losses in the first three
years. 80% in years four and five and 60% in the remaining three vears). The indemnity is also subject o the overall
indemnity limit of $150 million, which applies (o all warranty and indemmnity claims in the transaction, In addition, BICC plc
assumed responsibility for cleanup of certain specific conditions at several sites operated by General Cable and cleanup is
mostly complete at those sites. In the sale of the businesses to Pirelli in August 2000, General Cable generally indemnitied
Pirelli against any environmental liabilities on the same basis as BICC plc indemnified the Company in the carlier
acquisttion, However, the indemnity General Cable received from BICC plc related to the European businesses sold to Pirelli
terminated upon the sale of those businesses to Pirelli. At this time, there are no claims outstanding under the general
indemmity provided by BICC ple. In addition, the Company generally indemnified Pirelli against other claims relating to the
prior operation of the business. Pirelli has asserted claims under this indemnification. The Company is continuing to
investigate and defend against these claims and believes that the reserves currently included in the Company’s balance sheet
are adequalte to cover any obligations it may have,

General Cable has also agreed to indemnify Southwire Company against certain environmental liabilities arising out of the
operation of the business it sold to Southwire prior to its sale. The indemnity 1s for a ten year period trom the closing of the
sale. which ends in the fourth quarter of 2011, and is subject to an overall limit of $20 million. At this ime. there are no
claims outstanding under this indemnity.

As part of the acquisition of Silec, SAFRAN SA agreed to indemnify General Cable against environmental losses arising
from breach of representations and warranties on environmental law comphance and against losses arising from costs
General Cable could incur to remediate property acquired based on a directive of the French authorities to rehabilitate
property in regard to soil, water and other underground contarination arising before the closing date of the purchase. These
indemunitics are for a six-year period ending in 2011 while General Cable operates the businesses subject to sharing of certain
losses (with SAFRAN covering 100% of losses in year one, 75% in years two and three, 50% in year four, and 25% in ycars
five and six). The indemnities are subject to an overall limit of 4.0 million euros. As of December 31, 2007, there were no
claims outstanding under this indemnity.

In 2007, the Company acquired the worldwide wire and cable business of Freeport-McMoRan Copper and Gold Inc., which
operates as PDIC.  As part of this acquisition. the seller agreed to indemnify the Company for certain environmental
liabilities existing at the date of the closing of the acquisition. The seller’s obligation to indemmnily the Company for these
particular lighilities generally survives four years from the date the parties exceuted the definitive purchase agreement unless
the Company has properly notified the seller before the expiry of the four year period. The seller also made certain
representations and warranties related to environmental matters and the acquired business and agreed to indemnify the
Company for breaches of those representation and warranties for a period of four years from the closing date.
Indemnification claims for breach of representations and warranties arc subject to an overall indemnity limit of
approximately $105 million with a deductible of $5.0 million, which generally applies to all warranty and indemnity claims
for the transaction.

Gicneral Cable has been a defendant in asbestos litigation for approximately 20 years. As of December 31, 2006, General
Cable was a defendant in approximately 34,715 lawsuits. Approximately 33.440 of these lawsuits have been brought on
behalf of plaintiffs by a single admiralty law firm (*“MARDOC™) and seek unspecified damages. Plaintiffs in the MARDOC
cases generally allege that they formerly worked in the maritime industry and sustained asbestos-related injuries from
products that General Cable ceased manufacturing in the mid-1970s. The MARDOC cases are managed and supervised by a
tederal judge in the United States District Coun for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (“District Court™) by reason of a
transter by the judicial panel on Multidistrict Litigation (“MDL™).

In the MARDOC cases in the MDL, the District Court in May 1996 dismissed all pending cases filed without prejudice and
placed them on an inactive administrative docket, To reinstate a MARDOC case from the inactive docket, plaintiffs’ counsel
must show that the plaintiff not only suffered from a recognized asbestos-related injury, but also must produce specific
product identification evidence to proceed against an individual defendant. During 2002, plaintiffs’ counsel requested that
the District Court allow discovery in approximately 135 cases. Prior to this discovery, plaintiffs” counsel indicated that they
believed that product tdentification could be established as to many of the approximately 100 defendants named in these
MARDOC cases. To date, in this discovery, General Cable has not been identified as a manufacturer of asbestos-containing
products to which any of these plaintifis were exposed.

As of December 31, 2007, General Cable was a defendant in approximately 1,275 cases brought in various jurisdictions

throughout the United States. With regards to the approximately 1.275 remaining cases, General Cable has aggressively
defended these cases based upon either lack of product identification as o General Cable manufactured asbestos-containing
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product and/or lack of exposure 1o asbestos dust from the use of General Cable product. n the last 20 years, General Cable
has had no cases proceed to verdict. In many of the cases, General Cable was dismissed as a defendant before trial for lack of
product identification.

For cases outside the MDL as of December 31, 2007, Plaintiffs have asserted monetary damages in 389 cases. In 253 of
these cases, plaintiffs allege only damages in excess of some dollar amount (about $232.0 thousand per plaintiff); in these
cases there are no claims for specific dollar amounts requested as 1o any defendant. in 135 other cases pending in state and
federal district courts (outside the MDL), plaintiffs seek approximately $236.0 million in damages from as many as 110
defendants. In five cases, plaintiffs have asserted damages related to General Cable in the amount of $2.0 million. In
addition, in relation to these 389 cases, there are claims of $74.0 million in punitive damages from all of the defendants.
However, many of the plaintiffs in these cases allege non-malignant injuries.

Bascd on our experience in this litigation, the amounts pleaded in the complaints are not typically meaningtul as an indicator
of the Company's potential liability, This is because (1) the amounts claimed usually bear no relation to the level of
plaintifls injury, if any; (2) complaints nearly always assert claims against multiple defendants (a typical complaint asserts
claims against some 110 different defendants); (3) damages alleged are not attributed to individual defendants; (4) the
defendants’ share of liability may turn on the law of joint and several liability; (5) the amount of fault to be allocated to each
defendant is different depending on each case; (6) many cases are filed against General Cable, cven though the plainiff did
not use any of General Cable’s products, and ultimately are withdrawn or dismissed without any payment; (7) many cases are
brought on behalf of plaintiffs who have not suffered any medical injuries, and ultimately are resolved without any payment
to that plaintiff; and (8) with regard to claims for punitive damages, potential liability gencrally is related to the amount of
potential exposure to asbestos from a defendant’s products. General Cable’s asbestos-containing products contained only a
mintmal amount of fully encapsulated asbestos.

Further, as indicated above. General Cable has more than 20 years of experience in this litigation, and has, to date, resolved
the claims of approximately 11,277 plaintiffs. The cumulative average settlement for these matters is less than $235 per case.
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006. the Company had accrued on its balance sheet, on a gross basis. a liability of $5.2
million, respectively, for asbestos-related claims and had recorded insurance recoveries of approximately $0.5 million,
respectively. The net amount of $4.7 million, as of December 31, 2007, respectively, represents the Company's best estimate
in order to cover resolution of future asbestos-related claims.

In January 1994, General Cable entered into a setilement agreement with certain principal primary insurers concerning
tiability for the costs of defense, judgments and settlements, if any, in all of the asbestos litigation described above. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the settlement agreement, the insurers arc responsible for a substantial portion of the costs and
expenses incurred in the defense or resolution of this litigation. In recent years one of the insurers participating in the
settlement that was responsible for a significant portion of the contribution under the settlement agreement entered into
insurance liquidation proceedings. As a result, the contribution of the insurers has been reduced and the Company has had to
bear a larger portion of the costs relating to these lawsuits. Moreover, certain of the other insurers may be financially
unstable, and if one or more of these insurers enter into insurance liquidation proceedings, General Cable will be required to
pay a larger portion of the costs incurred in connection with these cases. During 2006, the Company reached an
approximately $3.0 million settlement in cash for the resolution of one of these insurers’ obligations that effectively
exhausted the limits of the insurance company’s policies that were included in the 1994 settlement agreement.

Based on (1) the terms of the insurance settlement agreement; (2) the relative costs and expenses incurred in the disposition
of past asbestos cases; (3) reserves established on our books which are believed to be reasonable; and (4) defenses available
to us in the litigation, the Company believes that the resolution of the present asbestos litigation will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial results, consolidated cash flows or consolidated financial position.
However, since the outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain, the Company cannot give absolute assurance regarding the
future reselution of the asbestos litigation. Liabilities incurred in connection with asbestos litigation are not covered by the
American Premier indemnification.

General Cable is also involved in various routine legal proccedings and administrative actions. In the opinion of the
Company’s management, these proceedings and actions should not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse
effect on its consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART II.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Holders

General Cable’s common stock is listed on the New York Steck Exchange under the symbol “BGC”. As of February 22,
2008, there were approximately 1,874 registered holders of the Company’s common stock. The following table sets forth the
high and low daily sales prices for the Company’s common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange during the
years ended December 31:

2007 2006
High Low High Low
First Quarter $55.66 $42.25 $30.99 $19.58
Second Quarter 79.23 5182 38.15 26.10
Third Quarter 84.95 48.16 39.85 28.87
Fourth Quarter 83.50 62.16 4541 37.04

Dividends

The Company currently does not pay dividends on its common stock. The future payment of dividends on common stock is
subject to the discretion of General Cable’s Board of Directors, restrictions under the Series A preferred stock, restrictions
under the Company’s current Amended Credit Facility, the indentures governing the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, the
0.875% Convertible Notes, the 7.125% Sentor Notes and the Senior Floating Rate Notes and the requirements of Delaware
General Corporation Law, and will depend upon general business conditions, financial performance and other factors the
Company’s Board of Directors may consider relevant. General Cable does not expect to pay cash dividends on common
stock in the foreseeable future,

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
Information related to the Company’s securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, including the

tabular disclosure, is presented in Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters.”
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Performance Graph

The graph below compares the annual percentage change in cumulative total shareholder return on General Cable stock in
relation to cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, and a peer group of companies (“2007 Peer
Group™). The data shown are for the period beginning May 16, 1997, the date that General Cable (“BGC”) commeon stock
began trading on the NYSE, through December 31, 2007.

Cummulative Return: General Cable
Common Stock, 2007 Peer Group and S&P 500 Index )
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Total Cummulative Return

—e— General Cable —o— Peer Group —x— S&P 500

May Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec. Dec.
1997 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

General Cable 100 167 143 53 32 97 29 62 105 149 331 555
2007 Peer Group 100 124 95 160 133 112 52 95 107 118 236 277
S&P 500 100 117 148 177 159 138 106 134 146 150 171 177

M Agsumes the value of the investment in General Cable common stock and each index was 100 on May 16, 1997.

The 2006 Peer Group consists of Belden CDT Inc. (NYSE: BDC), CommScope, Inc. (NYSE: CTV), Draka
Holding, N.V. (Euronext Amsterdam Stock Exchange) and Nexans (Paris Stock Exchange). The 2007 Peer Group
consists of the same companies as in 2006 and 2005. Returns in the 2007 and 2006 Peer Group are weighted by
capitalization.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company issued $475.0 miilion 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes Due 2012, dated
October 2, 2007, by and among General Cable Corporation, the subsidiary guarantors named therein, and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee. The Notes were sold to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended and related information has been previously provided on the Current Report on Form 8-K as filed
on October 2, 2007 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.9).

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The Company currently has no share repurchase program approved by the Board of Directors, and therefore, repurchased no
shares under such a program during the fourth quarter of 2007. However, employees of the Company do have the right to
surrender to the Company shares in payment of minimum tax obligations upon the vesting of grants of common stock under
the Company’s equity compensation plans. Minimal shares were surrendered during the fourth quarter of 2007. For the year
ended December 31, 2007, 82,664 total shares were surrendered to the Company by employees in payment of minimum tax
obligations upon the vesting of nonvested stock under the Company’s equity compensation plans, and the average price paid
per share was $52.44.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data for the last five years were derived from audited consolidated financial statements, The following
selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations™ and the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, especially as the information
pertains to 2005, 2006 and 2007 activity,

Buring the fourth quarter of 2003, General Cable completed a comprehensive refinancing of its then existing bank debt. The
refinancing included a new senior secured revolving credit facility, which is now, as amended. referred to as the Amended
Credit Facility. the private placement of seven-year 9.5% Senior Notes, the private placement of Series A preferred stock and
a public offering of common stock. The net proceeds were used to repay all amounts outstanding under the Company’s
former senior secured revolving credit facility, senior secured term loans and accounts receivable asset-backed securitization
factlity and to pay fees and expenses. The results of these transactions are included in the financial data presented below,
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Net sales

Gross profit

Operating income

Other income (expense)
Interest expense, net

Other financial costs

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income

taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries
Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies
Net income (loss)
Less: preferred stock dividends
Net income {loss) applicable to common shareholders
Earnings (loss) of continuing

operations per common share-basic
Earnings (loss) of continuing

operations per common share-assuming dilution
Earnings of discontinued operations per

common share-basic
Earnings of discontinued

operations per common share-assuming dilution
Earnings (loss) per common share-basic
Earnings (loss) per common share-assuming dilution
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic
Weighted average shares outstanding-assuming dilution

Other Data:

Depreciation and amortization

Capital expenditures

Average daily COMEX price per pound of
copper cathode

Average daily price per pound of aluminum rod

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital™
Total assets
Total debt
Dividends to common shareholders
Sharcholders’ equity

Year Ended December 31,

2007 20067 20057 2004 2003
(in millions, except metal price and share data)
$4.6148 $3,665.1 $2.380.8 $1,970.7 $1,538.4

662.7 471.0 270.7 214.7 173.4

366.1 2359 98.5 56.5 457

(3.4) (0.1) {0.5) (1.2) 1.5

(29.6) (35.6) (37.0) (35.9) (43.1)

R - - - 6.0

(25.3) - - . -

307.8 200.2 61.0 19.4 (1.9

{99.4) (64.9) (21.8) 18.1 (2.9)

208.4 135.3 392 373 (4.8)

- - - 0.4 -

(0.2) - - - -

0.4 - - - -

208.6 135.3 392 37.9 (4.8)

(0.3) (0.3) (22.0) (6.0) (0.6)
$ 2083 S 1350 s 172 $ 319 S (5.4
$  4.07 $ 270 $ 042 S 081 5 (0.16)
$ 3.8 $ 260 $ 041 $ 073 $ (0.16)
$ - $ - $ - $ 001 -
by - b - $ - $ 0.01 -
$ 407 $ 270 S 042 5§ 082 S (0.16)
$ 3.82 $ 260 $  04i $ 076 S (0.16)

51.2 50.0 41.1 36.0 33.6

54.6 52.0 41.9 50.3 336
$ 635 $ 3009 § 510 $ 354 $ 334
$ 1536 $ 711 $ 426 § 370 $ 191
$ 322 $ 3.09 $ 1.68 $ L29 $ 0381
$§ 1.23 $§ 122 $ 092 $ 085 $ 0.69

December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
$ 71201 $ 7391 $ 3786 $ 2980 $ 2366
3,798.0 2,218.7 1,523.2 1,239.3 1,049.5
1.398.8 740.6 451.6 3749 340.4

651.3 434.4 2933 301.4 240.1

No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.

Includes operating results of PDIC since October 31, 2007 and the effects of the adoption of FASB Interpretation

This period includes the effects of the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123

(Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, and SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).

3

This period includes the preliminary opening balance sheet figures for Silec and GC Automotriz as of December 31,

2005. Due to the purchase dates, the effects of the acquisitions on the statements of operations’ data were not

material.
)

Working capital means current assets less current liabitities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operanons ("“MD&A™) is
intended to help the reader understand General Cable Corporation’s financial position, changes in financial condition, and
results of operations. MD&A s provided as a supplement to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and the
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (“Notes”) and should be read in conjunction with these
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.

Overview

General Cable is a global leader in the development, design, manufacture, marketing and distribution of copper, aluminum
and fiber optic wire and cable products. The Company’s operations are divided into three reportable segments: North
America, Europe and North Africa and ROW.

The Company has a strong market position in each of the segments in which it competes due to product, geographic, and
customer diversity and the Company’s ability to operate as a low cost provider. The Company sells a wide variety of copper,
aluminum and fiber optic wire and cable products, which it belicves represents one of the most diversified product lines in
the industry. As a resul, the Company is able to offer its customers a single source for most of their wire and cable
requirements.  As of December 31, 2007, the Company manutactures its product lines in 45 facilities and sells its products
worldwide through its global operations.

Centain statements in this report including, without limitation. statements regarding future financial results and performance,
plans and objectives, capital expenditures and the Company’s or management’s belicfs, expectations or opinions, are
forward-looking statements. and as such, General Cable desires to take advantage of the “safe harbor” which is afforded such
statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, The Company’s forward-looking statements should
be read in conjunction with the Company’s comments in this report under the heading, “Disclosure Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements.” Actual results may differ materially from those statements as a result of factors, risks and uncertainties
over which the Company has no control, For a list of some of these factors, risks and uncertainties, see Item 1A.

General Cable analyzes its worldwide operations based on three geographical reportable segments: 1) North America, 2)
Europe and North Africa and 3) ROW. The following table scts forth net sales and operating income by geographic group
for the periods presented, in millions of dollars:

Year Ended
{in millions) Dec 31, 2007 Dec 31, 2006 Dec 31, 2005
Net sales:
North America $2.243.7 $2,058.6 $1,5745
Europe and North Africa 1.939.7 1,446.8 682.0
ROW 4314 159.7 124.3
Total $4.614.8 $3.665.1 $2,380.8
Operating Income:
North America $179.4 S128.9 $36.2
Europe and North Africa 162.4 101.9 54.9
ROW 243 5.1 7.4
Total $366.1 $235.9 $948.5

General Cable’s reported net sales are directly influenced by the price of copper, and to a lesser extent. aluminum. The price
of copper and aluminum as traded on the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) and COMEX has historically been subject to
considerable volatility and, during the past few years. has been subject to an upward trend. For example, the daily selling
price of copper cathode on the COMEX averaged $3.22 per pound in 2007, $3.09 per pound in 2006 and $1.68 per pound in
2005 and the daily price of aluminum rod averaged $1.23 per pound in 2007, S1.22 per pound in 2006 and $0.92 per pound in
2005. This copper and aluminum price volatility is representative of all reportable segments.

General Cable generally passes changes in copper and aluminum prices along 1o its customers, although there are timing
delays of varying lengths depending upon the volatility of metals prices, the type of product, competitive conditions and
particular customer arrangements. A significant portion of the Company’s electric utility and telecommunications business
and, to a lesser extent, the Company’s electrical infrastructure business has metal escalators included in customer contracts
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under a variety of price setting and recovery formulas. The remainder of the Company’s business requires that volatility in
the cost of metals be recovered through negotiated price changes with customers. In these instances, the ability to change the
Company’s selling prices may lag the movement in metal prices by a period of time as the customer price changes are
implemented. As a result of this and a number of other practices intended to match copper and aluminum purchases with
sales, profitability over time has historically not been significantly affected by changes in copper and aluminum prices,
although 2003 and 2004 profitability was adversely impacted by rapid increases in raw material costs, including the cost of
copper and aluminum. General Cable hedges metal purchases but does not engage in speculative metals trading.

The Company has also experienced significant inflationary pressure on raw materials other than copper and aluminum used
in cable manufacturing, such as insulating compounds, steel and wood reels, freight costs and energy costs. The Company
has increased selling prices in most of its markets in order to offset the negative effect of increased raw material prices and
other costs. However, the Company’s ability to ultimately realize these price increases will be influenced by competitive
conditions in its markets, including manufacturing capacity utilization. In addition, a continuing rise in raw material prices,
when combined with the normal lag time between an announced customer price increase and its effective date in the market,
may result in the Company not fully recovering these increased costs. If the Company were not able to adequately increase
selling prices in a period of rising raw material costs, the Company may experience a decrease in reported earnings.

General Cable generally has experienced and expects to continue to experience certain seasonal trends in sales and cash flow.
Larger amounts of cash are generally required during wimer months in order to build inventories in anticipation of higher
demand during the spring and summer months, when construction activity increases. In general, receivables related to higher
sales activity during the spring and summer months are collected during the fourth quarter of the year. In addition, the
Company’s working capital requirements increase during periods of rising raw material costs.

Current Business Environment

The wirc and cable industry is competitive, mature and cost driven. For many product offerings, there is little differentiation
among industry participants from a manufacturing or technology standpoint. During recent years, the Company’s end
markets have continued to demonstrate recovery from the low points of demand experienced in 2003; however, there arc
recent signs of an economic slowdown in the United States and slowing growth in some European markets. In the past
several years, there has been significant merger and acquisition activity, which, the Company believes, has led to a reduction
in inefficient, high cost capacity in the industry.

In addition to the factors previously mentioned, General Cable is currently being affected by the following macro-level
trends:

Worldwide underlying growth trends in electric utility and infrastructure markets;

Softness in demand for low-voltage utility products in North America and Europe, particularly Spain, as a result of
slow down in new home construction;

Continued decline in demand for copper based telecommunication products;

Increasing demand for natural resources, such as oil and gas, and alternative energy initiatives;

Increasing demand for further deployment of submarine power and fiber optic communication systems;

Factory utilization increases industry-wide that are driving on average higher selling prices and margin
improvements; and

e Continued political sensitivity in certain developing markets.

L]

The Company’s overall financial results discussed in the following MD&A demonstrate the diversification of the Company’s
product offering, focus on faster growing electric utility markets and global geographic coverage continue to allow the
Company to absorb market weakness in any one product grouping or region.

The Company anticipates that the following trends may affect the financial results of the Company during 2008. The
Company’s working capital requirements have been and are expected to be impacted by continued high raw materials costs,
including metals and insulating materials as well as high freight and energy costs. Copper and aluminum prices remain high
compared to historical prices and continue to be volatile. The Company expects both copper and aluminum supplies to
continue to be tight globally mainly due to increased demand from emerging economies such as China and India and due to
refining industry and mining labor issues.

As part of General Cable’s ongoing efforts to reduce total operating costs, the Company continuously evaluates its ability to
more efficiently utilize existing manufacturing capacity. Such evaluation includes the costs associated with and benefits to be
derived from the combination of existing manufacturing assets into fewer plant locations and the possible outsourcing of
certain manufacturing processes. During 2004, the Company completed the closure of certain of its electrical infrastructure
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manufacturing plants in North America that resulted in a $7.4 million charge in 2004 (of which approximately $4.7 million
were cash payments). During 2004, the Company alse closed its North America rod mill operation and sold certain
equipment utilized in that operation which resulted in a net gain of $0.3 million. During 2005, the Company closed certain of
its manufacturing plants in North America that produced communications products. These actions resulted in an $18.6
million charge in 2005 (of which approximately $7.5 million were cash payments), which included a $0.5 million gain from
the sale of a previously closed manufacturing plant. During 2006 and 2007, due to high utilization rates and strong economic
conditions, no facility closures occurred. However, during the fourth quarter 2007, the Company rationalized outside plant
telecommunication products manufacturing capacity due to continued declines in telecommunications cable demand. The
Company closed a portion of its telecommunications capacity located primarily at its Tetla, Mexico facility and has taken a
pre-tax charge to write-off certain production equipment of $6.6 mitlion. This action will free approximately 100,000 square
feet of manufacturing space, which the Company plans to utilize for other products for the Central and South American
markets.

General Cable believes its global investment in Lean Six Sigma (“Lean™) training, coupled with effectively utilized
manufiacturing assets, provides a cost advantage compared to many of its competitors and generates cost savings which help
offset high raw material prices and other high general economic costs over time. In addition, General Cable’s customer and
supplier integration capabilities, one-stop selling and geographic and product balance are sources of competitive advantage,
As a result, the Company believes it is well positioned, relative to many of its competitors, in the current business
environment.

In the fourth guarter of 2006, the Company issued $355.0 million of Convertible Notes with a 0.§75% fixed interest rate and
used the proceeds to pay down its floating rate, LIBOR-based Amended Credit Facility while investing the excess cash. In
2007, the Company also redeemed its $285.0 million 9.5% Senior Notes outstanding in the United States with a fixed interest
rate of 9.5% with the issuance of $200.0 million of fixed-rate 7.125% Senior Notes and $125.0 million of Senior Floating
Rate Notes with interest payable at an annual interest rate equal to the 3-month LIBOR rate plus 2.375% while investing the
excess cash after funding the inducement premtum and other fees and expenses. Additionally, 1o partially fund the PDIC
acquisition, the Company issued $475.0 million of Convertible Notes with a 1.00% fixed interest rate. The Company expects
these capital structure changes will allow it to maintain a lower average interest rate on outstanding debt when compared to
prior years as the Company has exchanged higher fixed rate debt with lower fixed and variable rate debt that based on current
and anticipated future interest rates in the United States is expected to result in a reduction of interest expense.

Acquisitions and Divestitures

General Cable actively seeks to identify key trends in the industry to capitalize on expanding markets and new niche markets
or exit declining or non-strategic markets in order to achieve better returns. The Company also sets aggressive performance
targets for its business and intends to refocus or divest those activities, which fail to meet targets or do not fit long-term
strategies,

On October 31, 2007, the Company acquired the worldwide wire and cable business of Frecport-McMoRan Copper and
Gold, Inc., which operates as Phelps Dodge International (“PDIC™), located principally in Latin America, sub-Saharan Africa
and Southeast Asia. PDIC has manufacturing, distribution and sales facilities in 19 countries and nearly 3,000 employees.
With more than 50 years of experience in the wire and cable industry, PDIC manufactures a full range of electric utility,
electrical infrastructure, construction and communication products. The Company paid approximately $707.6 million in cash
to the sellers in consideration for PDIC and $8.5 million in fees and expenses related to the acquisition. In 2006, the last full
year before the acquisition. PDIC reported global net sales of approximately $1,168.4 million (based on average exchange
rates). Certain pro forma information has been provided in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally,
pro forma information and PDIC audited financial statements were previously provided on Current Reports on Form 8-K/A
fited on November 1, 2007 and amended on January (4, 2008.

On Apnil 30, 2007, the Company acquired Norddeutsche Seckabelwerke GmbH & Co. KG (“NSW™), located in Nordenham,
Germany from Corning Incorporated. As a result of the transaction, the Company assumed liabilities in excess of the assets
acquired, including approximately $40.1 million of pension liabilities (based on the prevailing exchange rate at April 30,
2007). The Company recorded proceeds of $28.0 million, net of $0.8 million fees and expenses, which included $12.3
million of cash acquired and $5.5 million for settlement of accounts receivable. NSW had revenues of approximately $120
million in 2006 {(based on 2006 average exchange rates) and has approximately 400 employees. NSW offers complete
solutions for submarine cable systems including manufacturing, engineering, seabed mapping, project management, and
installation for the offshore communications, energy exploration, transmission, distribution, and alternative energy markets.
Pro forma results of the NSW acquisition are not material.
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On August 31, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of E.C.N. Cable Group, S.L. (“ECN Cable™) for a final
purchase price of $13.2 million in cash and the assumption of $38.6 million in ECN Cable debt (at prevailing exchange rates
during the period), including fees and expenses and net of cash acquired. ECN Cable is based in Bilbao, Spam and employs
approximately 200 associates., In 2005, the last full year prior to acquisition, ECN Cable reported global sales of
approximately $71.5 million (based on 2005 average exchange rates) mostly on sales of aluminum aerial high-voltage and
extra-high-voltage cables, low- and medium-voitage insulated power cables and bimetallic products used in electric
transmission and communications. Pro forma results of the ECN Cable acquisition are not material.

On December 22, 2005, the Company completed its purchase of the shares of the wire and cable manufacturing business of
SAFRAN SA a diverse, global high technology company. The acquired business is known under the name Silec Cable,
S.A.S. (“Silec”) and is based in Montereau, France. In 2005, prior to the acquisition date, Silec reported global sales of
approximately $282.7 million (based on 2005 average exchange rates) of which about 52% were linked to electric utility and
electrical infrastructure. The original consideration paid for the acquisition was approximately $82.8 million {(at prevailing
exchange rates during that period) inctuding fees and expenses and net of cash acquired at closing. The Company acquired
Silec primarily as the latest step in the positioning of the Company as a global leader in cabling systems for the cnergy
exploration, production, and transmission and distribution markets. A final purchase price allocation, pro forma financial
information and other relevant information related to this acquisition are set forth in Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The results of operations of the acquired businesses discussed above have been included in the consolidated financial
statements since the respective dates of acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. A summary of significant accounting policies is provided in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The application of these policies requires management to make estimates and judgments
that affect the amounts reflected in the financial statements. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical
experience, information that is avatlable to management about current events and actions the Company may take in the future
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
cstimates under different assumptions or conditions, The most critical judgments impacting the financial statements include
those policies described below. In addition, significant estimates and judgments are also involved in the valuation
allowances for sales incentives and accounts receivable; warranty, setiled tax positions, legal, environmental, asbestos and
customer reel deposit liabilities; assets and obligations related to other postretirement benefits; and self-insured workers’
compensation and health insurance reserves. Management believes these judgments have been materially accurate in the past
and the basis for these judgments should not change significantly in the future. Management periodically evaluates and
updates the estimates used in the application of its accounting policies, adjusts amounts in the consolidated financial
statements as necessary and has discussed the development, selection and disclosure of these cstimates with the Audit
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.

Inventory Costing and Valuation

General Cable utilizes the LIFO method of inventery accounting for its metals inventory. The Company’s use of the LIFO
method results in its consolidated statement of operations reflecting the current costs of metals, while metals inventories in
the balance sheet are valued at historical costs as the LIFQ layers were created. If LIFO inventory quantities are reduced in a
period when replacement costs exceed the LIFO value of the inventory, the Company would experience an increase in
reported earnings. Conversely, if LIFO inventory quantities are reduced in a period when replacement costs are lower than
the LIFOQ value of the inventory, the Company would experience a decline in reported earnings. [f the Company were not
able to recover the LIFO value of its inventory in some future period when replacement costs were lower than the LIFO value
of the inventory, the Company would be required to take a charge to recognize in its consolidated statement of operations an
adjustment of LIFO inventory to market value.

The Company periodically evaluates the realizability of its inventory. In circumstances where inventory levels are in excess
of anticipated market demand, where inventory is deemed to be technologically obsolete or not saleable due to its condition
or where inventory costs exceed net realizable value, the Company records a charge to cost of sales and reduces the inventory
to its net realizable value.

37




Pension Accounting

General Cable provides retirement benefits through contributory and non-contributory qualified and non-qualified defined
benefit pension plans covering eligible domestic and international employees as well as through defined contribution plans
and other postretirement benefits, Benefits under General Cable’s qualified U.S. defined benefit pension plan generally are
based on years of service multiplied by a specific fixed dollar amount, and benefits under the Company’s qualified non-U.S.
defined benefit pension plans generally are based on years of service and a variety of other factors that can include a specific
fixed dollar amount or a percentage of either current salary or average salary over a specific period of time. The amounts
funded for any plan year for the qualified U.S, defined benefit pension plan are neither less than the minimum required under
federal law nor more than the maximum amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. General Cable’s non-qualified
unfunded U.S. defined benefit pension plans include a plan that provides defined benefits to select senior management
employees beyond those benefits provided by other programs. The Company’s non-gualified unfunded non-U.S. deftned
benefit pension plans include plans that provide retirement indemnities to employees within the Company’s European
business. Pension obligations for the non-qualified unfunded defined benefit pension plans are provided for by book reserves
and are based on local practices and regulations of the respective countries. General Cable makes cash contributions for the
costs of the non-qualified unfunded defined benefit pension plans as the benefits are paid.

On June 27, 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company approved amendments to the General Cable Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP™) and the General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (*DCP”) and the
merger of the SERP into the DCP. The Company received written acknowledgement and acceptance of the SERP
amendments and merger from each participant in the SERP. The amendments and merger were made in order to simplify,
limit and better align these specific compensation plans with the Company’s compensation policies, which are described in
the Company’s 2008 Proxy Statement. which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of
December 31, 2007,

Benefit costs for the defined benetit pension plans sponsored by General Cable are determined based principally upon certain
actuarial assumptions, including the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on assets. The weighted-average
discount rate used to determine the net pension cost for 2007 was 6.00% for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans. The
weighted-average discount rate as of December 31, 2007 that was used Lo determine benefit obligations was 6.00% for the
U.S. defined benefit pension plans, and was determined based on a review of long-term bonds that receive one of the two
highest ratings given by a recognized rating agency which are expected to be available during the period to maturity of the
projected pension benefit obligations and based on information received from actuaries. The weighted-average discount rate
used to determine the net pension cost for 2007 was 4.99% for the non-U.S. defined benefit pension pians. Non-U.S. defined
benefit pension plans followed a similar evaluation process based on financial markets in those countries where General
Cable provides a defined benefit pension plan, and the weighted-average discount rate used to determine benefit obligations
tor General Cable’s non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans was 5.62% as of December 31, 2007. General Cable’s expense
under both 1).S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans is determined using the discount rate as of the beginning of the
fiscal year, so 2008 expense for the defined benefit pension plans will be based on the weighted-average discount rate of
6.00% for U.S. ptans and 4.99% for non-U.S. plans.

The weighted-average long-term expected rate of return on assets is assumed to be 7.80% for 2008, reflecting an 8.50%
weighted-average rate for the U.S. plans. The weighted-average long-term expected rate of return on assets is based on input
from actuaries, including their review of historical 10-year, 20-year. and 25-year rates of inflation and real rates of return on
various broad equity and bond indices in conjunction with the diversification of the asset portfolio. The expected long-term
rate of return on assets for the qualified U.S. defined benefit pension plan is based on an asset allocation assumption of 65%
allocated to equity investments, with an expected real rate of return of 7%, and 35% to fixed-income investments, with an
expected real rate of return of 3%. and an assumed long-term rate of inflation of 3%. The actual asset allocations were 60%
of equity investments and 40% of fixed-income investments at Decermber 31, 2007 and 64% of equity investments and 36%
of fixed-income investments at December 31, 2006. The expected long-term rate of return on assets for qualified non-U.S.
defined benefit plans is based on a weighted-average asset allocation assumption of 54% allocated to equity investments,
42% to fixed-income investments and 4% to other investments. The actual weighted-average assct allocations were 52% of
equity investments, 43% of fixed-income investments and 5% of other investments at December 31, 2007 and 56% of equity
investments, 40% of fixed-income investments and 4% of other investments at December 31, 2006. Management believes
that long-term asset allocations on average and by location will approximate the Company’s assumptions and that the long-
term rate of return used by each country that is included in the weighted-average long-term expected rate of return on assets
is a reasonable assumption.

The determination of penston expense for the qualified defined benefit pension plans is based on the fair market value of
assets as of the measurement date. Investment gains and losses are recognized in the measurement of assets immediately.
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Such gains and losses will be amortized and recognized as part of the annual benefit cost to the extent that unrecognized net
gains and losses from all sources exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market value of assets.

General Cable evaluates its actuarial assumptions at least annually, and adjusts them as necessary. The Company uses a
measurement date of December 31 for alt of its defined benefit pension plans. 1n 2007, pension expense for the Company’s
defined benefit pension plans was $5.3 million. Based on a weighted-average expected rate of return on plan assets of
7.80%, a weighted-average discount rate of 5.60% and various other assumptions, the Company estimates its 2008 pension
expense for its defined benefit pension plans will increase approximately $0.8 million from 2007, excluding curtailment and
settlement activity in 2007. A 1% decrease in the assumed discount rate would increase pension expense by approximately
$1.9 million. Future pension expense will depend on future investment performance, changes in future discount rates and
various other factors related to the populations participating in the plans. In the event that actual results differ from the
actuarial assumptions, the funded status of the defined benefit pension plans may change and any such change could result in
a charge or credit to equity and an increase or decrease in future pension expense and cash contributions.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes on all transactions that have been recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. Under SFAS 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
the differences between the financial statement basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that it believes is more likely than
not to be realized. The valuation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on. among other things, the ability of the Company to
generate a sufficient level of future taxable income. In estimating future taxable income, the Company has considered both
positive and negative evidence, such as historical and forecasted results of operations, including prior losses, and has
considered the implementation of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. At December 31, 2007, the Company had
recorded a net deferred tax asset of $59.6 million ($135.5 million current deferred tax asset less $75.9 million long term
deferred tax liability). The Company has and will continue to review on a quarterly basis its assumptions and tax planning
strategies, and, if the amount of the estimated realizable net deferred tax asset is less than the amount currently on the balance
sheet, the Company would reduce its deferred tax asset, recognizing a non-cash charge against reported eamings. Likewise,
if the Company determines that a valuation allowance against a deferred tax asset is no longer appropriate, the adjustment to
the valuation allowance would reduce income tax expense. In 2007 and 2006, the Company determined that improved
business performance, expectations of future profitability, and other relevant factors constituted sufficient positive evidence
to recognize certain foreign and state deferred tax asscts. Accordingly, the Company relcased certain valuation allowances
and recognized income tax benefits of approximately $12.2 million in 2007 and $6.3 million in 2006.

In July 2006, FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” was issued. This Interpretation
clarifies accounting for uncertain tax positions in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
that a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements and provides guidance on
derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition
issues. This Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning afier December 15, 2006, The adoption of Interpretation 48
decreased shareholders’ equity as of January 1, 2007 by approximately $18.8 million. Sce Note 12 for additional
information.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense line in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax
liability line item in the consolidated balance sheet.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141R, Business Combinations. Statement No. 141R establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures in its financial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. The statement also
provides guidance for recognizing and measuring goodwill acquired in the business combination and determines what
information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements 1o evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. Statement No. 141R is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 31,
2008. Accordingly, any business combination the Company engages in will be recorded and disclosed following existing
GAAP until January 1, 2009. The Company cxpects Statement No. 141R will have an impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements when effective, but the nature and magnitude of the specific effects will depend upon the
nature, terms and size of the acquisitions consummated afier the effective date. $2.6 million of the $57.8 mullion liability for
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2007 relate to tax positions of acquired entities taken prior to their acquisition
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by the Company for which the reversal of any such liability prior to the adoption of SFAS [41R will affect goodwill. If such
liabilities reverse subsequent to the adoption of Statement 141R, such reversals will affect the income tax provision in the
period of the reversal.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of the Company’s revenue is recognized when goods are shipped to the customer, title and risk of loss are
transferred, pricing is fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Most revenue transactions represent
sales ol inventory, A provision for payment discounts, product returns, warranty and customer rebates is estimated based
upon historical experience and other relevant factors and is recorded within the same penod that the revenue is recognized.
The Company has a portion of long-term product instatlation contract revenue that 1s recognized based on the percentage-of-
completion method generally based on the cost-to-cost method if there are reasonably reliable estimates of total revenue, total
cost. and the extent of progress toward completion; and there is an enforceable agreement between parties who can fulfill
their contractual obligations. The Company reviews contract price and cost estimates periodically as the work progresses and
reflects adjustments proportionate to the percentage-of-completion 10 income in the period when those estimates are revised.
For these contracts, if a current estimaie of total contract cost indicates a loss on a contract, the projected loss is recognized in
full when determined. The Company also has a few projects with multiple deliverables. Based on the guidance in EITF 00-
21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” the muluple deliverables in these revenue arrangements are divided
into separate units of accounting because (i) the delivered item(s) have value to the customer on a stand-alone basis; (i1) there
is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered item(s); and (i11} to the extent that a right of return exists
relative to the delivered item, delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in
the control of the Company. Revenue arrangements ol this type are generally contracts where the Company is hired to both
produce and install a certain product. In thesc arrangements, the majority of the customer acceptance provistons do not
require complete product delivery and installation for the amount related to the production of the item(s) to be recognized as
revenue, but the requirement of successful installation does exist for the amount related 10 the installation to be recognized as
revenue. Thercfore, based on these facts and other considerations such as the short-term nature of the contracts and the
existence of a separate service component for installation, revenue is recognized for the product upon delivery to the
customer but revenue on installation is not recognized until the installation is complete.

Business Combination Accounting

Acquisitions entered into by the Company are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase method
requires management to make significant estimates. Management must determine the cost of the acquired entity based on the
fair value of the consideration paid or the fair value of the net assets acquired, whichever is more clearly evident. The cost is
then allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. In
addition, management must identify and estimate the fair values of intangible assets that should be recognized as assets apart
from goodwill as well as the fair value of tangible property, plant and equipment and intangible assets acquired.

Long-Lived Assets

The valuation and classification of long-lived assets and the assignment of usetul depreciable lives and salvage values
involve significant judgments and the use of estimates. The testing of these long-lived assets for impairment also requires a
significant amount of judgment and assumptions. particularly as it relates to identification of asset groups and the
determination of fair market value. The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-
lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully
recoverable. The Company evaluates events or changes in circumstances based mostly on actual historical operating results,
but business plans, forecasts, general and industry trends and anticipated cash flows are also considered. [mpairment is
assessed when the undiscounted expected future cash flows derived from an asset are less than ils carrying amount.
Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value of an asset cxceeds its fair value and are
recognized in earnings. The Company also continually evaluates the estimated useful lives of all long-lived assets and, when
warranted, revises such estimates based on current events.

Share-Based Compensation

There are certain employees with various forms of share-based payment awards for which the Company recognizes
compensation costs for these awards based on their fair values. The fair values of certain awards are estimated on the grant
date using the Black-Scholes optiton pricing formula. which incorporates certain assumptions regarding the expected term of
an award and expected stock price volatility., The Company will develop the expected term assumption based on the vesting
period and contractual term of an award. historical exercise and post-vesting cancellation experience. stock price history. plan
provisions that require exercise or cancellation of awards after employees terminate, and the extent to which currently
available information indicates that the future is reasonably expected to differ from past experience. The Company develops
the expected volatility assumptions based on the monthly historical price data from the Company’s common stock and other
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economic data trended into future years. Afier calculating the aggregate fair value of an award, the Company uses an
estimated forfeiture rate to discount the amount of share-based compensation costs to be recognized in the operating results
over the service period of the award. The Company develops the forfeiture assumption based on its historical pre-vesting
cancellation experience. Key assumptions are described in further detail in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

New Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations, and Statement No. 160,
Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. Statement No. 141 (revised 2007) requires an acquirer to
measure the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at their fair
values on the acquisition date, with goodwill being the excess value over the net identifiable assets acquired. This standard
also requires the fair value measurement of certain other assets and liabilities related to the acquisition such as contingencies
and research and development. Statement No. 160 clarifies that a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary should be reported
at fair value as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Consolidated net income should include the net income for
both the parent and the non-controlling interest with disclosure of both amounts on the consolidated statement of income. The
calculation of earnings per share will continue to be based on income amounts attributable to the parent. The Statements are
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company has currently not determined the potential effects
on the consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Including an
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, was issued. This statement provides companies an irrevocable option to carry the
majority of financial assets and liabilities at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. The election of the
fair value option is applied on an instrument-by-instrument basis to entire financial assets and liabilities that are individually
transferable in their current form. The statement will require extensive disclosures, including reporting assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value separately on the face of the balance sheet. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 159 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In May 2007, FASB Siaff Position (“FSP™) FIN 48-1, Definition of Settlement in FASB Interpretation No. 48, was issued.
FSP FIN 48-1 provides guidance on how to determine whether a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose ol
recognizing previously unrccognized tax benefits. FSP FIN 48-1 is effective retroactively to January 1. 2007. The
implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows,

In September 2006, SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, was issued. This statement provides a new definition of fair
value that serves to replace and unify old fair value definitions so that consistency on the definition 1s achieved. and the
definition provided acts as a modification of the current accounting presumption that a transaction price of an asset or
liability equals its initial fair value. The statement also provides a fair value hierarchy used to classify source information
used in fair value measurements that places higher importance on market based sources. New disclosures of assets and
liabilities measured at fair value based on their level in the fair value hierarchy are required by this statement. SFAS No. 157
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Two FASB Staft Positions on
SFAS No. 157 were subsequently issued. On February 12, 2007, FSP No. 157-2 delayed the effective date of this SFAS No.
157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial
statements on a nonrecurring basis. This FSP is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. On February
14, 2007, FSP No. 157-1 excluded FASB No. 13 Accounting for Leases and other accounting pronouncements that address
fair value measurements for purposes of lease classification or measurement under FASB No. 13. However, this scope
exception does not apply to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination that are required to be measured
at fair value under FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combinations or FASB No. 141R, Business Combinations. This FSP
is effective upon initial adoption of SFAS no. 157. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No.
157 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, statement of operations data in millions of dollars and as a
percentage of net sales. Percentages may not add due to rounding.
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Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Amount %  Amount %  Amount %
Net sales $ 46148 100.0% & 36651 1000% S 23808  100.0%
Cost of sales 3,952.1 85.6% 3.194.1 87.1% 2.110.1 88.6%
Gross profit 662.7 14.4% 471.0 12.9% 270.7 11.4%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 296.6 6.4% 235.1 6.4% 172.2 7.2%
Operating income 366.1 7.9% 2359 6.4% 98.5 4.1%
Other expense (3.4 {0.1)% (0.1 -% {0.5) -%
Interest expense. net (29.6) {0.6)% (35.6)  (1.0}% 370y  (1.6)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt (25.3) {0.5)% - -% - -%
Income before income taxes 307.8 6.7% 200.2 5.5% 61.0 2.6%
Income tax provision {99.4) (2.1)% (64.9) (1.8)% {21.8) (0.9)%
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries 0.2) -% - -% - -%
Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies 0.4 -% - -% - -%
Net income 208.6 4.5% 135.3 3.7% 39.2 1.6%
Less: preferred stock dividends {0.3) -% (0.3) -% (2200 (0.9%
Net income applicable to common
shareholders $ 2083 45% $ 135.0 3.7% % 7.2 0.7%

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2006

The net income applicable to common shareholders was $208.3 million in 2007 compared 1o net income applicable to
common shareholders of $135.0 million in 2006. The net income applicable to common sharehelders for 2007 included a
$0.3 million dividend on the Series A preferred stock, a pre-tax $4.5 million lower of cost or market charge related to PDIC
raw material inventory, a pre-tax $5.3 million benefit from the favorable resolution of customer project performance
obligations, $2.0 million in additional compensation expense from adopting SFAS 123(R}, a $6.6 million pre-tax charge
related to the write-off of certain telecommunication production equipment, a pre-tax $25.3 million loss on extinguishment of
debt related to the tender offer on our $285 million 9.5% Senior Notes and a benefit of $5.7 million due to a state deferred tax
valuation allowance release. Additionally, the 2007 net income available to common shareholders includes the benefit of two
months of operations for the PDIC business acquired on October 31, 2007.

The net income applicable to common shareholders for 2006 included a $0.3 million dividend on the Series A preferred
stock, $1.1 million in additional compensation expense from adopting SFAS 123(R}, a pre-tax charge of $1.0 million to settle
a patent dispute with a competitor and a benefit of $6.3 million due to deferred tax valuation allowance releases.

Net Sales

The following tables set forth net sales, metal-adjusted net sales and metal pounds sold by segment, in millions. For the
metal-adjusted net sales results, net sales for 2006 have been adjusted to reflect the 2007 copper COMEX average price of
$3.22 per pound (a 3$0.13 increase compared to the prior period} and the aluminum rod average price of $1.23 per pound (a
$0.01 increase compared to the prior period). Metal-adjusted net sales, a non-GAAP financial measure, are provided herein
in order to eliminate the effect of metal price volatility from the comparison of revenues from one period to another. The
comparable GAAP financial measure is set forth above. See previous discussion of metal price volatility in the “Overview”
section.

Net Sales
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006

Amount % Amount %

North America 52,2437 49% $2.058.6 56%
Europe and North Africa 1.939.7 42% 1.446.8 40%
ROW 431.4 9% 159.7 4%
Total net sales $4,614.8 100% $3,665.1 100%
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Metal-Adjusted Net Sales

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006
Amount % Amount %
North America $2,243.7 49% $2.100.4 56%
Europe and North Africa 1,939.7 42% 1,475.5 40%
ROW 4314 9% 164.5 4%
Total metal-adjusted net sales 4,614.8 100% 3,7404 100%
Metal adjustment - {75.3)
Total net sales S4,614.8 $3,665.1
Metal Pounds Sold
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006
Pounds % Pounds %
North America 404.8 49% 428.2 56%
Europe and North Africa 336.8 40% 3079 40%
ROW 96.3 11% 28.2 4%
Total metal pounds sold 837.9 100% 764.3 100%

Net sales increased $949.7 million, or 26%, in 2007 from 2006. After adjusting 2006 net sales to reflect the $0.13 increase in
the average monthly COMEX price per pound of copper and the $0.01 increase in the average aluminum rod price per pound
in 2007, net sales increased $874.4 million, or 23%, in 2007 from 2006. The metals-adjusted net sales increase of $874.4
million included $436.2 million of sales attributable to acquisitions, primarily related to the PDIC business which was
acquired on October 31, 2007 and previously mentioned acquisitions in Europe. In addition to the impact of acquisitions, the
increase in metat-adjusted net sales reflects the favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes of approximately
$172 million and increases in selling prices/product mix improvements of approximately $434 million. These increases are
partially offset by a decrease in sales volume of approximately $165 million. Volume. as measured by metal pounds sold,
increased by 73.6 million pounds, or 10%, in 2007 compared to 2006 due to acquired businesses. Excluding the impact of
acquisitions, metal pounds sold decreased by 33.9 million pounds. Metal pounds sold is provided herein as the Company
believes this metric to be a consistent year over year measure of sales volume since it is not impacted by metal prices or
foreign currency exchange rate changes. Generally, the Company has attempted to recover higher metal costs and inflation
on non-metals raw materials used in cable manufacturing, such as insulating compounds and steel and wood reels, as well as
increased freight and energy costs through increased selling prices.

Metal-adjusted net sales in the North America segment increased $143.3 million, or 7%, in 2007 compared to 2006. The
increase reflects price and product mix improvement of approximately $239 million and favorable foreign currency exchange
rate changes of approximately $19 million, principally related to the Canadian dollar. In gencral, the Company increased
selling prices to recover continued higher metal costs, inflation on non-metals raw materials and increased freight and energy
costs. However, contractual customer pricing did not allow for increases related to certain communications products.
Through forward price agreements, the Company was economically hedged against this exposure and the lower selling prices
did not materially impact the Company’s financial results for 2007, These increases were partially offset by a decrease in
sales volume of approximately $115 million. The decrease in sales volume was primarily the result of an overall decrease in
demand for outside plant telecommunications cable from the Regional Bell Operating Companies (RBOCs) and decrease in
demand from the communications distribution market combined with a decrease in demand for electric utility distribution
cables.

Continued weakness in the housing industry in the United States has had a negative impact on the demand for low-voitage
and smaller gauge size cables used in electric power distribution during the second half of 2007. While the passage of energy
legislation in the United States in 2005 aimed at improving the transmission grid infrastructure is expected to contribute to
the increase in demand for the Company’s products over time, growth rates are expected to be highly variable depending on
related product business cycles and the approval and funding cycle times for large utility projects. Demand trends for
telecommunication products from the RBOCs continue to be dependent on the selected strategy of their broadband rollout.
Those favoring a copper/fiber hybrid model have been showing flat to marginally decreased demand, while those taking a
fiber-to-the-home stratcgy continue to show weakness in demand for copper products. For example, total metal pounds
shipped for copper based telecommunication products have decreased 19.4 million pounds in 2007 or approximately 24%.
Demand trends continue to be affected by high copper prices, which make alternatives to copper-based cable and wire
comparatively more affordable, and by RBOC merger activity and budgetary constraints. These decreases were partially
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offset by increasing demand for products used for energy exploration in the mining, oil, gas. and petrochemical markets, a
trend the Company expects to continue partly as a result of higher oil prices. Additionally, demand for low- and medium-
voitage clectrical infrastructure products driven by a continued turnaround in industrial construction spending contributed o
volume growth, as did the expansion of the Company’s customer base for its ignition wire sets,

Metal-adjusted net sales in the Europe and North Africa segment increased $464.2 million, or 32%, in 2007 compared to
2006. The increase includes $189.1 million of net sales attributable to the results of acquired businesses. In addition to the
impact from acquisitions, the increase reflects selling price increases in excess of higher metal costs and other inputs and
product mix improvement of approximately $182 million and favorable foreign currency exchange rate changes of
approximately $131 million, primarily due to the strength of the Euro relative to the dollar, These increases were partially
offset by a decrease in volume ol approximately $37 million. The volume decline was primarily due to lower demand for
tow-voltage products and building wire in the Spanish domestic construction market, partially offset by strong construction
markels elsewhere in the European Union. The decrease in volume was also partially offset by higher demand for medium-
voltage and high-voltage cables in Europe to upgrade the electricity grid. The Company expects to continue to experience
strong demand for electric utility and industrial infrastructure products as well as its extra high-vollage underground systems
over tume,

Metal-adjusted net sales in the ROW segment increased $266.9 miltion, or 162%, in 2007 compared to 2006. The increase
reflects the inclusion of recent acquisitions, accounting for $247.1 million of the metals-adjusted net sales increase.
Excluding the impact from acquisitions, the increase in metals-adjusted net sales reflects favorable foreign currency exchange
rate changes, principally related to New Zealand and Austraha. of approximately $21 million and price and product mix
improvement of $14 million. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in volume of approximately $16 million.
The decline in volume was attributable to softer than expected demand in electric utility and electrical infrastructure products
as it relates to the New Zealand building industry as well as increased competitor pressure with regard to price and delivery
in Australia.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $191.7 million, or 41%, in 2007 from 2006. Gross profit as a percentage of metal-adjusted net sales
was 14.4% for 2007 and was 12.6% for 2006. Additionally, the acquisition of PDIC accounted for $26.1 million or 4.0% of
gross profit for 2007. The improved profit margin on metal-adjusted net sales was the result of increased selling prices to
recover raw material costs, favorable product mix changes and improved efficiency as a result of continued Lean
manufacturing initiatives.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative expense increased $61.5 million, or 26%, in 2007 from 2006. The increase in SG&A was
primanly related to incremental SG&A costs of acquired businesses and strategic employee additions throughout the
Company in order to support the Company’s growth initiatives and to increase process capability. Specifically, incremental
SG&A costs of $17.9 million related to the acquisition of PDIC. The increase in SG&A costs was also due in part to
increased foreign currency exchange rates in 2007 compared to 2006, Reported SG&A was 6.4% of net sales in 2007,
essentially flat compared 1o the prior vear. at 6.3% of metal-adjusted net sales in 2006.

Operating Income
The following table sets forth operating income by segment, in millions of dollars.

Operating Income
Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Amount % Amount %
North America § 1794 49% $ 1289 55%
Europe and North Africa 162.4 44% 101.9 43%
ROW 24.3 7% 5.1 2%
Total operating income $ 366.1 100% $ 2359 100%

Operating income increased $130.2 million, or 53%, from 2006. The increase in operating income was primarily the result of
increased selling prices to recover raw material costs, favorable product mix changes, ongoing Lean manufacturing cost
containment and efficiency efforts, $12.2 million due {o the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes and higher
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demand for certain of the Company’s products. Additionally, results from acquired businesses accounted for $21.0 million of
the operating income increase.

Operating income for the North America segment increased $50.5 million in 2007 from 2006, This improvement in
operating income was due to selling price increases in excess of higher metals costs, raw material inflation and other cost
inputs, improved product mix, improved product margins on certain utility cable, increased demand for certain products,
primarily products used in mining, oil, gas and petrochemical applications and the reduction of costs as a result of continued
efficiency gains obtained through the implementation of Lean Six Sigma manufacturing cost containment efforts During the
fourth quarter 2007, the Company rationalized outside plant telecommunication products manufacturing capacity due to
continued declines in telecommunications cable demand. The Company closed a portion of its telecommunications capacity
located primarily at its Tetla, Mexico facility and has taken a pre-tax charge to write-off certain production equipment of $6.6
million. This action will free approximately 100,000 square feet of manufacturing space, which the Company plans to utilize
for other products for the Central and South American markets.

Operating income for the Europe and North Africa segment increased $60.5 million in 2007 from 2006. The improvement in
operating income was due to the continued implementation of Lean Six Sigma cost saving initiatives, efficient manufacturing
and high factory utilization rates. Also, results from acquired businesses accounted for $17.3 million of the operating income
increase. Increased selling prices in excess of higher metals costs and other cost inputs, positive product mix changes,
increase sales volume for certain products and the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes also contributed to the
improved operating income. Additionally, the Company benefited from a $5.3 million favorable resolution of customer
project performance obligations during 2007.

Operating income for the ROW segment increased $19.2 million in 2007 from 2006. The increase in operating income was
in part due to the acquired PDIC business which accounted for $8.2 million, favorable foreign currency exchange rate
changes combined with selling price increases in excess of higher metals costs and other cost inputs and other cost
containment initiatives.

Other Expenise

Other expense of $3.4 million in 2007 and $0.1 million in 2006 primarily represents foreign currency transaction losses,
which resulted from changes in exchange rates between the designated functional currency and the currency in which the
transaction is denominated.

Interest Expense

Net interest expense decreased to $29.6 million in 2007 from $35.6 million in 2006. The decrease in interest expense is
primarily due to interest savings from the November 2006 pay down of the Company’s outstanding balance on its floating-
rate Amended Credit Facility with the proceeds from its fixed-rate 0.875% Convertible Notes and lower interest rates
resulting from the March 2007 Senior Notes refinancing (see Loss on Extinguishment of Debt discussion which follows).
Additicnally, the decrease in net interest expense is a result of increased interest income from investments of the Company’s
excess cash. The decrease in net interest expense was partially offset by higher average debt levels in 2007 of $428.3
million as compared to 2006, primarily related to the October 2007 issuance of the Company’s 1.00% Convertible Notes.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

During 2007, the Company recognized a pre-tax loss on the extinguishment of debt of approximately $25.3 million,
consisting of a $20.5 million inducement premium, related fees and expenses and the write-off of approximately $4.8 million
in unamortized fees and expenses due to the tender offer and redemption of approximately $280.2 million of the Company’s
$285.0 million in 9.5% Senior Notes during the first quarter of 2007 and the redemption of the remaining $4.8 million
outstanding 9.5% Senior Notes in November of 2007. See the “Debt and Other Contractual Obligations” discussion below
for additional information.

Tax Provision

The Company’s effective tax rate for 2007 and 2006 was 32.3% and 32.4%, respectively. The effective tax rates for 2007
and 2006 were reduced by the release of approximately $12.2 million and $6.3 million, respectively, of certain foreign and
state deferred tax asset valuation allowances as it became more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would be utilized in
future years as a result of improved profitability in the relevant jurisdiction.
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Preferred Stock Dividends

During 2007 and 2006, the Company accrued and paid $0.3 million in dividends on its Series A preferred stock.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2005

The net income applicable to common shareholders was $135.0 million in 2006 compared to net income applicable to
common shareholders of $17.2 million in 2005, The net income applicable to common shareholders for 2006 included a $0.3
million dividend on the Series A preferred stock, $1.1 million in additional compensation expense from adopting SFAS
123(R). a charge of $1.0 million to settle a patent dispute with a competitor and a benefit of $6.3 million due to deferred tax
valuation allowance releases.

The net income applicable to common shareholders for 2005 included a $22.0 million dividend on the Series A preferred
stock, $16.3 million of which resulted from a preferred share inducemnent offer in the fourth quarter, and pre-tax corporate
charges of 518.6 million related to the rationalization of certain of the Company’s North American manufacturing facilities,
which included a $(0.5) million gain from the sale of a previously closed manufacturing plant.

Net Sales

The following tables set forth net sales, metal-adjusted net sales and metal pounds sold by segment, in millions. For the
metal-adjusted net sales results, net sales for 2005 have been adjusted to reflect the 2006 copper COMEX average price of
£3.09 per pound (a $1.41 increase compared to the prior period) and the aluminum rod average price of $1.22 per pound (a
$0.30 increase compared to the prior period). Metal-adjusted net sales, a non-GAAP financial measure, are provided herein
in order to eliminate the effect of metal price volatility from the comparison of revenues from one peried to another. The
comparable GAAP financial measure is set forth above. See previous discussion of metal price volatility in the “Overview”
section.

Net Sales
Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005

Amount % Amount %

North America $2,058.6 56% $1.5745 66%
Europe and North Africa 1,446.8 40% 682.0 29%
ROW 159.7 4% 124.3 5%
Total net sales $3.665.1 100% $2,380.8 100%

Metal-Adjusted Net Sales
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
Amount % Amount %
North America $2.038.6 26% $1,998.9 65%
Europe and North Africa 1.446.8 40% 901.6 30%
ROW 159.7 4% 165.7 5%
Total metal-adjusted net sales 3.665.1 100% 3,066.2 100%
Metal adjustment - (685.4)
Total net sales $3.,665.1 $2,380.8
Metal Pounds Sold
Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005
Pounds % Pounds %
North America 4282 56% 421.7 64%
Europe and North Africa 3079 40% 2055 31%
ROW 28.2 4% 31.7 5%
Total metal pounds sold 764.3 100% 658.9 100%
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Net sales increased $1.284.3 million, or 54%, in 2006 from 2005. After adjusting 2005 net sales to reflect the $1.41 increase
in the average monthly COMEX price per pound of copper and the $0.30 increase in the average aluminum rod price per
pound in 2006, net sales increased $598.9 million, or 20%, in 2006 from 2005. The metals-adjusted net sales increase of
$598.9 million included $447.0 million of sales attributable to acquisitions, primarily related to the Silec business which was
acquired on December 22, 2005, In addition to the impact of acquisitions, the increase in metal-adjusted net sales reflects an
increase in sales volume, approximately $68 million, the favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes,
approximately $9 million and increases in selling prices/product mix improvements of approximately $75 million. Volume,
as measured by metal pounds sold, increased by 105.4 million pounds, or 16%, in 2006 compared to 2005, with 91.0 million
pounds of the increase attributable to acquired businesses. Metal pounds sold are provided hercin as the Company belicves
this metric to be a year over year measure of sales volume since it is not impacted by metal prices or foreign currency
exchange rate changes. Generally, the Company has attempted to recover higher metal costs and inflation on non-metals raw
materials used in cable manufacturing, such as insulating compounds and steel and wood reels, as well as increased freight
and energy costs through increased selling prices.

Metal-adjusted net sales in the North America segment increased $59.7 million, or 3%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The
increase reflects volume growth of approximately $38 million, price and product mix improvement of approximately 38
million and favorable foreign currency exchange rate changes of approximately $14 million, principally related to the
Canadian dollar. The volume growth reflects an increase in demand for bare aluminum energy transmission cable and a
strong turnaround in industrial construction spending. Additionally. demand for products used in mining, oil, gas, and
petrochemical markets remained strong, the Company expects this trend to continue partly as a result of higher oil prices.
The passage of energy legislation in the United States in 2005 aimed at improving the transmission grid infrastructure has
also contributed to the increase in demand for the Company’s products, These increases in volume were partially offset by an
overall decrease in demand for outside plant telecommunications cable from the Regional Bell Operating Companies
(RBOCs) as well as a decrcase in demand from the communications distribution market. Demand trends from the RBOCs
continue to be dependent on the selected strategy of their broadband rollout. Those favoring a copper/fiber hybrid model
have been showing flat to marginally down demand, while those taking a fiber-to-the-home strategy continue to show
weakness in demand for copper products. Demand trends are currently being affected by high copper prices, which make
alternatives to copper-based cable and wire comparatively more affordable, and by RBOC merger activity and budgctary
constraints. A decrease in volume was also experienced in lower voltage industrial products mostly driven by the mild
hurricane season in the U.S. in 2006 as compared to the record hurricane season in 2005. 1n general, the Company increased
selling prices to recover higher metal costs, inflation on non-metals raw materials, increased freight and energy costs.
However, contractual customer pricing did not allow for increases related to certain communications products. Through
forward price agreements, the Company was economically hedged against this exposure and the lower selling prices did not
materially impact the Company’s financial results for 2006.

Metal-adjusted net sales in the Europe and North Africa segment increased $545.2 million, or 60%, in 2006 compared to
2005. The increase is primarily the result of acquired businesses, $439.0 million. In addition to the impact from acquisitions,
the increase reflects volume growth in historical businesses of approximately $50 million, price and product mix
improvement of approximately $51 million and favorable foreign currency exchange rate changes of approximately $5
million. The increase in volume, excluding the impact of acquisitions, reflects higher demand for low-voltage and high-
voltage aluminum cables, both in the Spanish domestic and export markets and increased wind farm projects. The Company
expects to continue to experience strong demand for electric utility and infrastructure products as well as price fluctuations on
its raw matetials, which may require additional selling price adjustments for the Company’s products. The segment also
benefited from selling price increases in excess of higher metals costs and other cost inputs. These increases were partially
offset by lower demand for low-voltage building wire in Europe during the last few months of 2006.

Metal-adjusted net sales in the ROW segment decreased $6.0 million, or 4%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The decrease is the
result of a decline in volume of approximately $18 million and unfavorable foreign currency exchange rate changes of
approximately $10 million. These decreases were partially offset by price and product mix improvement of $22 million. The
decrease in volume was attributable to weaker distributor purchases of communications products toward the end of 2006 and
decreased demand for electrical infrastructure products due to softness in the New Zealand building indusiry toward the end
of 2006.

Cross Profit
Gross profit increased $200.3 million, or 74%, in 2006 from 2005. Gross profit as a percentage of metal-adjusted net sales

was 12.9% for 2006 and was 8.8% for 2005. The improved profit margin on metal-adjusted net sales is the result of
increased selling prices to recover raw material costs, increased sales volume, higher factory utilization and improved
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cfficiency as a result of Lean manufacturing initiatives and prior vear plant rationalizations. Gross profit in 2005 was also
reduced due 10 a net $18.6 million charge for the rationalization of certain manufacturing facilities.

Selling, General and Adminisirative Expense

Seiling, general and administrative expense increased $62.9 million, or 36%. in 2006 from in 2005. The increase in SG&A
was primarily related to approximately $24.8 million of incremental SG&A costs within the acquired Silec business, variable
sclling expenses related to higher revenues, incremental incentive related compensation expense due to the improved year-
over-year financial performance of the Company and increased stock compensation costs, partly as a result of the adoption of
SFAS 123(R). Reported SG&A was 6.4% of net sales in 2006, up from 5.6% of metal-adjusted net sales in 2003,

Operating Income

The following table sets forth operating income by segment. in millions of dollars.

Operating Income
Year Ended December 31,

20006 2005
Amount % Amount %
North America $ 1289 55% § 362 37%
Europe and North Africa 101.9 43% 54.9 56%
ROW 5.1 2% 7.4 7%
Total operating income $ 2359 100% § 985 100%

Operating income increased $137.4 million, or 139%, from 2005. The increase was primarily the result of higher sales
volume. higher factory utilization and related efficiencies, ongoing Lean Six Sigma manufacturing cost containment efforts,
greater efficiencies as a result of prior year plant rationalizations, higher selling prices in order to recover inflation on raw
materials and other cost inputs, incremental income from the acquisition of Silec and a $0.4 million increase due to the
impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes. These increases were partially offset by a $1.0 miltion charge from the
settlement of a patent dispute, incremental selling. general and administrative expenses of approximately $24.8 million from
the acquisition of Silec, and $2.8 million in incremental incentive related expense as a result of year over year earnings
improvement. Further, operating income for 2005 was reduced by approximately $18.6 million relating to the rationalization
of certain manufacturing facilities in North America. which produced Communications products.

Operating income for the North America segment increased 392.7 million in 2006 from 2005, This improvement in
operating income is duc to the reduction of manufacturing costs as a result of ¢fficiency gains obtained through plant closures
and rationalizations during 2005 and prior periods as well as the continuing implementation of Lean Six Sigma cost
containment efforts. Additionally, increased sales volume and selling price increases in excess of higher metals costs, raw
material inflation and other cost inputs contributed to the improved operating income.

The Europe and North Africa segment’s operating imcome increased $47.0 millton in 2006 from 2005. The improvement in
operating income is due to the continued implementation of Lean Six Sigma cost saving initiatives, efficient manufacturing
and high factory utilization rates.  Increased sales volume, selling price increases in excess of higher metals costs, raw
material inflation and other cost inputs and the impact of acquisitions also contributed to the improved operating income.

Operating income for the ROW segment decreased $2.3 million in 2006 from 2005, This decrease is the result of sales
volume declines and unfavorable foreign currency exchange rate changes parually offset by selling price increases in excess
of higher metals costs, raw material inflation and other cost inputs and other cost containment initiatives.

Other Expense

Other expense ot $0.1 million in 2006 and $0.5 million in 2003 includes foreign currency transaction losses, which resulted
from changes in exchange rates between the designated functional currency and the currency in which the transaction is
denominated.

Imterest Expense
Net interest expense decreased 1o $35.6 million in 2006 from $37.0 million in 2003, The decrease in net interest expense 1s

the result of the repayment of LIBOR-based floating rate borrowings of the outstanding balance of the Amended Credit
Facility, the issuance of $355.0 million of 0.875% Convertible Notes including the $1.3 million in incremental interest
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income from the invested proceeds of the 0.875% Convertible Notes and the full year impact of cash savings from the cross
currency and interest rate swap. This decrease was partially offset by the incremental interest expense related to the addition
of the Spanish Term Loan to fund the Silec acquisition and the short-term debt in Europe that has increased in order to fund
operations.

Tax Provision

The Company’s effective tax rate for 2006 was 32.4% compared to the full year 2005 effective tax rate of 35.7%. The
decrease in the 2006 effective tax rate was primarily due to the recognition of an approximate $6.3 million fax benefit due to
deferred tax valuation allowance releases as it was determined to be more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would be
utilized in futurc years as a result of improved performance in the Company’s U.S. and Brazil operations.

Preferred Stock Dividends

During 2007 and 2006, the Company accrued and paid $0.3 million, respectively, in dividends on its Serics A preferred
stock. During 2005, the Company accrued and paid $5.7 million of regular dividends and also paid $16.3 million related to
the inducement offer on its Series A preferred stock. The significant decrease in dividends paid in 2006 versus 2005 is due to
the inducement offer that the Company initiated in the fourth quarter of 2005, which reduced the number of preferred shares
outstanding.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In general, General Cable requires cash for working capital, capital expenditures, investment in internal product development,
debt repayment, salaries and related benefits, interest, Series A preferred stock dividends and taxes. General Cable’s working
capital requirement increases when it experiences strong incremental demand for products and/or significant copper,
aluminum and other raw material price increases. Based upon historical experience, the cash on its balance sheet and the
expected availability of funds under its current credit facilities, the Company believes its sources of liquidity will be
sufficient to enable it to meet the Company’s cash requirements for working capital, capital expenditures, debt repayment,
salaries and related benefits, interest, Series A preferred stock dividends and taxes for the next twelve months and foreseeable
future.

General Cable Corporation is a holding company with no operations of its own. All of the Company’s operations are
conducted, and net sales are generated, by its subsidiaries and investments. Accordingty, the Company’s cash flow comes
from the cash flows of its global operations. The Company’s ability to use cash flow from its international operations, if
necessary, has historically been adversely affected by limitations on the Company’s ability to repatriate such earnings tax
efficiently.

Summary of Cash Flows

Cash flow provided by operating activities in 2007 was $231.7 million principally as a result of strong underlying operating
results. This reflects net income before depreciation and amortization, foreign currency exchange loss, loss on
extinguishment of debt and loss on the disposal of property of $309.6 million. This positive cash flow was partially offset by
a decrease of $11.1 million in excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation, a $6.5 million increase in accounts
receivable, a $11.6 million increase in deferred income taxes, a $13.5 million increase in inventories, a S1.4 million increase
in other assets and a $33.8 million decrease in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities. The increase in accounts
receivable mainly reflects increased selling prices partly in response to increased raw material costs. The increase in
accounts receivables is lower relative to the prior years partly due to demand trends, which are discussed below related to
inventory. The Company’s days sales outstanding (DSO) has increased above historical levels as a result of recent
international acquisitions in Europe and Latin America. A larger percentage of our sales now take place outside of North
America where the accounts receivable terms are generally longer than those in North America. The Company believes that
the accounts receivable balances are collectible and the Company has established appropriate procedures to facilitate
collection. The increase in inventory reflects lower than expected shipments of telecommunications cables and certain
electric utility customer shipments in North America and weaker demand in the European housing markets all of which
caused inventory to increase partially offset by stronger construction markets in Eastern Europe and the developing countries
of Latin America. The increase in other assets was a result of debt issuance costs. The decrease in accounts payable, accrued
and other liabilities was a result of declining manufacturing activity in the later half of the year due to the lower demand for
certain products mentioned previously as well as copper price volatility experienced in the fourth quarter of 2007.  The
Company has adjusted its manufacturing output in 2008 with regard to its telecommunications production capacity as well as
addressing electric utility and construction product inventory quantities.
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Cash flow used by investing activities was $759.8 million in 2007, principaliy reflecting $153.6 million of capital
expenditures and $634.8 million principally rettecting the PDIC and NSW acquisitions partially offset by cash acquired. The
Company anticipates capital spending to be approximately $200 million in 2008, primarily supporting new producis and
capabilities in our electric utility and electrical infrastructure cable businesses.

Cash flow provided by financing activities in 2007 was $528.1 million, This reflects cash inflows from the issuance of the
Company’s $475.0 million 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, $325.00 million 7.125% Senior Notes and Senior Floating Rate
Notes and additional borrowing under the Company’s Amended Credit Facility of $360.0 million, net of repayments. See the
“Debt and Other Contractual Obligations™ section below for details.  Additional cash inflows included the receipt of $5.0
million from the exercise of stock options, $7.3 million of net additional borrowings in Europe to fund working capital and
S$11.1 million of excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation. These cash inflows were partially offset by the
settlement of fong-term debt in the amount of $305.5 million. which reflects principally the settlement of the Company’s
$285.0 million 9.5% Senior Notes (see Debt and Other Contractual Obligations below), approximately $30.5 million to settle
the net investment hedge, $19.0 million in deferred financing tees and $0.3 miliion used 1o pay dividends on the Serics A
preferred stock.

Debt and Other Coniractual Obligations

The Company’s outstanding debt obligations excluding capital leases of $1,395.4 million as of December 31, 2007 consisted
of $475.0 million of 1.00% Convertible Notes due in 2012, $355.0 million of 0.875% Convertible Notes due in 2013, $200.0
million of 7.125% Senior Notes due in 2017, $125.0 million of Senior Floating Rate Notes due in 2015, $31.3 million of
Spanish Term Loans. $60.0 million of Asset Based Loans, $37.7 million PDIC credit facilities and $111.4 million of various
short and medium term loans. A separate description of our various borrowings is provided below and additional discussion
is included at Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company’s 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes were issued in September 2007 in the amount of $475.0 million. The Notes
were sold to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act™). The Notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes have not been registered under the
Securities Act or any state securities laws. In conjunction with this issuance, the Company agreed to enter inte a registration
rights agreement whereby the Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to hecome effective within
240 days after the closing of this offering a shelf registration statement with respect to the resale of the notes and the shares
of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes, The Company may be required to pay additional interest,
subject to some limitations, to the holders of the notes it the Company fails to comply with its obligations to register the notes
and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes within the specified time periods. The 1.00% Senior Convertible
Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 1.00%, payable semi-annually in arrears. on April 15 and October 15, and mature in
2012, The 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes are unconditionally guaranteed. jointly and severally, on a senior unsccured
basis, by the Company’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries. The estimated fair value of the 1.00% Secnior Convertible Notes
was approximately $333.6 million at December 31, 2007,

The Company™s 0.875% Convertible Notes were issued in November of 2006 in the amount of $355.0 million, pursuant to
the Company’s effective Registration Statement on Form S-3. The 0.875% Convertible Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of
0.875%. payable semi-annually in arrears, on May 15 and November 15, and mature in 2013. As a result of exceeding
certain average stock price thresholds as defined tn Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. the Company has
reclassified $355.0 million as a current liability as of December 31, 2007, The 0.875% Convertible Notes are unconditionally
guaranteed. joimly and severaity, on a senior unsecured basis, by the Company’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries. The
estimated fair value of the 0.875% Convertible Notes was approximately $572.2 million at December 31, 2007,

The Company completed the issuance and sale of $325.0 million in aggregate principal amount ol new senior unsecured
notes. comprised of $200.0 million of 7.125% Semior Fixed Rate Notes due 2017 {the 7.125% Senior Notes™) and 5125.0
million of Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2015 (the “Senior Floating Rate Notes™ and together with the 7,125 Senior
Notes™. the “Notes™) on July 26, 2007 1o replace the unregistered Notes with registered Notes with like terms pursuant to an
effective Registration Statement on Form S-4, The Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed by the Company’s U.S.
subsidiaries. The estimated fair value of the 7.125% Senior Notes and Senior Floating Rate Notes was approximately $197
million and 5120 million. respectively. at December 31, 2007,

The Senior Floating Rate Notes bear interest at an annual rate equal 1o the 3-month LIBOR rate plus 2.375%. which was
7.6% at December 31, 2007, Interest on the Senior Floating Rate Notes is pavable quarterly in arrears in cash on January 1,
April 1, July | and October | of each vear, commencing on July [, 2007. The 7.125% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of
7.125% per year and are payable semi-annually in arrears in cash on April 1 and October | of cach year, commencing on
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Qctober 1. 2007. The Senior Floating Rate Notes mature on April 1, 2015 and the 7.125% Senior Notes mature on April [,
2017,

The Spanish Term Loan of 50 million euros was issued in December 2005 and was available in up to three tranches, with an
interest rate of Euribor plus 0.8% to 1.5% depending on certain debt ratios. Two of the tranches have expired. The
remaining tranche of the Spanish Term Loan is repayable in fourteen semi-annual installments, maturing seven years
following the draw down in 2012, As of December 31, 2007, the U.S. dollar equivalent of $31.3 million was drawn under
this term loan facility and $3.1 million of excess availability remains under the Spanish Term Loan.

The Spanish Credit Facility of 25 million euros was issued in December 2005, matures at the end of five years and carries an
interest rate of Euribor plus 0.6% to 1.0% depending on certain debt ratios. No funds are currently drawn under the Spanish
Credit Facility, leaving undrawn availability of approximately the U.S. dollar equivalent of $36.5 million as of December 31,
2007. Commitment fees ranging from 15 to 25 basis points per annum on any unused commitments under the Spanish Credit
Facility will be assessed to Grupo General Cable Sistemas, S.A., and are payable on a quarterly basis.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company further amended its senior secured revolving credit facility (“Amended
Credit Facility™). which increased the borrowing limit on the Senior Revolving Credit Facility from $300 million to 5400
million. Additionally. the amendment extended the maturity date by almost two years to July 2012, and increased the
existing interest rales across a pricing grid. which is dependent upon excess availability, as defined. Additionally, the
amendment eliminated or relaxed several provisions, expanded permitied indebtedness to include acquired indebtedness of
newly acquired foreign subsidiaries. and increased the level of permitted loan-funded acquisitions. The amendment
permitted the Company to draw funds from its Amended Credit Facility to partially fund the acquisition of Phelps Dodge
International (“PDIC"™) in conjunction with funds raised through the above mentioned September 2007 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes offering and available cash on the Company’s balance sheet. At December 31, 2007, the Company had
outstanding borrowings of $60.0 million and undrawn availability of $266.1 million under the Amended Credit Facility. The
Company was in compliance with all covenants under the Amended Credit Facility as of December 31, 2007. The Company
had outstanding letters of credit related to this Amended Credit Facility of $40.4 million at December 31, 2007.

On October 31, 2007 the Company acquired Phelps Dodge International (PDIC) and assumed the U.S. dollar equivalent of
$64.3 million of mostly short-term PDIC debt as a part of the acquisition. As of December 31, 2007, PDIC related debt was
$37.7 million of which approximately $36.2 million was short-term financing agreements at various interest rates. The
weighted average interest rate was 6.4% as of December 31, 2007. The Company has approximately $302.2 million of
excess availability under the various credit facilities.

On August 21, 2006, the Company acquired ECN Cable and assumed the U.S. dollar equivalent of $38.6 million (at
prevailing exchange rates during that period) of mostly short-term ECN Cable debt as a part of the acquisition. On December
15, 2006, approximately $6.9 million (at the prevailing exchange rate on that date) of debt was paid and cancelled. As of
December 31, 2007, ECN Cable’s debt was the U.S. dollar cquivalent of $27.7 miltion. The debt consisted of approximately
$2.5 million relating to an uncommitted accounts receivable facility and approximately $25.2 million of short-term financing
agreements at various interest rates. In addition, ECN Cable has an 1 million euros ($16.1 million US dollar equivalent)
debt facility that charges interest at Euribor plus 0.5%. No funds are currently drawn under this facility.

The Company’s European scgment has approximately $138.8 million of uncommitted facilities that are secured by the
respective company’s accounts receivable. At December 31, 2007, $46.7 million (including $2.5 million at ECN, mentioned
above) of these debt facilities were drawn.

On December 27, 2005, General Cable entered into a capital lease for certain pieces of equipment being used at the
Company’s Indianapotis polymer plant. The capital lease agreement provides that the lcase payments for the machinery and
equipment will be approximately $0.6 million semi-annually, or approximately $1.2 million on an annual basis. The lease
expires in December of 2010, and General Cable has the option to purchase the machinery and equipment for fair value at the
end of the lease term. The present value of the minimum lease payments on the capital lease at inception was approximately
$5.0 million that has been reflected in fixed assets and in short-term and long-term lease obligations, as appropriate, in the
Company’s balance sheet, The Company has not entered into a material capital lease in 2006 or 2007.

The Company’s Spanish operating company, Grupo General Cable Sistemas ("Grupo General™), participates in accounts
payable confirning arrangements with several European financial institutions. Grupo General negotiates payment terms with
suppliers of generally 180 days and submits invoices to the financial institutions with instructions for the financial institutions
to transfer funds trom Grupo General’s accounts on the due date (on day 180) 1o the receiving parties to pay the invoices in
full. The banks may, at their discretion, negotiate directly with the suppliers for carlier payment terms at a discount, and the
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discount is kept by the banks. The suppliers may also decline to participate in an early payment arrangement. At December
31, 2007, these arrangements had a maximum availability limit of the equivalent of $416.1 million, of which approximately
$202.6 million was drawn. If these arrangements were reduced or terminated, Grupo General would have to pay its suppliers
directly.

The Company’s defined benefit plans at December 31, 2006 were underfunded by $35.7 million. During 2006, as a result of
improved asset performance, the Company was able to reduce the after tax charge to accumulated other comprehensive
income by $6.4 million. In 2006, pension expense increased approximately $1.6 million, excluding the 2005 $0.7 million
curtailment charge, from 2005 and cash contributions decrecased approximately $2.5 million from 2005. In 2007, pension
expense 1s expected to decrease approximately $1.4 million from 2006, principally due to strong plan asset returns. Cash
contributions are expected to decrease up to approximately $3.4 million from 2006. The underfunding of the defined benefit
plans at December 31, 2007 was §72.5 million. During 2007, as a result of lower than expected asset performance, the
Company recorded an after tax loss of $0.3 million to accumulated other comprehensive income, In 2007, pension expense
increased approximately $0.1 million, excluding a $3.2 million curtailment charge and a $4.3 million settlement gain, from
2006 and cash contributions increased approximately $8.1 million from 2006. The Company estimates its 2008 pension
expense for its defined benefit pension plans will increase approximately $1.2 million from 2007, excluding curtailment and
settlement activity in 2007. Cash contributions are expected to decrease to approximately $6.8 million.

In connection with the acquisition of PDIC on October 31, 2007, as a matter of law, the governments of Chile and Venezuela,
which operate within the Company’s ROW segment, require the Company to provide certain benefits to former or inactive
employees after employment but before retirement. Generally, benefits under these statutory severance programs include a
one-time lump-sum payment based on years of service, as defined.  As a result, the Company has recorded a liabitity of
approximatety $1.6 million as of December 31, 2007. There was no liability recorded as of December 31, 2006.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

Summarized information about the Company’s contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31,
2007 is as follows (in millions of dollars):

Payments Due by Period

Less than -3 4-5 After 5

Contractual obligations""; Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Total debt (excluding capital leases) §13954 § 4998 s 741 $ 4875 $ 3340
Capital leases 34 1.1 22 0.1 -
Interest payments on 7.125% Senior Notes 149.6 14.2 28.5 28.5 78.4
interest payments on Senior Floating Rate Notes 83.2 101 20.2 20.2 327
[nterest payments on 0.875% Convertible Notes 20.2 3.1 6.2 6.2 47
[nterest payments on 1.00% Senior Convertible
Notes 23.8 4.8 9.5 9.5 -
Operating leases™ 36.6 10.3 14.1 6.9 5.3
Preferred stock dividend payments 2.1 0.3 0.6 0.6 0.6
Detined benefit pension obligations™ 6.8 6.8 - - -
Postretirement benefits 11.9 1.6 32 2.6 4.5
Commodity futures and forward pricing

agreements'” 387.8 3722 15.6 - -
Foreign currency contracts' 380.5 324.4 518 43 -
FIN 48 obligation, including interest and
penalties®”’ 7 - - - - -
Statutory severance programs'® 2.2 0.6 0.3 0.4 0.9
Total $2,503.5  $1,2493 ¥ 2263 $ 566.8 $ 4611

" This table does not include interest payments on General Cable’s variable rate debt because the future amounts are

based on variable interest rates and the amount of the borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility and Spanish
Credit Facility fluctuate depending upon the Company’s working capital requirements.

Operating lease commitments are described under “Off Balance Sheet Assets and Obligations.”

Defined benefit pension obtigations reflect the Company’s estimates of contributions that will be required in 2008 to
meet current law minimum funding requirements. Amounts beyond one year have not been provided because they
are not determinable,

(2}
&
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)  Information on these items is provided under ltem 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market

Risk.”

FIN 48 obligations of $63.5 million have not been reflected in the above table due to the inherent uncertainty as to
the amount and timing of settlement, which is contingent upon the occurrence of possible future events, such as
examinations and determinations by various tax authorities.

All statutory severance benefits for employees in Venezuela of $0.5 million have been included in 2008 as amounts
due beyond one year are not determinable.

(5)

{6)

The Company anticipates being able to meet its obligations as they come due based on historical experience and the expected
availability of funds under its current credit facilities.

Off Balance Sheet Assets and Obligations

As part of the BICC plc acquisition, BICC agreed to indemnify General Cable against environmental liabilities existing at the
datc of the closing of the purchase of the business. In the sale of the businesses to Pirelli, General Cable generally
indemnified Pirelli against any environmental labilities on the same basis as BICC plc indemnified the Company in the
earlier acquisition. However, the indemnity the Company received from BICC plc related to the European business sold to
Pirelli terminated upon the sale of those businesses to Pirelli. In addition, General Cable has agreed 1o indemnify Pirelli
against any warranty claims relating to the prior operation of the business. General Cable has also agreed to indemnify
Southwire Company against certain liabilitics arising out of the operation of the business sold to Southwire prior to its sale.
As a part of the 2005 acquisition, SAFRAN SA agreed 10 indemnify General Cable against certain environmental liabilities
existing at the date of the closing of the purchase of Sitec.

During 2006 and 2007, one of the Company’s international operations contracted with a bank to transfer accounts receivable
that it was owed from one customer to the bank in exchange for payments of approximately $3.3 million and $3.0 million,
respectively. As the transferor, the Company surrendered control over the financial assets included in the transfer and had no
further rights regarding the transferred assets. The transfers were treated as sales and the approximate $6.3 million received
was accounted for as proceeds from the sales. All assets sold were removed from the Company’s balance sheet upon
completion of the transfers, and no further obligations exist under these agreements.

In 2007, the Company acquired the worldwide wire and cable business of Freeport-McMoRan Copper and Gold Inc., which
operates as PDIC. As part of this acquisition, the seller agreed to indemnify the Company for cerlain environmental
liabilities existing at the date of the closing of the acquisition. The seller’s obligation to indemnify the Company for these
particutar liabilities generally survives four years from the date the parties executed the definitive purchase agreement unless
the Company has properly notified the seller before the expiry of the four ycar period. The seller also made certain
representations and warranties related to environmental matters and the acquired business and agreed to indemnify the
Company for breaches of those representation and warranties for a period of four years from the closing date.
indemnification claims for breach of representations and warranties are subject to an overall indemnity limit of
approximately $105 million, which applies to all warranty and indemnity claims for the transaction.

General Cable has entered into various operating lease agreements related principally to certain administrative,
manufacturing and distribution facilities and transportation equipment. Future minimum rental payments required under non-
cancelable lease agreements at December 31, 2007 were as follows: 2008 — $10.3 million, 2009 — $7.6 million, 2010 — $6.5
million, 2011 — $4.7 million, 2012 - $2.2 million and thereafter $5.3 million. Rental expense recorded in income from
continuing operations was $14.4 million, $11.3 million and $12.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $95.1 million in letters of credit. $112.0 million in various performance bonds
and $237.5 million in other guarantees. These letters of credit, performance bonds and guarantees are periodicaily renewed
and are generally related to risk associated with self insurance claims, defined benefit plan obligations, contract performance,
quality and other various bank and financing guearantees. See Liquidity and Capital Resources for excess availability under
the Company’s various credit borrowings.

In Europe and North Africa as it relates to the 2005 financing of the purchase of shares of Silec Cable. S.A.S (Silec}, the
Company has pledged to financial institutions the shares of Silec Cable, S.A.S and certain assets such as land and buildings.
General Cable Spain and Portugal have also been designated as guarantors of the debt.

See the previous section, “Debt and Other Contractual Obligations,” for information on debt-related guarantees.
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Environmental Matters

The Company’s expenditures for environmental compliance and remediation amounted to approximately $2.8 million, $2.0
million and §1.9 miliion in 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively. In addition. certain of General Cable’s subsidiaries have been
named as potentially responsible parties in proceedings that involve envireonmental remediation. The Company has acerued
$1.8 million at December 31. 2007 for all environmental liabilities. Environmental matters are described in Item 1. which is
incorporated herein by reference. While it is difficult to estimate future environmental labilities. the Company does not
currently anticipate any material adverse effect on results of operations. cash flows or financial position as a resuh of
compliance with federal, state. local or foreign environmental laws or regulations or remediation costs,

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

General Cable is exposed to various market risks. including changes in interest rates. foreign currency exchange rates and
raw material (commodity} prices. To manage risk associated with the volatility of these natural business exposures, General
Cable enters into interest rate, commaodity and foreign currency derivative agreements related to both transactions and its net
investment in its European operations as well as copper and aluminum forward pricing agreements. General Cable does not
purchase or sell derivative instruments for trading purposes. General Cable does not engage in trading activities involving
commodity contracts for which a lack of marketplace quotations would necessitate the use of fair value estimation
techniques.

Interest Rate Risk

General Cable has utilized interest rale swaps to manage its interest expense exposure by fixing its interest rate on a portion
of the Company’s floating rate debt. Under the swap agreements, General Cable typically paid a fixed rate while the
counterparty paid to General Cable the difference between the average fixed rate and the three-month LIBOR rate. During
2001, the Company entered into several intevest rate swaps which effectively fixed interest rates for borrowings under the
former credit facility and other debt. At December 31, 2007. the remaining outstanding interest rate swap had a notional
value of 9.0 million, an interest rate of 4.49% and matures in October 2011. The Company does not provide or receive any
collateral specifically for this contract. The fair value of interest rate derivatives, which are designated as and qualify as cash
flow hedges as defined in SFAS No. 133, are based on quoted market prices and assistance of a third party provided
calculations, which reflect the present values of the difference between estimated future variable-rate receipts and future
fixed-rate payments. At December 31. 2007 and 2006. the net unrealized loss on interest rate derivatives and the related
carrying value was $(0.5) milhon and $(0.4) miilion, respectively. A 10% change in the variable rate would change the
unrealized loss by $0.1 millton in 2007, All interest rate derivatives are marked-to-market with changes in the fair value of
qualifying cash flow hedges recorded as other comprehensive income.

Raw Material Price Risk

General Cable’s reported net sales are directly influenced by the price of copper and to a lesser extent aluminum. The price
ol copper and aluminum as traded on the London Metal Exchange (“LME™) and COMEX has historically been subject to
considerable volatility and during the past few years, has been subject to an upward trend. For example, the daily selling
price of copper cathode on the COMEX averaged $3.22 per pound in 2007, $3.09 per pound in 2006 and $1.68 per pound in
2005 and the daily price of aluminum rod averaged $1.23 per pound in 2007, $1.22 per pound in 2006 and $0.92 per pound in
2005, This copper and aluminum price volatility is representative of all reportable segiments.

General Cable utilizes the LIFO method of inventory accounting for its metals inventory. The Company’s use of the LIFO
method results in its consolidated statement of operations reflecting the current costs of metals, while metais inventories in
the balance sheet are valued at historical costs as the LIFO layers were created.  As a result of volatile copper prices, the
replacement cost of the Company’s copper inventory exceeded the historic LIFO cost by approximately $162 million and
$167 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. If LIFO inventory quantities are reduced in a period when
replacement costs exceed the LIFQ value of the inventory, the Company would experience an increase in reported carnings.
Conversely, if LIFO inventory quantities are reduced in a period when replacement costs are lower than the LIFC value of
the inventory, the Company would experience a decline in reported earnings. [ the Company were not able to recover the
LIFO value of its inventory tn some future period when replacement costs were lower than the LIFO value of the inventory,
the Company would be required to take a charge to recognize in its statement of operations an adjustment of LIFO inventory
to market value, During 2005, the Company reduced its copper inventory quantities in North Amertea resulting in a $1.1
million LIFQ gain since LIFO inventory quantities were reduced in a period when replacement costs were higher than the
LIFO vaiue of the inventory. During 2006, we increased inventory quantities and therefore there was not a liquidation of
LIFO inventory impact in this period. During 2007, the Company reduced copper inventory quantitics globally which
resulted in a $0.1 million gain because LIFQ inventory quantities were reduced in a period when replacement costs were
higher than the LIFO value of the inventory.
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Outside of North America, General Cable enters into commodity futures contracts, which are designated as and qualify as
cash flow hedges as defined in SFAS 133, for the purchase of copper and aluminum for delivery in a future month to match
certain production needs. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, General Cable had an unrealized gain (toss) of $(18.8) million
and $(10.8) million, respectively, on the commodity futures. A 10% change in the price of copper and aluminum would result
in a change in the unrealized loss of $27.7 million i 2007,

Also. in North America, and to a lesser extent in Europe and North Africa, General Cable enters into forward pricing
agreements for the purchase of copper and aluminum for delivery in a future month to match certain sales transactions. The
Company accounts for these forward pricing arrangements under the “normal purchases and normal sales™ scope exception of
SFAS No. 133 because these arrangements are for purchases of copper and aluminum that will be delivered in quantities
expected to be used by the Company over a reasonable period of time in the normal course of business. For these
arrangements, it is probable at the inception and throughout the life of the arrangements that the arrangements will not scttle
net and will result in physical delivery of the inventory. At December 31, 2007 and 2006. General Cable had 590.1 million
and $165.4 million, respectively, of future copper and aluminum purchases that were under forward pricing agreements. At
December 31, 2007 and 2006, General Cable had an unrealized gain (loss) of $(4.0) million and $(10.1) million, respectively,
related to these transactions, General Cable expects the unrcalized losses under these agreements to be offset as a result of
firm sales price commitments with customers.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts, which are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges as defined in
SFAS 133, principally to hedge the currency fluctuations in certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, thereby
limiting the Company’s risk that would otherwise result from changes in exchange rates. Principal transactions hedged during
the year were firm sales and purchase commitments. The fair value of foreign currency contracts represents the amount
required to enter into offsetting contracts with similar remaining maturitics based on quoted market prices. At December 31.
2007 and 2006, the net unrealized gain (loss) on the net foreign currency contracts was $(34.0) million and$(5.6) million.
respectively. A 10% change in the exchange rate for these currencies would change the unrealized loss by $76.3 million in
2007.

In October 2003, the Company entered into a U.S. dollar to Euro cross currency and interest rale swap agreement with a
notional value of $150 million, which was designated as and qualified as a net investment hedge of the Company’s net
investment in its European operations, in order to hedge the effects of the changes in spot exchange rates on the value of the
net investment. The swap had a term of just over two years and matured on November 15, 2007. On November 15, 2007.
the Company paid approximately $30.5 million to settle the net investment hedge. As a result, the Company recorded; an
unrealized loss in other comprehensive income (loss) of $(20.1) million that will be recorded in the statement of operations at
some point in time if the Company divests of its European operations.

Fair Value of Designated Derivatives

Unrealized gains and losses on the designated cash flow and net investment hedge financial mstruments identified above arc
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until the underlying transaction occurs and is recorded in the statement of
operations at which point such amounts included in other comprehensive income (loss) are recognized in earnings. Thig
recognition generally will occur over periods of less than one year. except for the recognition of gain (loss) related to the net
investment hedge. During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, a pre-tax £0.9 million loss, a pre-tax $20.9
mitlion gain and a pre-tax $3.9 million gain, respectively, wer¢ reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to
the statement of operations. A pre-tax loss of $51.8 million is expected to be reclassified into earnings from other
comprehensive income during 2008,

The notional amounts and fair values of these designated cash flow and net investment hedge financial instruments at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are shown below (in millions). The net carrying amount of the designated cash flow and net
investment hedge financial instruments was a net liability of $53.3 million and $31.1 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
respectively.
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2007 2006

Notional Fair Notional Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swap $ 9.0 $ (0.5 $ 90 $ (04
Commodity futures 297.7 (18.8) 217.6 (10.8)
Foreign currency forward exchange 380.5 (34.0 152.0 (5.6)
Net investment hedges:
Cross currency and interest rale swap - - 150.0 (14.3)
$ (53.3) $ (3L.1)

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 70
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 71
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 72
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 73
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders” Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 74
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 75

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the Company's reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ")
and Chief Financial Officer ("CFQ"), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company
periodically evaluates the design and effectivencss of its disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting. The
Company makes modifications to improve the design and effectiveness of its disclosure controls and internal control
structure, and may take other corrective action, if its evaluations identify a need for such modifications or actions. The
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives.

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls
can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons,
by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is
based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design
will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design
into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as of December 31, 2007, an evaluation was
performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, the Company’s CEQ and CFO concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007.

Management's Annual Report on Internai Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such item is
defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).

As disclosed in the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2007, the Company conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on the framework in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
As a result of this process, management identified the following material weakness in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006:

Controls over Financial Reporting at Silec Subsidiary - Silec was acquired by the Company in December 2005 and was
previously a division of a large French company. In connection with management’s assessment, management has determined
that Silec did not complete implementation of adequate internal controls for the purposes of identifying, recording, and
reporting Silec’s financial results of operations. Specifically, as part of the transition to the Company, as of December 31,
2006, Silec had not completed a migration of systems from those provided by its former parent. Management determined
that the controls over granting and monitoring access to its financial reporting system were not adequate. Further,
management’s testing of business process controls identified several control deficiencies, including tack of supporting
documentation and lack of timely and sufficient financial statement account reconciliation and analysis. Management
determined that in the aggregate, these control deficiencies result in a more than remote likelihood that a material
misstatement in the interim or annual financial statements could occur and not be prevented or detected.

Remediation Activities

During 2007, the Company implemented the following steps to remediate this material weakness:
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* In February 2007, a significant portion of Silec’s financial systems were migrated to the Company’s existing
European {inancial system. The remainder of Silec’s financial systems were migrated to independent systems,
with appropriate controls in place, as of December 31, 2007,

»  To ensure successful transition to a formal control structure and to address the internal control implementation
issues noted above, Silec added several resources with Sarbanes-Oxley compliance experience to its financial
reporting function including a Chief Accountant, a Director of Cost Accounting, a Treasurer and an IT
Director.

As a result of completing their final testing of internal control over financial reporting at Silec in the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2007, management concluded as a result of the remediation activities noted above, that internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.

Management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include
an assessment of certain elements of internal controls over financial reporting of PDIC acquired on October 31, 2007 and
NSW acquired on April 30, 2007, which are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended December 31. 2007. Based upon due diligence procedures as well as actual experience since the acquisition, the
Company believes that PDIC and NSW cach have a control environment in place with appropriate documentation. This is
partly the result of PDIC being a subsidiary of another publicly listed company subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley rules and
regulations. In accordance with the Sarbanes Oxley rules and regulations, which allow for a one-year integration period, the
Company will include PDIC and NSW in 1ts risk assessment and testing program of internal controls in 2008. PDIC and
NSW represent approximately 37% of total assets and 8% of total revenues. of the related consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no other changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. as such item is defined in
Exchange Act Rules [3a — 15(1) and 15d — 15(1). during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2007, that have materially
affected. or are reasonable likely to materially affect the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Deloitte & Touche LLP. an independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s financial statements

included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
General Cable Corporation:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of General Cable Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company")
as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in [nternal Controf — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal
Contrel Over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the internal control over financial reporting at
Phelps Dodge International Corporation (“PDIC™), acquired on October 31, 2007, and Norddeutsche Seckabelwerke GmbH
& Co. KG (“NSW™), acquired on April 30, 2007, and whose financial statements reflect aggregate total assets and revenues
constituting 37% and 8%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2007, Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting at PDIC and NSW.
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's
Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all matenal respects. Qur audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists. testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exiernal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policics and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to
future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions. or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deleriorate,

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
Deccember 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Commiltee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited. in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007 of the
Company and our report dated February 29, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and
included an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48,
"Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement
No. 109" on January |, 2007. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158. “Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans - an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).”
on December 31, 2006, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment.”
on January 1, 2006.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
February 29, 2008

59




ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART II1.
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

See the information on the Company’s Executive Officers in Item | under the heading, “Executive Officers of the
Registrant.” Except as set forth in ltem 1, the additional information required by this item, including information on the
Directors of the Company. is inciuded in the definitive Proxy Statement which General Cable mtends to file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2007, and is incorporated herein by reference.

General Cable’s amended and restated by-laws provide that its Board of Directors is divided into three classes (Class [, Class
il and Class [1I). At each annual meeting of the shareholders, directors constituting one class are elected for a three-year term.
Each of the directors will be elected to serve until a successor is elected and qualified or unti]l such director’s earlier
resignation or removal.

The Board of Directors of the Company has determined that Craig P. Omtvedt, Chairman of the Audit Committee, and Audit
Committee members, Mr. Welsh, Mr. Lawton and Mr. Smialek, are audit committee financial experts as defined by [tem
401(h) of Regulation S-K and are independent within the meaning of ltem 7(d)}(3)(iv) of Schedule 14A under the Exchange
Act.

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to its directors, officers (including the
Company's principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer) and employees. The
Company has also adopted Corporate Governance Principles and Guidelines, an Audit Committee Charter, a Compensation
Committee Charter and a Corporate Governance Commitiee Charter (collectively “Charters”). Copies of the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, Corporate Governance Principles and Guidelines and each of the Charters are available on the
Company’s website, www generalcable.com, and may be found under the “Investor Information™ section by clicking on
“Corporate Governance”. Any of the foregoing documents is also available in print to any shareholders who request the
documents. The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment
to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Ethics by posting such information on our website at the location specified
above.

On May 10, 2007, the Company submitted its Annual Chief Executive Officer Certification to the New York Stock Exchange
as required by Section 303A.12 (a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

The Chiet Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certifications required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
are filed as exhibits to the Company’s Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The mformation required by this item is included i the definitive Proxy Statement which General Cable intends to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2007, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

A description of General Cable’s equity compensation plans is set forth in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. The following table sets forth information about General Cable’s equity compensation plans as of December 31,
2007 (in thousands, except per share price):

Number of securities

Number of Weighted- remaining available for
securities to be average future issuance under
issued upon exercise exercise price equity compensation plans
of outstanding of outstanding {excluding securities
options " options reflected in first column)
Shareholder approved plans:
1997 Stock Incentive Plan® 422 $ 9.94 281
2005 Stock Incentive Plan 309 49.55 1,010
Non-shareholder approved plans:
2000 Stock Option Plan® 157 10.87 290
Total 888 § 23.88 1,581

(M Excludes restricted stock of 1,708,406 shares awarded and outstanding from the 1997 Plan and restricted stock of

473,314 shares awarded and outstanding from the 2005 Plan through December 31, 2007.

@ No new awards were issued under these plans since May 10, 2005.

Other information required by this item is included in the definitive Proxy Statement which General Cable intends to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2007, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is included in the definitive Proxy Statement which General Cable intends to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2007, and 1s incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is included in the definitive Proxy Statement which General Cable intends to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2007, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a) Documents filed as part of the Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements are included in Part 11, Item 8.
2. Financial Statement Schedule filed herewith for 2007, 2006 and 2005:
1. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Page 125

All other schedules for which provisions are made in the applicable regulation of the Securities and
Exchange Commission have been omitted as they are not applicable, not required, or the required
information is included in the Censolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

3. The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference.
Documents indicated by an asterisk (*) are filed herewith; documents indicated by a double asterisk
(**) identify cach management contract or compensatory plan. Documents not indicated by an asterisk
are incorporated by reference to the document indicated.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, General Cable
Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

General Cable Corporation

Signed: February 29, 2008 By: /o/ GREGORY B. KENNY
Gregory B. Kenny
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requiremenis of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

/s/ GREGORY B. KENNY President, Chief Executive Officer and  February 29, 2008
Gregory B. Kenny Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ ROBERT J. SIVERD Executive Vice President, General February 29, 2008
Robert J. Siverd Counsel and Secretary
/s/ BRIAN J. ROBINSON Executive Vice President, Chief February 29, 2008
Brian J, Robinson Financial Officer and Treasurer

Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer)

/s/ JOHN E. WELSH, 111 Non-executive Chairman and Director February 29, 2008
John E. Welsh, 111

/sf GREGORY E. LAWTON Director February 29, 2008
Gregory E. Lawton

/s/ CRAIG P. OMTVEDT Director February 29, 2008
Craig P. Omtvedt

/s/ ROBERT L. SMIALEK Director February 29, 2008

Robert L. Smialek
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Number

Exhibit Index

Description
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3.1
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4.1

44
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4.8

49

4.10

4.11

10.2%*

(0.2, 1**

10.2.2%*

10.3%*

10.4%*

10.4.1%*

Share Purchase Agreement among Grupo General Cable Sistemas, S.A., Safran SA, and Sagem Communications,
dated November 18, 2005 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.2 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on
December 22, 2005).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 12, 2007, by and among Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold
Inc.. Phelps Dodge Corporation. Phelps Dodge Industries, Inc., Habirshaw Cable and Wire Corporation and General
Cable Corporation {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the form 8-K as filed on September 12, 2007).

Letter Agreement, dated October 29, 2007, to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 12, 2007, by
and among Freeport-McMoRan Cooper & Gold Inc., Phelps Dodge Corporation, Phelps Dodge [ndustries, Inc.,
Habirshaw Cable and Wire Corporation and General Cable Corporation. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.109 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended September 28, 2007).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company was filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. | to Form S-4 (File No. 333-143017). Note: The certificate was amended in May 2007.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K as filed
on July 25, 2007).

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-22961) of the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 7,
1997, as amended (the “lmtial 5-17).).

Certificate of Designations {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form &-K filed December 12, 2003).
[ndenture among the Company, certain guarantors and U.S. Bank National Association, as trusiec {incorporated by
relerence to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form 8-K filed December 12, 2003).

Registration Rights Agreement among the Company and the Initial Purchasers relating to the Series A Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 1o the Form 8-K filed December 12, 2003).
Registration Rights Agreement among the Company, certain guarantors and the Initial Purchasers relating to the
Naotes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Form 8-K filed December 12, 2003).

Indenture for the $315.0 million 0.875% Senior Convertible Notes Due 2013 dated November ¢, 2006 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on November 16, 2006).

Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 15, 2007, among the Company, certain guarantors, and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on
March 15, 2007).

Indenture dated as of March 21, 2007, amonyg the Company, certain guarantors, and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee (incorporated by relerence to Exhibit 4.1 1o the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on March 21, 2007).
Indenture for the $475.0 million 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes Due 2012, dated October 2, 2007, by and among
General Cable Corporation, the subsidiary guarantors named therein, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K as filed on October 2, 2007).

Registration Rights Agreement dated March 21, 2007, among the Company, certain guarantors and Goldman, Sachs
& Co., as representative of the several purchasers named in Schedule 1 to the Purchase Agreement {incorporated by
reference Lo Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K Current Report as {iled on March 21, 2007).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2007, by and among General Cable Corporation, the
subsidiary guarantors named therein, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce. Fenner & Smith Incorporated. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed October 2, 2007).

General Cable Corporation 1997 Stock [ncentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 (o the Initial 5-1).
General Cable Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K ol General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1997).

Form of Grant Agreement pursuant to the General Cable Corporation 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.67 to the Quarterly Report on Form [0-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarter ended
October 1. 2004).

General Cable Corporation 1998 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1997).

General Cable Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2000).

General Cable Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan, amended and restated as of July 30. 2002 (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.55 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2002).
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Form of Grant Agreement pursuant to the General Cable Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.68 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarter ended
October 1, 2004).

Employment Agreement dated May 13, 1997, between Gregory B. Kenny and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Initial S-1).

Amendment dated March 16, 1998 to Employment Agreement dated May 13, 1997, between Gregory B. Kenny and
the Company {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1997).

Change-in-Control Agreement dated May 13, 1997, between Gregory B. Kenny and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Initial S-1).

Employment Agreement dated October 18, 1999, between Gregory B. Kenny and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1999).

Change-in-Coentrol Agreement dated October 18, 1999 between Gregory B. Kenny and the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1999).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 28, 2000, between Gregory B. Kenny and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2000).

Amended and Restated Change-in-Control Agreement dated April 28, 2000 between Gregory B. Kenny and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable
Corporation for the quarterly period end March 31, 2000).

Amendment dated August 6, 2001, to Employment Agreement between Gregory B. Kenny and General Cable
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable
Corporation for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2001).

Amendment dated August 6, 2001, to Change-in-Control Agreement between Gregory B. Kenny and General Cable
Corporation {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable
Corporation for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2001).

Amendment No. 2 dated July 11, 2003 to Employment Agreement dated April 28, 2000 between Gregory B. Kenny
and the Company (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.56 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General
Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003).

Assignment Agreement dated June 9, 2003 by Gregory B. Kenny 10 General Cable Corporation (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.59 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2003).

Satary Adjustment for Chief Executive Officer dated January 26, 2005 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 99 to
the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on February 1, 2005).

Salary Adjustment for Chief Executive Officer dated February 7, 2006 (incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K
Current Report as fited on February 7, 2006).

Gregory B. Kenny Amended and Restated Employment agreement termed Termination Agreement, dated December
19, 2007 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2007).

Employment Agreement dated May 13, 1997, between Robert J. Siverd and the Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.10 to the Initial S-1).

Change-in-Control Agreement dated May 13, 1997, between Robert J, Siverd and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the [nitial S-1).

Employment Agreement dated October 18, 1999, between Robert J. Siverd and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1999).

Change-in-Control Agreement dated October 18, 1999 between Robert J. Siverd and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1999).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 28, 2000, between Robert J. Siverd and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2000).

Amended and Restated Change-in-Control Agreement dated April 28, 2000 between Robert J. Siverd and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable
Corporation for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2000).
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Amendment No, 1 dated July 11, 2003 to Employment Agreement dated April 28. 2000 between Robert J. Siverd
and the Company (incorporated by reference 1o exhibit 10.58 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General
Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003).

Assignment Agreement dated June 9. 2003 by Robert J, Siverd to General Cable Corporation (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.61 1o the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2003).

Robert ). Siverd Amended and Restated Employment agreement termed Termination Agreement dated December
19, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2007).

Letter of understanding with Brian J. Robinson as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Ofticer and Treasurer
dated December 22. 2006 {incorporated by reference to exhibits 99,1 and 99.2 to the Form 8-K Current Report as
filed on December 22, 2006).

Brian J. Robinson Novation Agreement dated December 19, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2007).

General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan dated April 1. 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the vear ended December 31, 1998).
Amended and Restated General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan dated December 14, 1998
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K ot General Cable Corporation for
the year ended December 31, 1998).

General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (Amended and Restated Effective January 1. 2008)
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on November 13, 2007).

Fourth Amendment to the General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K as tiled on June 27, 2007).

Credit Agreement between the Company, Chase Manhattan Bank. as Administrative Agent, and the lenders
signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Quarterty Report on Form
10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1999),

Amendment dated October 8. 1999 to the Credit Agreement between the Company, Chase Manhattan Bank, as
Admimnistrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.20+ to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended September
30. 1999).

Second amendment dated March 9, 2000 1o the Credit Agreement between the Company, Chase Manhattan Bank, as
Administrative Agent. and the lenders signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.32 10 the Quarterly Report on Form 10-(} of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2000,

Third amendment dated January 24, 2001 1o the Credit Agreement belween the Company, Chase Manhattan Bank,
as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.41 1o the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the yvear ended December 31, 2000),
Amendment dated April 19, 2002 to the Credit Agreement between the Company. JP Morgan Chase Bank. as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2002).

Fifth Amendment dated October 11. 2002 to the Credit Agreement between the Company, JP Morgan Chase Bank,
as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Form
8-K filed on October 14. 2002).

Sixth Amendment dated December 26, 2002 to the Credit Agreement between the Company. JP* Mergan Chase
Bank, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatory thereto dated May 28, 1999 (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.34 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31,
2002).

Master Pooling and Servicing Agreement. dated as of May 9, 2001, among General Cable Capital Funding, Inc,,
Genceral Cable Industries, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation lor the year ended December 31, 2001).

Series 2001-1 Supplement to Master Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2001, among General
Cable Capital Funding, Inc.. General Cable Industries, Inc. and The Chase Manhauan Bank (incorporated by
reference o Exhibit 10.48 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for year ended
December 31, 2001 ).

Series VFC Supplement to Master Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of May 9. 2001, among General
Cable Capital Funding, Inc.. General Cable Industries. Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2001,
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First amendment dated December 21, 2001 to the Series 2001-1 Supplement to Master Pooling and Servicing
Agreement dated as of May 9. 2001, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Credit Agreement between the Company, Merrill Lynch Capital as Collateral and Syndication Agent, UBS AG as
Administrative Agent and the lenders signatory thereto dated November 24, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.63 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31,
2003).

First Amendment dated April 14, 2004, to the Credit Agreement between the Company, Merrill Lynch Capital as
Collateral and Syndication Agent, UBS AG as Administrative Agent and the lenders signatory thereto dated
November 24, 2003 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.66 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General
Cable Corporation for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

Amended and restated Credit Agreement dated October 22, 2004, between the Company and Merrill Lynch Capital
as collateral and syndication agent, UBS AG as Admimstrative Agent and the lenders signatory thereto
(tncorporated by reference to exhibit 10.69 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable Corporation for
the quarter ended October 1, 2004).

First Amendment dated June 13, 2005 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company,
Merrill Lynch Capital as Collateral and Syndication Agent, UBS AG as Admimistrative Agem and the lenders
signatory thereto {incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.70 1o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of General Cable
Corporation for the quarter ended July I, 2005).

Second Amended and restated Credit Agreement dated November 23, 2003, between the Company and Merrill
Lynch Capital as Collateral and Administrative Agent. National City Business Credit. Inc., as Syndication Agent
and the lenders signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.65 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2005).

First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company and Merrill Lynch
Capital as Collateral and Administrative Agent, National City Business Credit, Inc., as Syndication Agent and the
lenders signatory thercto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.90 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 29, 2006).

Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company and Merrill
Lynch Capital as Collateral and Administrative Agent, Nattonal City Business Credit. Inc., as Syndication Agent
and the lenders sighatory thereto {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 10 the Form §-K Current Report as filed
on March 6. 2007.

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. dated October 31, 2007, by and among GCI, as Borrower, the
Company and those certain other subsidiaries of the Company party thereto, as Guarantors, the Issuing Banks, the
Lenders and Merrill Lynch Capital, a division of Merriil Lynch Business Financial Services Inc., as Administrative
Agent for the Lenders, Collateral Agent and Security Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form
8-K as filed on November 1, 2007).

Master Agrcement confirming the initiation of a $75.0 million cross currency and interest rate swap between
General Cable Corporation and Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc,, dated October 13, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.65 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of General Cable Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2005).

Master Agreement confirming the initiation of a $75.0 million cross currency and interest rate swap between
General Cable Corporation and Bank of America, N.A., dated October 13, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.65 1o the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31,
2005).

Form of [ntercompany Agreement ameng Wassall PLC, Netherlands Cable V.B. and the Company (incorperated by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Imtial S-1).

Stock Purchase Agreement dated May 13, 1997, among Wassall PLC. General Cable Industries Inc. and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Inttial S-1).

BICCGeneral Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated December 15, 1999 {incorporated by reference 1o
Exhibit 10.29 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31,
1999}

BICCGeneral Mid-Term Incentive Plan dated February 1. 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1999}

Share Purchase Agreement between General Cable Corporation and Pirelli Cavi e Sistemi S.p.A. dated February 9,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,31 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation
for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 28, 2000, between Stephen Rabinowitz and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Quarterly report on Form 10-Q of General Cable
Corporation for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2000).

67




[0 19%*

10.23

10.24

10.25%%

10.26%*

10.27%*

10.28**

10.29%*

10.30%*

10.31%*

10.32%*

10.33%*

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10,40

10.41

10.42

10.43

Term Sheet dated August 7, 2001, for Retirement and Termination of Employment Agreement dated October 18,
1999, as Amended. between General Cable Corporation and Stephen Rabinowitz (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2001).

Asset Purchase Agreement between Southwire Company and General Cable Industries, Inc. and General Cable
Corporation dated September 3, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-0 of General Cable Corporation for the quarterly period end September 30, 2001).

Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2001. between General Cable Industries, Inc. and General Cable
Capital Funding, [nc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General
Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Trust Termination Agreement for General Cable 2001 Master Trust dated November 24, 2003 (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.62 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2003).

Corporate Governance Principles and Guidelines dated January 2004 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.65 to
the Annual Report on Form [0-K of General Cable Corporation tor the year ended December 31, 2003).

Credit Agreement between Grupo General Cable Sistemas, S.A., and Banco de Sabadell, S.A., as Agent and
Financial Institution, dated December 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.65 to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A of General Cable Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Director Compensation Program modification dated January 26, 2005 {incorporated by reference to exhibit 99 to the
Form 8-K Current Report as filed on February 1, 2005).

Salary Adjustment for Chief Financial Officer and for Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
dated February 18, 2005 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 99 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on
February 22, 2005).

General Cable Corporation 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K
Current Report as filed on May 16, 2003).

Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the Form §-K Current Report as
liled on May 16, 2005).

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K Current Report as
filed on May 16, 2005).

Restncted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 10 the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on
May 16, 2005}

Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on May
16. 2005).

Salary Adjustment for Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary dated February 23, 2006
(incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on February 23, 2006).

Scparation Agreement and General Release of Claims and Amendment to Separation Agreement and General
Release of Claims between General Cable Corporation and its Chief Financiat Officer dated May 30, 2006
{incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on June 2, 2006).

Agreement for Convertible Note Hedges dated November 9, 2006, between the Company and Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith In¢. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006).
Agreement for Convertible Note Hedges dated November 9, 2006 between the Company and Credit Suisse
Seceurities (USA) LLC (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 10 the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006).
Agreement for Convertible Note Hedges dated November 9, 2006 between the Company and Wachovia
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006),

Agreement for Warrant Transactions dated November 9. 2006 between the Company and Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith Inc, {incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006}.
Agreement tor Warrant Transactions dated November 9, 2006 between the Company and Credit Suisse Securities
{USA) LLC (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the Form 8-K as filed on Novemnber 16, 2006).

Agreement for Warrant Transactions dated November 9. 2006 between the Company and Wachovia {incorporated
by reference to exhibit 10.6 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16. 2006).

Agreement for Convertible Note Hedges dated November 15, 2006 between the Company and Merritl Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16,
2006).

Agreement for Convertible Note Hedges dated November 15, 2006 between the Company and Credit Suisse
Securities {USA} LLC (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006).
Agreement for Convertible Note Hedges dated November 15, 2006 between the Company and Wachovia
{incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9 to the Form &-K as filed on November 16, 2006).

Agreement for Warrant Transactions dated November 15, 2006 between the Company and Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006).

68




10.44

10.45

10.46%*

10.47

10.48%*

10.49**

12.1
14.0
21.1
23.1
311
312
321

Agreement for Warrant Transactions dated November 15, 2006 between the Company and Credit Suisse Securities
(USA) LLC (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.11 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006).
Agreement for Warrant Transactions dated November 15, 2006 between the Company and Wachovia (incorporated
by reference to exhibit 10.12 to the Form 8-K as filed on November 16, 2006).

Salary Adjustment for President and Chiel Executive Officer and Exccutive Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary dated February 14, 2007 (incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on February
16, 2007).

Purchase Agreement dated as of March 15, 2007, among the Company, certain guarantors and Goldman, Sachs &
Co., as representative of the several purchasers named in Schedule I to the Purchase Agreement (incorporated by
teference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K Current Report as filed on March 21, 2007).

Amendment to the Supplemental Exccutive Retirement Plan of General Cable Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K as filed on June 27, 2007).

General Cable Corporation Executive Officer Severance Benefit Plan effective January 1. 2008 (Incerporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2007).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics - available on the Company’s website at www.generalcable.com

List of Subsidiaries of General Cable.

Consent of Deleitte & Touche LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a) or 15(d} — 14.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15(d) — 14.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

General Cable Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of General Cable Corporation and subsidiaries (the
"Company™) as of December 31. 2007 and 2006. and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. Qur audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at ltem 15, These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial staterments and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ot the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the linancial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated lnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects. the financial position of General
Cable Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of Amcerica. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when considered in relation
to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects. the information sct
forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2, effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of Financial Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 109" Also, the Company adopted the recognition and related disclosure provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers” Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Benefit Plans ~ an amendment of FASE Statements No. 87, 88, 106. and 132(R).” on December 31, 2006, and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004). "Share-Based Pavment.” on January 1. 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States),
the elfectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the eniteria
established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 29, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Cincinnati. Ohio
February 29. 2008
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GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Net sales $ 46148 5 3.065.1 § 23808
Cost of sales 3.952.1 3.194.1 21100
Gross profit 662.7 471.0 270.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 296.6 2351 172.2
Operating income 366.1 2359 98.5
Other expense (3.4) (0.1) (0.5)
[nterest income (expense):

Interest expense (48.4) (40.0) (399

Interest income 18.8 4.4 29

Loss on extinguishment of debt {25.3) - -

(54.9 {35.6) {37.0)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 307.8 200.2 61.0
Income tax provision (99.4) (64.9) (21.8)
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries 0.2) - -
Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies 04 - -
Net income 208.6 1353 392
Less: preferred stock dividends (0.3) {0.3) (22.0)
Net income applicable to common shareholders S 2083 S 1350 $ 17.2
EPS
Earnings per common share-basic ;) 407 % 2.70 3 0.42
Weighted average common shares-basic 51.2 50.0 41.1
Earnings per common share-assuming dilution $ 382§ 2.60 5 0.41
Weighted average common shares-assuming dilution 54.6 52.0 41.9

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




Assets
Current Assels:
Cash and cash equivalents

GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions, except share data)

December 31,

2007 2006

§ 3257 § 3105

Receivables, net of allowances of $17.9 million in 2007 and $10.0 million 1n 2006 11214 723.7
Inventorics 9288 363.1
Deferred income tlaxes 140.3 104.1
Prepaid expenses and other 61.4 329

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net

Deferred income taxes
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net

Unconsolidated affiliated companies

Other non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

25776 1.734.3

738.8 416.7
426 288
116.1 -
2367 1.7
29.5 -
56.7 37.2

$3,798.0 $2,218.7

$ 9373 $ 6354

Accrued liabitities 4273 2843
Current portion of long-term debt 500.9 55.5
Total current liabilities 1.865.5 9952
Long-term debt 897.9 685.1
Deferred income taxes 118.5 13.2
Other liabilities 190.0 90.8
Total liabilities 3.0719 1.784.3
Commitments and Contingencies
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries 74,8 -
Sharcholders™ Equity:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, at redemption value
(liquidation preference of $50.00 per share):

2007 — 101,940 shares outstanding

2006 - 101,949 shares outstanding 5.1 5.1
Common stock, $0.01 par value, issued and outstanding shares:

2007 — 52,430,149 (net of 5,121,841 treasury shares)

2006 - 52,002,052 (net of 4,999,035 treasury shares) 0.6 0.6
Additional paid-in capital 268.0 2455
Treasury stock (60.3) (53.0)
Retained earnings 4283 238.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 9.6 (2.6)

Total sharcholders’ equity 651.3 4344

Total habilities and shareholders™ equity

$3.798.0 $2218.7

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in millions)
Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Cash flows of operating activities;
Net income § 2086 § 1353 $ 392
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 63.5 50.9 51.0
Foreign currency exchange loss 34 0.1 0.5
Loss on extinguishment of debt 253 - -
Deferred income taxes {11.6) 4.7 3.9
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (11.1) (19.0) -
Loss on disposal of property and businesses 3.8 2.5 2.1

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of
acquisitions and divestitures:

Increase in receivables (6.5) (94.7) {83.1)
Increase in inventories {13.5) {142.4) (6.6)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (1.4) 0.5 7.2
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities (33.8) 156.1 114.6
Net cash flows of operating activities 231.7 94.0 121.0
Cash flows of investing activities:
Capital expenditures (133.6) (71.1) (42.6)
Proceeds from properties sold 1.1 0.8 3.0
Proceeds from acquisition including cash acquired 28.0 - -
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (634.8) (26.9) (92.6)
Other, net 0.5 1.4 1.7
Net cash flows of investing activities {759.8) (95.8) (130.5)
Cash flows of financing activities:
Preferred stock dividends paid (0.3) (0.3) (22.0)
Settlement of net investment hedge (30.5)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 11.1 19.0 -
Proceeds from revolving credit borrowings 100.0 264.1 3271
Repayments of revolving credit borrowings (40.0) (379.2) (290.6)
Proceeds (repayment) of other debt 7.3 6.9 354
Issuance of long-term debt 800.0 355.0 -
Payment of deferred financing fees (19.0) (9.4) -
Settlement of long-term debt including fees and expenses (305.5) - -
Purchase of note hedges - (124.5) -
Proceeds from issuance of warrants - 80.4 -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 5.0 22.7 2.6
Net cash flows of financing activities 528.1 234.7 52.5
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 152 54 (7.2)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 15.2 238.3 358
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of pertod 310.5 72.2 364
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period $ 3257 $ 3105 § 722

Supplemental Information
Cash paid (received) during the period for:

Income tax payments, net of (refunds) § 088 $ 463 3 159

Interest paid $ 517 5 367 $ 369
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

[ssuance of nonvested shares $ 105 $ 6.4 3 3.6

Entrance into capital leases $ 0.1 $ 01 $ 57

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance, December 31. 2004
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Foreign currency translation adj.
Pension adjustments. net ol $5.3
million 1ax benefit
Unrealized investment gain
Gain on change in tair value of
financial instruments, net of $4.2
million tax expense
Comprchensive income
Preferred stock dividend
Inducement ol preterred stock
Amortization of nonvested stock & other
Repayment of loans from shareholders
Exercise of stock options
Issuanee of nonvested shares
Other

Balance, December 31, 2005
Comprehensive inceme:
Net income
Foreign currency translation adj.
Pension adjustments, net ol $3.5§
million tax expense
Unrealized investment gain
Loss an change in fair value of
financial instruments, net vl $16.7
million tax benetit
Comprehensive income
Adoption ol SFAS 158, netof $3.8
million tax benefit
Preterred stock dividend
Note hedge transaction
Issuance of warranis
Reclass of unearned stock compensation
Issuance of nonvesied shares
Stock opuon and RSU expense
Exercise of stock options
I'reasury shares related 1o nonvested
stock vesting
Amortization of nonvested shares
Excess tax benetits from stock-based
compensation
Conversion of preferred stock
Other

Balance. December 31, 2006
Comprehensive income:

Net income

Foreign currency translation adj.

Detined benefit plans adjustmenis, net of

S0. 1 million tax expense
Unrealized investment gain. net of $0.3
milhon 1ax expense
Loss an change in fair value of
linancial instruments. net of $16.5
million tax benefit
Camprehensive income
Preferred stock dividend
[ssuance of nonvested shares
Stock vption and RSU expense
Excreise of stock oplions
Treasury shares relazed o nonvested
stock vesting
Amornization of nonvested shares
Excess tax benefits from stock-hased
compensalion
Fin 4% adoption
Other

Balance, December 31. 2007

GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
{(dollars in milliens, share amounts in thousands)

Accumulated
Preferred Common Add’] Other Other
Stock Stock Paid in Treasury  Retainted  Comprehensive  Shareholders®
Sharcs Amount Shares Amount Capital Stock Earnings [ncome/{Loss) Equity l'otal
2,070 $103.5 39336 0.4 $144.1 L5100 $86.4 £22.4 $(4.4) $301.4
392 392
(27.3) (27.3)
9.9 {9.9)
1.0 1.0
6.6 0.6
9.6
(22.0) 22.0)
{1,940y (97.6) 9,696 0.1 96.9 -
1.7 1.7
(83) (.2 (1.2) 1.6 (0.8)
251 26 2.6
94 36 3.0) -
- 26 - .3 - 02 0.4 0.1 0.8
130 365 44,520 $0.5 $246.3 $(52.2) 31038 S(6.8) $4.8) $2933
1353 1353
306 30.6
64 6.4
26 29
(287 (28.7
146.5
(7.0} (7.00
{r3) (0.3)
(124.5) (124.5)
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See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. General

General Cable Corporation and Subsidiaries (General Cable) is a leading global developer, designer, manufaciurer, marketer
and distributor in the wire and cable industry. The Company sells copper, aluminum and tiber optic wire and cable products
worldwide. The Company’s operations are divided into three main reportable segments: North America, Europe and North
Africa and ROW which consists of operations in Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and Asia Pacific. As of
December 31, 2007, General Cable operated 45 manufacturing facilities, which includes 3 facilities in which the Company
has an equity investment, in 22 countries with regional distribution centers around the world in addition to the corporate
headquarters in Highland Heights. Kentucky.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of wholly-owned subsidiaries, majority-owned
controlled subsidiaries and variable interest entities where the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company records its
investment in each unconsolidated affiliated company (generally 20-50 percent ownership in which it has the ability to
exercise significant influence) at its respective equity in net assets. Other investments (less than 20 percent ownership) are
recorded at cost. All intercompany transactions and balances among the consolidated companies have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates are based on historical experience and information that is
available to management about current events and actions the Company may take in the future. Significant items subject to
estimates and assumptions include valuation allowances for sales incentives, accounts receivable, inventory and deferred
income taxes; legal, environmental, asbestos, tax contingency. warranty and customer reel deposit liabilities; assets and
obligations related to pension and other postretirement benefits; business combination accounting and related purchase
accounting valuations; financial instruments; and seli~insured workers’ compensation and health insurance reserves. There
can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from these estimates,

Revenue Recognition

The majority of the Company’s revenue is recognized when goods are shipped to the customer. title and risk of loss are
transferred, pricing is fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Most revenue transactions represent
sales of inventory. A provision for payment discounts, product returns, warranty and customer rebates is estimated based
upon historical experience and other relevant factors and is recorded within the same period that the revenue is recognized.
The Company has a portion of long-term product installation contract revenue that is recognized based on the percentage-of-
completion method generally based on the cost-to-cost method if there are reasonably reliable estimates of total revenue, total
cost, and the cxtent of progress toward completion; and there is an enforceable agreement between parties who can fulfill
their contractual obligations. The Company reviews contraci price and cost estimates periodically as the work progresses and
reflects adjustments proportionate to the percentage-of-completion to income in the period when those estimates are revised.
For these contracts, if a current estimate of total contract cost indicates a loss on a contract, the projected loss is recognized in
full when determined. The Company also has a few projects with multiple deliverables. Based on the guidance in EITF 00-
21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” the multiple deliverables in these revenue arrangements are divided
into separate units of accounting because (i) the delivered item(s) have value to the customer on a stand-alone basis; (ii) there
is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered item{s); and (iii} to the extent that a right of return exists
relative to the delivered item, delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in
the control of the Company. Revenue arrangements of this type are generally contracts where the Company is hired to both
produce and install a cenain product. In these arrangements, the majority of the customer acceptance provisions do not
require complete product delivery and installation for the amount related to the production of the item(s) to be recognized as
revenue, but the requirement of successful installation does exist for the amount related to the installation to be recognized as
revenue. Therefore, based on these facts and other considerations such as the short-term nature of the contracts and the
existence of a separate service component for installation, revenue is recognized for the product upon delivery to the
customer but revenue on installation is not recognized until the installation is complete.
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Stock-Based Compensation

General Cable has various plans which provide for granting options and commeon stock to certain employees and independent
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries. Prior 1o the first quarter of 2006. the Company accounted for compensation
expense related to such transactions using the “intrinsic value” based method under the provisions of Accounting Principles
Beard ("APB”) Opinion No. 25 and its related interpretations and therefore recognized no compensation cost for stock
options, On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)") under the modified prospective transition method. Therefore, prior perieds have
not been retrospectively adjusted to include prior period compensation expense. The Company has applied SFAS 123(R) to
new awards and to awards modified, repurchased or cancelled after January 1. 2006. Compensation cost for the portion of
the awards for which the requisite service had not been rendered, that were outstanding as of January 1, 2006, is being
recognized as the requisite service is rendered on or after January 1. 2006 (generally over the remaining vesting period). The
compensation cost for that portion of awards has been based on the grant-date fair value of those awards as calculated
previously for pro forma disclosures.

The adoption of SFAS 123(R)’s fair value method in 2006 lowered pre-tax income by $1.1 million, lowered net income by
$0.7 million, and lowered basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.01 per share, giving effect to the recognition of the
Company's compensation cost from stock options. The Company also recognized approximately $19.0 million of excess tax
benefits on stock-based compensation in its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as a financing cash inflow that would
have been classified as an operating cash inflow prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R}. Information on General Cable’s
equity compensation plans and additional information on compensation costs from stock-based compensation are described
in Note 14,

The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net income and earnings per share for 2005 as if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” to stock-based
employvee compensation (in millions, except per share data).

Y car Ended
December 31,
2005
Net income as reported $ 392
Less: Preferred stock dividends on convertible stock (0.4
Preferred stock dividends on converted stock (5.3)
Inducement payment and offering costs (16.3}
Deduct: Totat stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards. net of
related tax eftects (0.9)
Pro forma net income for basic EPS computation § 163
Net income as reported 5 392
Less: Preferred stock dividends on convertible stock, if applicable (0.4)
Preferred stock dividends on converted stock, if applicable (5.3)
Inducement payment and offering costs, if applicable (16.3)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net of
related tax eflects (0.9)
Pro forma net income for diluted EPS computation S 163
Earnings per share:
Basic — as reported 5 042
Basic — pro forma $ 040
Diluted — as reported S 041
Diluted — pro torma $ 039
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Earnings Per Share

Earnings per common share-basic is determined by dividing net income applicable to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of common shares-basic outstanding. Earnings per common share-assuming dilution is computed based on
the weighted average number of common shares-assuming dilution outstanding which gives effect (when dilutive) to stock
options, other stock-based awards, the assumed conversion of the Company’'s preferred stock. 1.00% Senior Convertible
Notes and 0.875% Convertible Notes, il applicable, and other potentially dilutive securities. See further discussion in Note
16.

Foreign Currency Translation

For operations outside the United States that prepare financial statements in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, results of
operations and cash flows are translated at average exchange rates during the period, and assets and liabilities are translated at
spot exchange rates at the end of the period. Foreign currency translation adjustments are included as a separate component
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders™ equity. The effects of changes in exchange rates between
the designated functional currency and the currency in which a transaction is denominated are recorded as foreign currency
transaction gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See further discussion in Note 4.

Business Combination Accounting

Acquisitions entered into by the Company are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase method
requires management to make significant estimates, Management must determine the cost of the acquired entity based on the
fair value of the consideration paid or the fair value of the net assets acquired, whichever is more clearly evident. The cost is
then allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. In
addition, management must identify and estimate the fair values of intangible assets that should be recognized as assets apart
from goodwill as well as the {air value of tangible property, ptant and equipment and intangible assets acquired.

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Inventories

General Cable values all of its North American inventories and all of its non-North American metal inventories using the
last-in first-out {LIFO} method and all remaining inventories using the first-in first-out (F1IFO} method. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost or market value. The Company determines whether a lower of cost or market provision is required on a
quarterly basis by computing whether inventory on hand, on a LIFO basis, can be sold at a profit based upon current selling
prices less variable sclling costs. In the event that provisiens are required in some future period, the Company will determine
the amount of the provision by writing down the value of the inventory to the level of current selling prices less variable
selling costs.

The Company has consignment inventory at certain of its customer locations for purchase and use by the customer or other
parties. General Cable retains title to the inventory and records no sale until it is ultimately sold cither to the customer
storing the inventory or to another party. In general, the value and quantity of the consignment inventory is verified by
General Cable through either cycle counting or annual physical inventory counting procedures.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Costs assigned to property, plant and equipment relating to acquisitions are
based on estimated fair values at the acquired date. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets: new buildings, from 15 to 50 years; and machinery, equipment and office furnishings, from 2 10 15
years, Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the life of the lease unless acquired in a business combination, in which
case the leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes the
reasonably assured life of the lease. The Company’s manufacturing facilities perform major maintenance activities during
planned shutdown periods which traditionally occur in July and December, and costs related to major maintenance activities
are expensed as incurred.

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-lived assets (including property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets with determinable lives) whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. The Company evaluates events or changes in circumstances based
mostly on actual historical operating results, but business plans, forecasts, general and industry trends and anticipated cash
flows are also considered. An impairment is assessed when the undiscounted expected future cash flows dertved from an
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asset are less than its carrying amount. [mpairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value of an
asset exceeds its fair value and are recognized in earnings. The Company also continually evaluates the estimated useful
lives of all long-lived assets and, when warranted, revises such estimates based on current events. (see Note 9)

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite uselul hives are not amortized, but are reviewed at least annually for
impairment. It the carrying amount of geodwill or an intangible asset with an indefinite lite exceeds its fair value, an
impairnient loss 1s recognized tn the amount equal to the excess, There was S116.1 million in goodwill and $132.9 miilion in
intangible assets with indefinite lives on the Company's balance shect at December 31, 2007. There was no goodwill and
approximatcly $0.5 intangible assets with indefinite lives on the Company’s balance sheet at December 31, 2006.

Intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite life, principally customer relationships, are amortized over their
useful lives based on the historical customer attrition rate. There was $103.8 million and $1.2 million in net intangible assets
on the Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Amortization expense of $2.5 million and
$0.1 million was recognized in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Financial nstruments are defined as cash or contracts relating to the receipt. delivery or exchange of financial instruments.
Except as otherwise noted. fair value approximates the carrying value of such instruments.

Forward Pricing Agreements for Purchases of Copper and Aluminum

In the normal course of business, General Cable enters into forward pricing agreements for purchases of copper and
aluminum to match certain sales transactions. The Company accounts for these forward pricing arrangements under the
“normal purchases and normal sales™ scope exempiion of SFAS No. 133 because these arrangements are for purchases of
copper and aluminum that will be delivered m quantities expected to be used by the Company over a reasonable period of
ume in the normal course of business. For these arrangements, it is probable at the inception and throughout the life of the
arrangements that the arrangements will not settle net and will result in physical delivery ol the inventory. At December 31,
2007 and 2006, General Cable had $90.1 million and $163.4 milhon, respectively, of future copper and aluminum purchases
that were under forward pricing agreements. The fair market value of the forward pricing agreements was $86.1 million and
$155.3 million at December 31. 2007 and 2006, respectively.  General Cable expects to recover the cost of copper and
aluminum under these agreements as a result of firm sales price commitments with customers.

Pension Plans

General Cable provides retirement benefits through contributory and non-contributory qualified and non-qualified defined
benefit pension plans covering eligible domestic and international employees as well as through defined contribution plans
and other postretirement benefits. Benefits under General Cable’s qualified U.S. defined benefit pension plan generally are
based on years of service multiplied by a specific fixed dollar amount, and benefits under the Company’s qualified non-U.S.
defined benetit pension plans generally are based on vears of service and a variety of other factors that can include a specific
fixed dollar amount or a percentage of either current salary or average salary over a specific period of time. The amounts
funded for any plan year {or the qualified U.S. defined benefit pension plan are neither less than the minimum required under
federal law nor more than the maximum amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. General Cable’s non-qualified
unfunded U.S. defined benefit pension plans include a plan that provides defined benefits to select senior management
employees beyond those benefits provided by other programs. The Company’s non-qualified unfunded non-U.S, defined
benefit pension plans include plans that provide retirement indemnities to employees within the Company’s European
business. Pension ohligations for the non-qualificd unfunded defined benefit pension plans are provided for by book reserves
and are based on local practices and regulations of the respective countries. General Cable makes cash contributions for the
costs of the non-qualified unfunded defined benefit pension plans as the benefits are paid.

On June 27. 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company approved amendments to the General Cable Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP™) and the General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (“*DCP”} and the
merger of the SERP into the DCP. The Company received written acknowledgement and acceptance of the SERP
amendments and merger (rom cach participant in the SERP. The amendments and merger were made in order to simplify,
limit and better align these specific compensation plans with the Company’s compensation pohicies.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition provisions ol SFAS No. 138 and initially apphied them to
the funded status of its defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefits other than pensions.  This statement
required the Company to recognize an asset or hability for the underfunded status of its defined benefit pension plans and
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postretirement benefits other than pensions in 1ts Consolidated Balance Sheet for the year ended December 31, 2006, The
initial recognition of the funded status of its defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefits other than pensions
resulted in a decrease in Shareholders’ Equity of $7.0 million, which was net of a tax benefit of $3.8 million. in accordance
with SFAS No. 158, the Company’s 2005 accounting and related disclosures were not affected by the adoption of the new
standard.

The incremental effect of applying SFAS No. 158 to the defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefits other than
pensions on individual lines of the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006, was (in millions):

Before Incremental After

Application of Effect of Application of

SFAS No. 158 Application SFAS No. 158
Prepaid expense and other $ 346 s (7N § 329
Total current assets 1,736.0 (1.7 1.734.3
Deferred income taxes 25.0 38 28.8
Other non-current asscts 41.7 (2.8) 389
Total assels 2,219.4 0.7) 221879
Other liabilitics 84.5 6.3 90.8
Total liabilities 1,778.0 6.3 1.784.3
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 4.4 (7.0) (2.6)
Total shareholders’ equity 4414 (7.0) 4344
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity $ 22194 S (0.7) § 22187

See Nate 13 for further information regarding the Company’s employee benefit plans.

Self-insurance

The Company is self-insured for certain employee medical benefits, workers’ compensation benefits, environmental and
asbestos-related issucs, The Company purchased stop-loss coverage in order to limil its exposure to any significant level of
employce medical and workers” compensation claims in 2007 and 2006. Certain insurers are also partly responsible for
coverage on many of the asbestos-related issues (see Note 18 for information relating to the relcase of one of these insurers
during 2006). Self-insured losses are accrued based upon estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims incurred
using the Company’s historical claims experience. In, 2007, the Company’s workers’ compensation reserve was based on a
discount rate of 5.0% which is not significantly different from the risk free interest rate as of December 31, 2007.

Concentration of Labor Subject to Collective Bargaining Agreements

At December 31, 2007, approximately 11,800 persons were employed by General Cable, and collective bargaining
agreements covered approximately 6,900 employees. or 58% of total employees, at various locations around the world.
During the five calendar ycars ended December 31, 2007, the Company experienced two strikes in North America both of
which were settled on satisfactory terms. There werc no other major strikes at any of the Company’s facilities during the five
years ended December 31, 2007. In the United States, Canada, Venezuela, Brazil and Zambia union contracis will expire at
four facilities in 2008 and six facilities in 2009 representing approximately 5.5% and 10.5%, respectively, of total employees
as of December 31, 2007. The Company believes it will successfully renegotiate these contracts as they come due. For
countries not specifically discussed above, labor agreements are generally negotiated on an annual or bi-annual basis.

Concentration of Credit Risk

General Cable sells a broad range of products globally. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are
limited due to the large number of customers, including members of buying groups, composing General Cable’s customer
base. General Cable customers generally receive a 30 to 60 day payment period on purchases from the Company, with
certain exception in European markets. Certain automotive aflermarket customers of the Company receive payment terms
ranging from 60 days to 199 days, which s common in this particular market. Ongoing credit evaluations of customers’
financial condition are performed, and generally, no collateral is required. General Cable maintains reserves for potential
credit losses and such losses, in the agpregate, have not exceeded management’s estimates. Certain subsidiarics also maintain
credit insurance for certain customer balances. Bad debt expense associated with uncollectible accounts for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $9.7 million, $2.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
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Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes on all transactions that have been recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. Under SFAS 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
the dilferences between the financial statement basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities using ¢nacted tax rates in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized n income in the peried that includes the enactment date.

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that it believes is more likely than
not to be realized. The valuation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on, among other things, the ability of the Company 1o
generate a sufficient level of future taxable income. In estimating future taxable income, the Company has considered both
positive and negative evidence, such as historical and forecasted results of operations, including prior losses, and has
considered the implementation of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. At December 31, 2007, the Company had
recorded a net deferred tax assct of $59.6 million ($135.5 million current deferred tax asset less $75.9 million long term
deferred tax liability). The Company has and will continue to review on a quarterly basis its assumptions and tax planning
strategies, and, il the amount of the estimated realizable net deferred 1ax asset is less than the amount currently on the balance
sheet. the Company would reduce its deferred tax asset. recognizing a non-cash charge against reported earnings. Likewise.
if the Company determines that a valuation allowance against a deferred 1ax asset is no longer appropriate, the adjustment to
the valuation allowance would reduce income tax expense. In 2007 and 2006, the Company determined that improved
business performance, expectations of future profitability, and other relevant factors constituted sufficient positive evidence
to recognize certain foreign and state deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Company released certain valuation allowances
and recognized income tax benefits of approximately $12.2 million in 2007 and $6.3 million in 2006.

In July 2006, FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” was issued. This Interpretation
clarifics accounting for uncertain tax positions in accordance with SFAS No. 109, FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
that a tax positon is required to meet before being recogmized in the financial statements and provides guidance on
derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition
issues. This Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning afier December 15, 2006. The adoption of Interpretation 48
decreased shareholders’ equity as of January [, 2007 by approximately $188 million. See Note |2 for additional
information.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the mcome tax expense line in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.  Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax
liability line item in the consolidated balance sheet.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141R, Business Combinations.  Statement No. 141R establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures in its financial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the labilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. The statement also
provides guidance for recognizing and measuring goodwill acquired in the business combination and determines what
information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. Statement No. 141R is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 31,
2008, Accordingly, any business combination the Company engages in will be recorded and disclosed following existing
GAAP until January 1, 2009. The Company expects Statement No. 141R will have an impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements when effective, but the nature and magnitude of the specific eftects will depend upon the
nature. terms and size of the acquisitions consummated after the effective date. $2.6 million of the $57.8 million Lability for
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31. 2007 relate to tax positions of acquired entities taken prior to their acquisition
by the Company for which the reversal of any such liability prior 10 the adoption of SFAS 141R will affect goodwill. [f such
Habilities reverse subsequent to the adoption of Statement 141R, such reversals will affect the income tax provision in the
period of the reversal.

The Company presents laxes assessed by a governmental authority that are directly imposed on a revenue-producing
transaction between a seller and a customer including, but not limited 10, sales, use. value added, and some excise taxes on a
net basis.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are utilized to manage interest rate, commodity and foreign currency risk as it relates to both
transactions and the Company’s net investment in its European operations, General Cable does not hold or issue derivative
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financial instruments for trading purposes. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, Accourniting For
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended, requires that all derivatives be recorded on the balance sheet at
fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of the derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and
whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. SFAS No. 133, as applied to General Cable’s risk management strategies, may
increase or decrease reported net income, and shareholders’ equity, or both, prospectively depending on changes in interest
rates and other variables affecting the fair value of derivative instruments and hedged items, but will have no effect on cash
flows or economic risk. See further discussion in Note 10.

Foreign currency and commodity contracts that are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges are used to hedge future
sales and purchase commitments. Interest rate swaps that are also designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges are used to
achieve a targeted mix of floating rate and fixed rate debt. The Company’s U.S. dollar to Euro cross currency and interest
rate swap, which expired on November 15, 2007, was designated as and qualified as a net investment hedge of the
Company’s net investment in its European operations and was used to hedge the effects of the changes in spot exchange rates
on the value of the net investment. The swap was marked-to-market quarterly using the “spot method” to measure the
amount of hedge ineffectiveness. Changes in the fair value of the swap as they relate to spot exchange rates were recorded as
other comprehensive income (loss) whereas changes in the fair value of the swap as they relate to the interest rate differential
and the change in interest rate differential since the last marked-to-market date were recognized currently in earnings for the
period.

Unrealized gains and losses on the designated cash flow and net investment hedge financial mstruments identified above are
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until the underlying transaction occurs and is recorded in the statement of
operations at which point such amounts included in other comprehensive income (loss) are recognized in earnings. This
recognition generally will occur over periods of less than one year, except for the recognition of gain (loss) related to the net
investment hedge. At the maturity date, November 15, 2007, the Company paid approximately $30.5 mitlion to settle the net
investment hedge. The unrealized loss recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) may be recorded in the statement of
operations if the Company divests of its European operations.

Shipping and Handling Costs

All shipping and handling amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction are classified as revenue. Shipping and
handling costs associated with storage and handling of finished goods and storage and handling of shipments to custorners are
included in cost of sales and totaled $191.7 million, $102.7 million and $75.8 million, for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Advertising Fxpense

Advertising expense consists of expenses relating to promoting the Company’s products, including trade shows, catalogs, and
e-commerce promotions, and is charged to expense when incurred. Advertising expense was $16.9 million, $8.2 million and
$6.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively.

New Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations, and Statement No. 160,
Nonconirolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. Statement No, 141 (revised 2007) requires an acquirer to
measure the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at their fair
values on the acquisition date, with goodwill being the excess value over the net identifiable assets acquired. This standard
also requires the fair value measurement of certain other assets and liabilities related to the acquisition such as contingencies
and research and development. Statement No. 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary should be reported at
fair value as eguity in the consolidated financial statements. Consolidated net income should include the net income for both
the parent and the noncontrolling interest with disclosure of both amounts on the consolidated statement of income. The
calculation of eamings per share will continue to be based on income amounts attributable to the parent. The Statements are
effective for fiscal years beginming after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 160 and 141(R) on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows,

In February 2007, SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Including an
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, was issued. This statement provides companies an irrevocable option to carry the
majority of financial assets and liabilities at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. The election of the
fair value option is applied on an instrument-by-instrument basis to entire financial assets and liabilities that are individually
transferable in their current form. The statement will require extensive disclosures, including reporting assets and liabilitics
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that are measured at fair value separately on the face of the balance sheet. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning atter November 135, 2007, The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 159 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In May 2007, FASB Staff Position (“FSP™") FIN 48-1, Definition of Settlement in FASE Interpretation No. 48, was issued.
FSP FIN 48-1 provides guidance on how to determine whether a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose of
recognizing previously unrecognized tax benefits. FSP FIN 48-1 is effective retroactively to January 1, 2007, The
implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, was issued. This statement provides a new definition of fair
value that serves to replace and unify old farr value definitions so that consistency on the definition is achieved, and the
definition provided acts as a modification of the current accounting presumption that a transaction price of an asset or
liability equals its initial fair value. The statement also provides a fair value hierarchy used to classify source information
used in fair value measurements that places higher importance on market based sources. New disclosures of assets and
liabitities measured at fair value based on their level in the fair value hierarchy are required by this statement. SFAS No. 157
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Two FASB Staff Positions on
SFAS No. 157 were subsequently issued. On February 12, 2007, FSP No. 157-2 delayed the effective date of this SFAS No.
157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial
statements on a nonrecurring basis. This FSP is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008.  On February
14, 2007, FSP No. 157-1 excluded FASB No. 13 Accounting for Leases and other accounting pronouncements that address
fair valuc measurements for purposes of lease classification or measurement under FASB No. 13. However, this scope
exception does not apply to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination that are required to be measured
at fair value under FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combinations or FASB No. 141R, Business Combinations. This FSP
is effective upon initial adoption of SFAS no. 157, The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No.
157 on its consolidated financial posirion, results of operations and cash flows.

3. Acquisitions and Divestitures

On October 31, 2007, the Company acquired Phelps Dodge International (PDIC), with operations principally located in Latin
America, sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asia. PDIC has manufacturing, distribution and sales facilities in 19 countries
and nearly 3.000 employees. With more than 50 years of experience in the wire and cable industry, PDIC manufactures a full
range of electric utility, electrical infrastructure. construction and communication products. The Company paid
approximately $707.6 million in cash to the sellers in consideration for PDIC and $%.5 million in fees and expenses related to
the acquisition. In 2006, the last full year before the acquisition, PDIC reported global net sales of approximately $1,168.4
miltion (based on average exchange rates).

The following table represents a preliminary purchase price allocation based on the estimated fair values, or other
measurements as applicable, of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as well as the purchase of additional minority

interest, in millions:

October 31, 2007

Cash S 996
Accounts receivable 299.7
Inventories 288.8
Property. plant and equipment 190.3
Intangible assets 237.4
Goodwill 116.1
Other current and noncurrent assets 72.2

Total assets $1,304.1
Current Liabilities $ 3956
Other liabilities 117.0

Total liabilities $ 5126
Minority Interest $ 683
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The Company has not yet finalized portions of the purchase price allocation, which is dependant on, among other things, the
finalization of asset and liability valuations and the related tax impact. Any final adjustment may change the allocation of
purchase price. which could impact the fair value assigned to assets and liabilities, including changes to goodwill and the
amortization of tangible and identifiable intangible assets. Once the valuations are finalized the allocation of purchase price
and its impact on the results of operations may differ materially from the amounts included herein. These valuations are
gxpected to be completed by October 2008. The amount of goodwill recognized for the purchase of PDIC represcnts the
excess of the fair value of identified intangible assets and tangible net assets that is partly attributable to PDIC"s 50 plus years
of experience in the wire and cable industry, its full range of product offerings and its presence in stratcgic locations around
the world. Further, a certain amount of goodwill may be tax deductible in various tax jurisdictions in future periods
depending on the Company making certain tax elections or taking other relevant actions.

The following table presents, in millions, actual consolidated results of operations for the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2007, including the operations of PDIC, and presents the unaudited pro torma consolidated results of
operations for the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 as though the acquisition of PDIC had been
completed as of the beginning of that period. This pro forma information is intended to provide information regarding how
the Company might have looked il the acquisition had occurred as of January 1. 2006. The pro forma adjustments represent
management’s best estimates based on information available at the time the pro forma information was prepared and may
differ from the adjustments that may actually have been required. Accordingly, the pro forma financial information should
not be relied upon as being indicative of the historical results that would have been realized had the acquisition occurred as of
the dates indicated or that may be achieved in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2007 2006
{As reported)  {Pro forma) {Pro forma)
Revenue S 46148 $ 55524 $ 48335
Net income applicable to common shareholders S 2083 $ 2633 S 154.2
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution ) 3.82 $ 4.82 $ 2.96

Pro forma adjustments have been made to interest expense, depreciation and amortization, income taxes and minority interest
in consolidated subsidiaries 1o present the amounts on a purchase accounting adjusted basis.

On April 30, 2007, the Company acquired Norddeutsche Seekabelwerke GmbH & Co. KG ("NSW™), located in Nordenham,
Germany from Corning Incorporated. As a result of the transaction, the Company assumed liabilities in excess of the assets
acquired. including approximately $40.1 million of pension liabilities (based on the prevailing exchange rate at April 30,
2007). The Company recorded procecds of $28.0 million, net of $0.8 million fees and expenses, which included $12.3
million of cash acquired and $5.5 million for settlement of accounts receivable.

A preliminary purchase price allocation based on the estimated fair values, or other measurements as applicable, of the assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition is as follows (in millions at the prevailing exchange rate at April
30, 2007):

As of
April 30, 2007

Cash S 123
Accounts receivable 27.8
Inventories 29.2
Property, plant and equipment 2.2
Other current and noncurrent assets 0.3
Total assets S 718

Current liabilities $ 405
Other liabilities 1.4
Pension liabitities 40.1
Total liabilities $ 82.0
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The Company has not yet finalized portions of the purchase price allocation, including extemal valuations, and certain
closing settlement adjustments in establishing the acquisition opening balance sheet. These valuations are expected to be
completed by April 30, 2008 for inclusion in the Company's second quarter filing on Form 10-Q, and may result in changes
to the value assigned above to property, plant and equipment and result in the recognition of intangible assets or a gain on the
consolidated statement of operations.

NSW had revenues of approximately $120 miilion in 2006 (based on 2006 average exchange rates) and has approximately
400 employces. NSW offers complete solutions for submarine cable systems including manufacturing, engineering, seabed
mapping, project management, and installation for the offshore communications, energy exploration, transmission,
distribution, and alternative energy markets. Pro forma results of the NSW acquisition are not material.

On August 31, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of E.C.N. Cable Group, S.L. (“ECN Cable™) for a final
purchase price of $13.2 million in cash and the assumption of $38.6 million in ECN Cable debt (at prevailing exchange rates
during the period), including fees and expenses and net of cash acquired. ECN Cable is based in Bilbao, Spain and employs
approximately 200 associates. In 2005, the last full year prior to acquisition, ECN Cable reported global sales of
approximately $71.5 million (based on 2005 average exchange rates) mostly on sales of aluminum aerial high-voltage and
extra-high-voltage cables, low- and medium-voliage insulated power cables and bimetallic products used in electric
transmission and communications. Pro forma results of the ECN Cable acquisition are not material.

On December 22, 2005, the Company completed its purchase of the shares of the wire and cable manufacturing business of
SAFRAN SA, a diverse, global high technology company. The acquired business is known under the name Silec Cable,
S.AS. (“Silec”™) and is based in Montereau, France. [n 2005, prior to the acquisition date, Silec reported global sales of
approximaitely $282.7 million (based on 2005 average exchange rates) of which about 52% were linked to electric utility and
electrical infrastructure, The original consideration paid for the acquisition was approximately $82.8 million (at prevailing
exchange tates during that pertod) including fees and expenses and net of cash acquired at closing. In accordance with the
terms of the definitive share purchase agreement, the Company withheid approximately 15% of the purchase price at ¢losing
until the parties agreed on the final closing balance sheet. During the second quarter of 2006, the Company agreed on the
closing balance sheet and resolved other claims with SAFRAN SA, and therefore, the Company paid additional consideration
of approximately $13.7 million (at prevailing exchange rates during the period) including fees and expenses in final
settlement of the acquisition price. The Company acquired Silec primarily a step in the positioning of the Company as a
global leader in cabling systems for the energy exploration, production, transmission and distribution markets.

The final purchase price allocation based on the estimated fair values, or other measurements as applicable, of the assets
acquired and the habilities assumed at the date of acquisition is as follows (in millions at the prevailing exchange rate for that
date):

As of
December 22, 2005

Cash g 1.4
Accounts receivable 113.5
Inventories 491
Prepaid expenses and other 8.4
Property, plant and equipment 82
Other noncurrent assets 7.0
Total assets $ 1876
Accounts payable § 43
Accrued habilities 40.0
Other liabilities 7.6
Total liabilities § 50.7

The values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets reflected above have been adjusted for the pro rata
allocation (based on their relative fair values) of the excess of the fair value of acquired net assets over the cost of the
acquisition. No significant intangible assets were identified. The Company finalized the opening balance sheet during the
fourth quarter of 2006 by recording deferred tax accounting and pension liability adjustments based on final analyses and
actuarial updates in these accounting areas.
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No in-process research and development costs were identified to be written-off,

The following table presents, in millions, actual consolidated results of operations for the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2006, including the operations of Silec, and presents the unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations
for the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 as though the acquisition of Silec had been completed as of the
beginning of that period. This pro forma information is intended to provide information regarding how the Company might
have looked if the acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2005. The pro forma adjustments represent management’s best
estimates based on information available at the time the pro forma information was prepared and may differ from the
adjustments that may actually have been required. Accordingly, the pro forma financial information should not be relied
upon as being indicative of the historical results that would have been realized had the acquisition occurred as of the dates
indicated or that may be achieved in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
(As reported) (Pro forma)
Revenue % 3,665.1 £ 2.660.0
Net income applicable to common shareholders ) 135.0 ¥ 18.2
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution S 2.60 5 0.43

The pro forma results reflect immaterial pro forma adjustments for interest expense, depreciation and related income taxes in
order to present the amounts on a purchase accounting adjusted basis. These pro forma results also include an estimated 4.6
million of corporate costs allocated by SAFRAN SA to Silec during the year ended December 31, 2005. Certain overhead
costs previously incurred on behalf of and allocated to Silec by SAFRAN SA were incurred directly by Silec in 2006.

The results of operations of the acquired businesses discussed above have been included in the consolidated financial
statements since the respective dates of acquisition.

4. Other Expense

Other expense includes foreign currency transaction gains or losses, which result from changes in exchange rates between the
designated functional currency and the currency in which a transaction is denominated. During 2007, 2006 and 2003, the
Company recorded a $3.4 million loss. $0.1 million loss and a $0.5 million loss, respectively, resulting from foreign currency
transaction gains and losses.

5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31,

2007 2006
Raw materials § 1455 5 736
Work in process 154.3 949
Finished goods 629.0 394.6
Total S 9288 S 3563.1

At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, $616.6 million and $436.7 million, respectively, of inventories were valued
using the LIFO method. Approximate replacement costs of inventories valued using the LIFO method totaled $792.3 million
at December 31, 2067 and $632.3 mtllion at December 31, 2006,

If in some future period the Company was not able to recover the LIFO value of its inventory when replacement costs were
lower than the LIFO value of the inventory, the Company would be required to record a lower of cost or market LIFO
inventory adjustment to recognize the charge in its consolidated statement of operations. In 2007, a $4.5 million lower of
cost or market provision was recorded for copper and aluminum raw malerial inventory obtained as a result of the PDIC
acquisition in which the replacement costs at the end of the year were lower than the LIFO value of the acquired copper and
aluminum raw material inventory. There was no lower of cost or market provision recorded in 2006 or 2005.

85



GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

During 2006, the Company increased copper and aluminum inventory quantities and thercfore there was not a liquidation of
LIFOQ inventory impact tn this period. During 2007, the Company reduced copper and aluminum inventory quantities
globally which resulted in a $0.1 million gain because the LIFO inventory decrement occurred in a period when replacement
costs were higher than the LIFO value of the inventory.

AL December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had approximately $38.8 million and $33.4 million, respectively of
consignment inventory at locations not operated by the Company with approximately 74% and 79%. respectively, of the

consignment inventory being located throughout the United States and Canada.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31.

2007 2006

Land $ 844 § 391
Buildings and lecasehold improvements 186.7 76.0
Machinery, equipment and office furnishings 670.9 518.4
Construction in progress 95.0 19.5
Total - gross book value 1,037.0 653.0
Less accumulated depreciation (298.2) (236.3)
Total - net book value $ 73838 $ 4167

Depreciation expense totaled $55.8 million, $45.5 mitlion and $47.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

During the fourth quarter 2007, the Company rationalized outside plant telecommunication products manufacturing capacity
due to continued declines in telecommunications cable demand. The Company closed a portion of its telecommunications
capacity located primarily at its Tetla, Mexico facility and has taken a pre-tax charge to write-off certain production
equipment of $6.6 million. This action will free approximately 100,000 square feet of manufacturing space, which the
Company plans to utilize for other products for the Central and South American markets.

On December 27, 2005, General Cable entered into a capital lease for certain pieces of equipment being used at the
Company’s Indianapolis polymer plant. The capital lease agreement provides that the lease payments tor the machinery and
equipment will be approximately $0.6 million semi-annually. or approximately $1.2 million on an annual basis. The lease
expires in December of 2010, and General Cable has the option to purchase the machinery and equipment for fair value at the
end of the Tease term. The present value of the minimum lease payments on the capital lease at inception was approximately
$5.0 million that has been reflected in fixed assets and in short-term and long-term lease obligations, as appropriate. in the
Company's balance sheet. The Company has not entered into a material capital lease in 2006 or 2007.

Capital leases included within property. plant and equipment on the balance sheet were $5.7 million at December 31, 2007
and at December 31. 2006. Accumulated depreciation on capital leases was $2.5 million at December 31, 2007 and $1.6
million at December 31, 2006,

7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, net

The amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets were as follows in millions of dollars:
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December 31

2007 2006
Goodwill $lte.l S -
Unamortized intangible assets:
Trade names 1329 0.5
Amortized intangible assets:
Customer relationships 106.4 1.4
Accumulated Depreciation (2.6) (0.2)
Total Amortized intangible assets 103.8 1.2
Total intangible assets $236.7 5 1.7

The amount of goodwill recognized for the PDIC acquisition reflects the fair market value of PDIC in excess of the fair value
of identified intangible assets and tangible net assets. As part of that acquisition, the Company acquired certain trade names
and customer relationships for which the fair market value as of' October 31, 2007 has been estimated to be $132.4 million
and $104.9 million, respectively. Amortized intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006. Customer relationships have been determined to have a useful life in the range of 4 to 8 years
and are amortized based on historical customer attrition rates. The amortization of intangible assets in 2007 and 2006 was
$2.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively. The estimated amortization expense for the next five years is in millions of
dollars: 2008 - $14.7 million, 2009 - $14.7 million, 2010 - $14.6 million, 2011 - $14.2 millien, and 2012 - $11.8 million and
$33.7 million thereafter.

8. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31,
2007 2006
Payroll related accruals 3 874 $ 576
Customers deposits and prepayments 342 228
Taxes other than income 26.5 18.8
Customer rebates 93.0 65.8
Insurance clatms and related expenses 23.5 12,3
Current deferred tax liability 28.8 0.3
Other accrued liabilities 133.9 106.7
Total $ 4273 $ 2843
9. Restructuring Charges
Changes in accrued restructuring costs were as follows (in millions):
Severance and Facility

Related Costs Closing Costs Total

Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 0.5 S 1.2 S 1.7

Provisions, net of reversals 3.2 15.4 18.6
Utilization 2.7) (16.1) {18.8)

Balance, December 31, 2005 1.0 0.5 1.5
Provisions, net of reversals (0.2) - (0.2)
Utilization (0.8) {0.5) {1.3)

Balance, December 31, 2006 - - -

Provisions, net of reversals - - -

Utilization - - -

Balance, December 31, 2007 $ - $ - ) -
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The December 31, 2005 balance represents previously acerued costs related to the Company’s discontinued operations and
the closure of certain North American manufacturing facilities in prior years. The utilization of these provisions during 2006
was 30.8 million of severance and related costs and $0.5 million of facility closing costs, representing the final costs related
to these projects. No new closure projects occurred in 2006 or 2007.

During 2003, the Company closed one plant in its Telecommunications business located in Bonham, Texas, and one plant in
its Networking business in Dayville, Connecticut. The Company determined that the efficient utilization of its manufacturing
assets would be enhanced by closure of the Bonham facility, which employed approximately 170 associates at the
announcement date and was comprised of more than 360,000 square feet of space, and relocation of production of the
Dayville facility, which employed approximatety 30 associates at the announcement date and was comprised of more than
87.000 square feet of space, to the Company’s newly acquired plant in Franklin, Massachusetts, and as of December 31,
2005, production had ceased at both locations. The closure and relocation of these facilitics was substantially completed as
of December 31, 2005 and was fully completed as of December 31, 2006.

Costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 related to these closures were $3.2 million for severance and related costs and
$15.4 million of facility closing costs, which included $11.1 million for accelerated depreciation which was included in
depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and a $(0.5) million gain from the sale of a
previously closed manufacturing plant. The costs associated with this project, including the $(0.5) million gain, of $18.6
million (of which approximately $7.5 million were cash costs), were recorded in cost of sales in the corporate segment for the
year ended December 31, 2005,

It should be noted that there are no additional obligations as it relates to the production equipment pre-tax write-off of $6.6
million in the fourth quarter 2007 related to telecommunication products manufactured primarily at the Company’s Tetla,
Mexico facility. Therefore the Company has not recorded a restructuring reserve at December 31, 2007 as all equipment and
related expenses have been incurred and recorded in the current period.

10. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following (in millions):

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
2007 2006
1.00% Senior Convertible Notes due 2012 $475.0 b -
0.875% Convertible Notes 355.0 355.0
7.125% Senior Notes due 2017 200.0 -
Senior Floating Rate Notes 125.0 -
Spanish Term Loan 313 339
Asset Based Loan 60.0 -
PDIC credit facilities 37.7 -
9.5% Senior Notes due 2010 - 285.0
Capital leases 34 43
Other 111.4 62.4
Total debt 1,398.8 740.6
Less current maturities 500.9 55.5
Long-term debt $ 897.9 $ 685.1
Weighted average interest rates on the above outstanding balances were as follows:
1.00% Senior Convertible Notes due 2012 1.00% -
0.875% Convertible Notes 0.875% 0.875%
7.125% Senior Notes due 2017 7.125% -
Senior Floating Ratc Notes 7.6% -
Spanish Term Loan 5.1% 4.6%
Asset Based Loan 6.3% -
PDIC credit facilities 6.4% -
9.5% Senior Notes due 2010 9.5% 9.5%
Capital leases 6.5% 6.5%
Other 4.6% 3.8%
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1.00% Senior Convertible Notes

The Company’s 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes were issued in September 2007 in the amount of $475.0 million. The Notes
were sold to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act’). The Notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes have not been registered under the
Securities Act or any state securities laws. In conjunction with this issuance, the Company agreed to enter into a registration
rights agreement whereby the Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause o become effective within
240 days after the closing of this offering a shelf registration statement with respect to the resale of the notes and the shares
of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes. The Company agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to
keep the registration statement effective until the earliest of: (1) the sale pursuant to the shelf registration statement of the
notes and all of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes, (2) the date when the holders, other than
holders that are affiliates, of the notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes are able to sell all such
securities immediately without restriction pursuant to the volume limitation provisions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act
or any successor rule thereto or otherwise, and (3) the date that is two years from the latest issuance of the notes offered. The
Company may be required to pay additionat interest, subject to some limitations, to the holders of the notes if the Company
fails to comply with our obligations to register the notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes within
the specified time periods. The 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 1.00%, payable scmi-annually
in arrears, and mature in 2012, The 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes are unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on
a senior unsecured basis, by the Company’s wholly-owned U.S, subsidiaries. The estimated fair value of the 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes was approximately $533.6 million at December 31, 2007.

The 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holder into the Company’s commen stock at an
initial conversion price of $83.93 per share (approximating 11.9142 shares per 31,000 principal amount of the 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes), upon the occurrence of certain events, including (i) during any calendar quarter commencing after March
31, 2008 in which the closing price of the Company’s common stock is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price
for at least 20 trading days during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the preceding
calendar quarter (establishing a contingent conversion price of $109.11); (ii) during any five business day period after any
five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of 1.00% Senior Convertible
Notes for each day of that period is less than 38% of the product of the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock
and the applicable conversion rate; (iii) distributions to holders of the Company’s commen stock are made or upon specified
corporate transactions including a consolidation or merger; and (iv) at any time during the period beginning on September 15,
2012 and ending on the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the stated maturity date. In addition,
upon events defined as a “fundamental change™ under the 1.00% Senior Convertible Note indenture, holders of the 1.00%
Senior Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase the 1.00% Senier Convertible Notes. 1l upon the
occurrence of such events in which the holders of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes exercise the conversion provisions, the
Company would need to remit the principal balance of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes to the holders in cash.

Therefore, in the event of “fundamental change” or the aforementioned average pricing thresholds, the Company would be
required to classify the entire amount outstanding of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes as a current liability. The
evaluation of the classification of amounts outstanding associated with the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes will occur every
quarter.

Upon conversion, a holder will receive, in licu of common stock, an amount of cash equal to the lesser of (i) the principal
amount of 1.00% Senior Convertible Note, or (ii) the conversion value, determined in the manner set forth in the indenture
governing the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, of a number of shares equal to the conversion rate. If the conversion value
exceeds the principal amount of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Note on the conversion date, the Company will also deliver, at
the Company’s election, cash or common stock or a combination of cash and common stock with respect to the conversion
value upon conversion. 1f conversion occurs in connectton with a “fundamental change” as defined in the 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes indenture, the Company may be required to repurchase the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes for cash at a
price equal to the principal amount plus accrued but unpaid interest. In addition, if conversion occurs in connection with
certain changes in control, the Company may be required to deliver additional shares of the Company’s common stock (a
“make whole™ premium, not to exceed 15.1906 shares per $1,000 principal amount) by increasing the conversion rate with
respect to such notes, under this scenario the maximum aggregate number of shares that the Company would be obligated to
issue upon conversion of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes is 7,215,535, Under almost all other conditions. the Company
may be obligated 10 issue additional shares up to a maximum of 5,659,245 upon conversion in full of the 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes.
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Pursuant to Emerging lssues Task Force (“EITF™) 90-19, “Convertible Bonds with Issuer Option to Settle for Cash upon
Conversion.” EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a
Company’s Own Stock™ (“EITF 00-197), and EITF 01-6, “The Meaning of Indexed o0 a Company’s Own Stock™ (“EITF 01-
6"), the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes are accounted for as convertible debt in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheet and the embedded conversion option in the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes has not been accounted for as a separate
derivative. For a discussion of the effects of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes on carnings per share, see Note 16.

Proceeds from the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes were used to partially fund the purchase price of $707.6 million related (o
the PDIC acquisition and to pay approximately $12.3 million in debt issuance costs that are being amortized to interest
expense over the term of the 1.00 %4 Senior Convertible Notes.

0.875% Convertible Notes

The Company’s 0.875% Convertible Notes were issued in November of 2006 in the amount of $355.0 million, pursuant to
the Company’s effective Registration Statement on Form S-3. The 0.875% Convertible Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of
0.875%. pavable semi-annually in arrears. and mature in 2013. The 0.875% Convertible Notes are unconditionally
guarantecd. jointly and severally, on a senior unsccured basis. by the Company’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries. The
estimated fair value of the 0.875% Convertible Notes was approximately $572.2 million at December 31, 2007.

The 0.875% Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holder into the Company’s common stock at an initial
conversion price of $50.36 per share {approximating 19.856 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the 0.875% Convertible
Notes). upon the occurrence of certain events, including (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after March 31, 2007 in
which the closing price of the Company’s common stock is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price for at Jeast
20 trading days during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the preceding calendar
quarter {cstablishing a contingent conversion price of $65.47 per share): (1) during any five business day period after any five
consecutive trading day period in which the rrading price per $1.000 principal amount of 0.875% Convertible Notes for each
day of that period 1s less than 98% of the product of the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock and the
applicable conversion rate: (iii} distributions to holders of the Company’s common stock are made or upoen specified
corporale transactions including a consolidation or merger; and (iv) at any time during the period beginning on October 15,
2013 and ending on the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the stated maturity date. In addition,
upon events defined as a “fundamental change™ under the 0.875% Convertible Note indenture. holders of the 0.875%
Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase the 0.875% Convertible Notes, 1f upon the occurrence of such
events in which the holders of the 0.875% Convertible Notes exercise the conversion provisions, the Company would need to
remit the principal balance of the 0.875% Convertible Notes to the holders in cash.

Therefore, in the event of ““fundamental change’ or the aforementioned average pricing thresholds, the Company would be
required to classify the entire amount outstanding of the 0.875% Convertible Notes as a current hability, The cvaluation of
the classification of amounts outstanding associated with the 0.875% Convertible Notes will occur every quarter. As a result
the entire $355.0 million has been classified as a current liability as of December 31, 2007 because the average stock price
has exceeded the conversion threshold of $63.47 for 20 trading days during the peried of 30 consecutive trading days ending
on the last trading day of the previous calendar quarter.

Upon conversion, a holder will receive, in lieu of common stock, an amount of cash equal to the lesser of (i) the principal
amount of 0.875% Convertible Note, or (i1} the conversion value, determined in the manner set forth in the indenture
governing the 0.875% Convertible Notes, of a number of shares equal to the conversion rate. If the conversion value exceeds
the principal amount of the 0.875% Convertible Note on the conversion date. the Company will also deliver, at the
Company’s clection, cash or common stock or a combination of cash and common stock with respect to the conversion value
upon conversion. [f conversion occurs in connection with a “fundamental change™ as defined in the 0.875% Convertible
Notes indenture, the Company may be required 1o repurchase the 0.875% Convertible Notes for cash at a price equal to the
principal amount plus accrued but unpaid interest. In addition, it conversion occurs in connection with certain changes in
control, the Company may be required to deliver additional shares of the Company’s common stock (a “make whole™
premium) by increasing the conversion rate with respect (o such notes, under this scenario the maximum aggregate number of
shares that the Company would be obligated to issuc upon conversion of the 0.875% Convertible Notes is 8.987.322. Under
almost all other conditions, the Company may be obligated to issue additional shares up to a maximum of 7,048 880 upon
conversion in full of the 0.875% Convertible Notes.
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Pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 90-19, “Convertible Bonds with Issuer Option to Settle for Cash upon
Conversion,” EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a
Company’s Own Stock” (“EITF 00-197), and EITF 01-6, “The Meaning of Indexed to a Company’s Own Stock™ (“ELTF 01-
6”), the 0.875% Convertible Notes are accounted for as convertible debt in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheet and the embedded conversion option in the 0.875% Convertible Notes has not been accounted for as a separate
derivative. For a discussion of the effects of the 0.875% Convertible Notes and the bond hedges and warrants discussed
below on earnings per share, see Note 16,

Concurrent with the sale of the 0.875% Convertible Notes, the Company purchased note hedges that are designed to mitigate
potential dilution from the conversion of the 0.875% Convertible Notes in the event that the market value per share of the
Company's common stock at the time of exercise is greater than approximately $50.36. Under the note hedges that cover
approximately 7,048 880 shares of the Company’s common stock, the counterparties are required to deliver to the Company
either shares of the Company’s common stock or cash in the amount that the Company delivers to the holders of the 0.875%
Convertible Notes with respect to a conversion, calculated exclusive of shares deliverable by the Company by reason of any
additional make whole premium relating to the 0.875% Convertible Notes or by reason of any election by the Company to
unilaterally increase the conversion rate as permitted by the indenture governing the 0.875% Convertible Notes. The note
hedges expire at the close of trading on November {5, 2013, which is also the maturity date of the 0.875% Convertible Notes,
although the counterparties will have ongoing obligations with respect to 0.875% Convertible Notes properly converted on or
prior to that date as to which the counterparties have been timely notified.

In addition, the Company issucd warrants to counterparties that could require the Company to issue up to approximately
7.048,880 shares of the Company’s common stock in equal instaliments on each of the fifteen consecutive business days
beginning on and including February 13, 2014 (European style). The strike price is $76.00 per share, which represents a
92.4% premium over the closing price of the Company’s shares of common stock on November 9, 2006. The warrants are
expected to provide the Company with some protection against increases in the common stock price over the conversion
price per share.

The note hedges and warrants are separate and legally distinct instruments that bind the Company and the counterparties and
have no binding effect on the holders of the 0.875% Convertible Notes. In addition, pursuant to EITF 00-19 and EITF 01-6,
the note hedges and warrants are accounted for as equity transactions. Therefore, the payment associated with the issuance of
the note hedges and the proceeds received from the issuance of the warrants were recorded as a charge and an increase,
respectively, in additional paid-in capital in shareholders’ equity as separate equity transactions.

For income tax reporting purposes, the Company has clected to integrate the 0.875% Convertible Notes and the note hedges.
Integration of the note hedges with the 0.875% Convertible Notes creates an original issue discount ("OID”) debt instrument
for income tax reporting purposes. Therefore, the cost of the note hedges will be accounted for as interest expense over the
term of the 0.875% Convertible Notes for income tax reporting purposes. The associated income tax benefits that are
recognized for financial reporting purposes will be recognized as a reduction in the income tax provision in the periods that
the deductions are taken for income tax reporting purposcs.

Proceeds from the offering were used to pay down $87.8 million outstanding, including accrued interest, under the
Company’s Amended Credit Facility, to pay $124.5 million for the cost of the note hedges, and to pay approximately $9.4
million in debt issuance costs that are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the 0.875% Convertible Notes.
Additionally, the Company received $80.4 million in proceeds from the issuance of the warrants. At the conclusion of these
transactions, the net effect of the receipt of the funds from the 0.875% Convertible Notes and the payments and proceeds
mentioned above was an increase in cash of approximately $213.7 million, which is being used by the Company for general
corporate purposes including acquisitions.

7.125% Senior Notes and Senior Floating Rate Notes

On March 21, 2007, the Company completed the issuance and sale of $325.0 million in aggregate principal amount of new
senior unsecured notes, comprised of $125.0 million of Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2015 (the *Senior Floating Rate
Notes”) and $200.0 million of 7.125% Senior Fixed Rate Notes due 2017 (the “7.125% Senior Notes” and together, the
“Notes™). The Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed by the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries. The Notes were oftered and
sold in private transactions in accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act™). An exchange offer commenced on June 11, 2007 and was completed on July 26, 2007 to replace the
unregistered Notes with registered Notes with like terms pursuant to an cffective Registration Statement on Form S5-4. The
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Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed by the Company’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries. The estimated fair value of
the 7.125% Senior Notes and Senior Floating Rate Notes was approximately $S197 million and $120 million, respectively. at
December 31, 2007.

The Senior Floating Rate Notes bear interest at an annual rate equal to the 3-month LIBOR rate plus 2.375%, which was
7.6% at December 31, 2007, Interest on the Senior Floating Rate Notes is payable quarterly in arrears in cash on January 1.
April 1. July I and October | of each year, commencing on July 1, 2007. The 7.125% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of
7.125% per year and are payable semi-annually in arrears in cash on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on
October 1, 2007. The Senior Floating Rate Notes mature on April 1, 2015 and the 7.125% Senior Notes mature on April 1,
2017.

The Notes™ indenture contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiartes to (1} pay
dividends on, redeem or repurchase the Company’s capital stock; (ii} incur additional indebtedness; (iii) make investments;
(iv) create liens; (v) sell assets; (vi) engage in certain transactions with afliliates; (vii) create or designate unrestricted
subsidiartes; and (viii) consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all assets. However, these covenants are subject to
important exceptions and qualifications, one of which will permit the Company to declare and pay dividends or distributions
on the Series A preferred stock so long as there is no default on the Notes and the Company meets certain financial
conditions.

The Company may. at its option, redeem the Senior Floating Rate Notes and 7.125% Senior Notes on or after the following
dates and at the tollowing percentages plus accrued and unpaid interest:

Senior Floating Rate Notes 7.125% Senior Notes
Beginning Date Percentage Beginning Date Percentage
April 1, 2009 102.000% April 1.2012 103.563%
April 1, 2010 101.000% April 1, 2013 102.375%
April 1, 2011 100.000% April 1, 2014 101.188%
April 1,2015 100.000%

Proceeds from the Notes of $325.0 million, less approximately $7.9 million of cash payments for fees and expenses that will
be amortized over the life of the Notes, were used to pay approximately $285.0 million for the 9.5% Senior Notes, $9.3
million for acerued interest on the 9.5% Senior Notes and $26.5 million for tender fees and the inducement premium on the
9.5% Senior Notes, leaving net cash proceeds of approximately $2.3 million that will be used for general corporate purposes,
see 9.5% Senior Notes below for additional discussion.

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility ("Amended Credit Facility ")

The Company’s current senior secured revolving credit facility (“Amended Credit Facility™), as amended, is a five-year,
$400.0 million asset based revolving credit agreement that includes an approximate $30.0 million sublimit for the issuance of
commercial and standby letters of credit and a $20.0 million sublimit for swingline toans. Loans under the Amended Credit
Facility bear interest at the Company’s option, equal to either an alternate base rate (prime plus 0.00% to 0.625%) or an
adjusted LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin percentage (LIBOR plus 1.125% to 1.875%). The applicable margin
percentage i1s subject to adjustments based upon the excess availability, as defined. At December 31, 2007, the Company had
outstanding borrowings of $60.0 million of Asset Based Loans and undrawn availability of $266.1 million under the
Amended Credit Facility. The Company had outstanding letters of credit related to this Amended Credit Facility of $40.4
million at December 31, 2007. The weighted average inlerest rate on borrowings outstanding under the Amended Credit
Facility was 6.79% as of December 31, 2007.

Indebtedness under the Amended Credit Facility is guaranteed by the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries and is secured by a first
priority security interest in tangible and intangibie property and assets of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries. The lenders have
also received a pledge of all of the capital stock of the Company’s existing domestic subsidiaries and any future domestic
subsidiaries.

The Amended Credit Facility requires that the Company comply with certain financial covenants, the principal covenant of
which is a quarterly minimum fixed charge coverage ratio test, which is only applicable when excess availability, as defined,
is below a certain threshold. At December 31, 2007, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the Amended
Credit Facility. In addition, the Amended Credit Facility includes negative covenants, which restrict certain acts. However,
the Company will be permitted to declare and pay dividends or distributions on the Series A preferred stock so long as there
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is no default under the Amended Credit Facility and the Company meets certain financial conditions. The Credit Facility was
originally established in November 2003 and has becn periodically amended as illustrated at Exhibits 10.11.1 through
10.11.4, also below is a summary of recent amendments which are also incorporated by reference at Exhibits 10.11.5 through
10.11.7.

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company further amended the Amended Credit Facility. The amendment permitted the
Company to issue senior notes of up to $350.0 million on an unsecured basis, to enter into certain hedging agreements to
exchange up to $100.0 million of any fixed rate of interest on the senior notes for a floating rate and extend or replace
existing hedging agreements, to effect a cash tender offer to purchase at least a majority of the $285.0 million outstanding
aggregate principal balance of the 9.5% Senior Notes, to pay fees and expenses related to the tender offer. and to replenish a
basket which would allow the Company to repurchase up to $125.0 million of its outstanding shares of common stock. This
basket had previously been used to purchase the note hedges discussed below.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company further amended the Amended Credit Facility, which increased the
borrowing limit on the Senior Revolving Credit Facility from $300 million to $400 million. Additionally, the amendment
extended the maturity date by almost two years to July 2012, and increased ihe existing interest rales across a pricing grid
which is dependent upon excess availability as defined. Additionally, the amendment eliminated or relaxed several
provisions, expanded permitted indebtedness to include acquired indebtedness of newly acquired foreign subsidiaries,
expanded permitted indebtedness to allow for the issuance of the Company’s $475.0 million 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes
and increased the level of permitted loan-funded acquisitions. The amendment permitted the Company to draw funds from
its Amended Credit Facility to partially fund the acquisition of Phelps Dodge International (PDIC) in conjunction with funds
raised through the abovementioned September 2007 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes offering and available cash on the
Company’s balance sheet.

The Company pays fees in connection with the issuance of letters of credit and commitment fees equal to 25 basis points, per
annum on any unused commitments under the Amended Credit Facility. Both fees are payable quarterly. In connection with
the original issuance and related subsequent amendments to the Amended Credit Facility, the Company incurred fees and
expenses aggregating $11.1 million, which are being amortized over the term of the Amended Credit Facility.

Spanistt Term Loan and Spanish Credit Facility

The Spanish Term Loan of 50 mullion euros was issued in December 2005 and was available in up to three tranches, with an
interest rate of Eurtbor plus 0.8% to 1.5% depending on certain debt ratios. Two of the tranches have cxpired. The
remaining tranche of the Spamish Term Loan is repayable in fourteen semi-annual installments, maturing seven yecars
following the draw down in 2012. As of December 31, 2007, the U.S. dollar equivalent of $31.3 million was drawn under
this term loan facility and no availability remains under the Spanish Term Loan.

The Spanish Credit Facility of 25 million euros was issued in December 2005, matures at the end of five years and carries an
interest rate of Euribor plus 0.6% to 1.0% depending on certain debt ratios. No funds are currently drawn under the Spanish
Credit Facility, leaving undrawn availability of approximately the U.S. dollar equivalent of $36.5 million as of December 31,
2007. Commitment fees ranging from 15 to 25 basis points per annum on any unused commitments under the Spanish Credit
Facility will be assessed to Grupo General Cable Sistemas, S.A., and arc payable on a quarterly basis.

The Spanish Term Loan and Spanish Credit Facility are subject to certain financial ratios of the Company’s European
subsidiaries. the most restrictive of which is net debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization). At December 31, 2007, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under these facilities. In addition,
the indebtedness under the combined facilities is guaranteed by the Company’s Portuguese subsidiary and by Silec Cable,
S.A.

PDIC credit facilities

On October 31, 2007 the Company acquired PDIC and assumed the U.S. dollar equivalent of $64.3 million (at the prevailing
exchange rate on that date) of mostly short-term PDIC debt as a part of the acquisition. As of December 31, 2007, PDIC
related debt was $37.7 million of which approximately $36.2 million was short-term financing agreements at various interest
rates. The weighted average interest rate was 6.4% as of December 31, 2007. The Company has approximately $302.2
million of excess availability under the various credit facilities.
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9.5% Senior Notes

The Company commenced a cash tender offer (the “Offer”} o purchase, at $1.070.72 (per $1,000.00 9,5% Senior Note), any
and all of the $285.0 million outstanding aggregate principal amount of the 9.5% Senior Notes that were issued in November
2003, bore nterest at a fixed rate of 9.5% and matured in 2010, Also. in conjunction with the Offer. the Company received
consent, on March 15, 2007, to effect certain amendments 1o the indenture governing the 9.5% Senior Notes that eliminated
substantially all of the restrictive covenants. The 9.5% Senior Notes were tendered on March 2007 and November 2007, with
the Company making total cash payments of approximately $285.0 million for the 9.5% Senior Notes, $9.3 million for
accrued interest and $28.4 million for the inducement premium and related fees, The Company recognized a pre-tax loss on
the extinguishment of debt of approximately $25.3 million, consisting of $20.5 million for the inducement premiuvm and
retated tender fees and expenses and the write-oit of approximately $4.8 million in unamortized fees and expenses,

Other

On August 31, 2006, the Company acquired ECN Cable and assumed the U.S. dollar equivalent of $38.6 nullion (at
prevailing exchange rates on that date) of mostly short-term ECN Cable debt as a pant of the acquisition. On December 15,
2006, approximately $6.9 million (at the prevailing exchange rate on that date) of debt was paid and cancelled. As of
December 31. 2007, ECN Cablc’s debt was the U.S. dollar equivalent of $27.7 million. The debt consisted of approximately
£2.5 million relating 10 an uncommitted accounts receivable facility and approximately $25.2 million of short-term financing
agreements at various interest rates. In addition, ECN Cable has an 11 million euors (S16.1 million US dollar equivalent)
debt lacility that charges interest at Euribor plus 0.5%. No funds are currently drawn under this facility.

The Company’s Europe and North Africa segment has approximately $138.8 million of uncommitted facilities that are
secured hy the respective company’s accounts receivable. At December 31, 2007, $46.7 million (including $2.5 million at
ECN. mentioned above) ol these debt tacilnies were drawn.

At December 31, 2007, maturities of long-term debt during each of the years 2008 through 2012 are $499.8 million, $7.8
million. $66.3 million. $36.2 million and $481.2 million, respectively, and $334.0 mitlion thereafter.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006. the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

Maturities of capital lease obligations during each of the years 2008 through 2011 are $1.1 million. $1.1 million, $1.1 million
and $0.1 million. respectively,

11. Financial Instruments

General Cable is exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, foreign currency and raw material
{commodity) prices. To manage risks associated with the volatility of these natural business exposures, General Cable enters
into interest rate. commodity and foreign currency derivative agreements, as it relates to both transactions and the Company’s
net investment in its European operations, as well as copper and aluminum forward pricing agreements. General Cable does
not purchase or sell derivative instruments for trading purposes. General Cable does not engage in trading activities
involving commodity contracts for which a lack of marketplace quotations would necessitate the use of fair value estimation
techmiques.

Cash Flow Hedges

General Cable has utilized interest rate swaps and interest rate collars to manage its interest expense exposure by fixing its
interest rate on a portion of the Company's floating rate debt. Under the swap agreements, General Cable typically paid a
fixed rate while the counterparty paid 10 General Cable the difference between the fixed rate and the three-month LIBOR
rate. During 2001, the Company entered into several interest rate swaps which effectively lixed interest rates for borrowings
under the former credit facility and other debt. At December 31, 2007, the remaining outstanding interest rate swap had a
notional value of $9.0 million. an interest rate of 4.49% and matures in October 20t 1. The Company does not provide or
receive any collateral specifically for this contract. The fair value of interest rate derivatives, which are designated as and
qualify as cash flow hedges as defined in SFAS No. 133, are based on quoted market prices and third party provided
calculations, which reflect the present values of the difference between estimated future variable-rate receipts and future
fixed-rate payments. At December 31. 2007 and 2006. the net unrealized loss on the interest rate derivatives and the refated
carrying value was $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
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Outside of North America, General Cable enters into commodity futures contracts, which are designated as and qualify as
cash flow hedges as defined in SFAS No. 133, for the purchase of copper and aluminum for delivery in a future month to
match certain sales transactions. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, General Cable had an unrealized gain (loss) of $(18.8)
million and $(10.8) million, respectively, on the commodity futures.

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts, which are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges as defined in
SFAS No. 133, principally to hedge the currency fluctuations in certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies,
thereby limiting the Company’s risk that would otherwise result from changes in exchange rates. Principal transactions
hedged during the year were firm sales and purchase commitments. The fair value of foreign currency contracts represents
the amount required to enter into offsetting contracts with similar remaining maturities based on quoted market prices. At
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the net unrealized gain (loss) on the net foreign currency contracts was $(34.0) million and
$(5.6) miliion, respectively.

Interest rate swaps are used to manage interest cxpense exposure by fixing the interest rate on a portion of floating rate debt.
Commodity and foreign currency contracts are used 1o hedge luture sales and purchase commitments.  Unrealized gains and
losses on these derivative financial instruments are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until the underlying
transaction occurs and is recorded in the statement of operations at which point such amounts included in other
comprehensive income (loss) are recognized in income, which generally will occur over periods less than one year. During
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, a pre-tax $0.9 million loss, a pre-tax $20.9 million gain and a pre-tax
£3.9 nullion gain, respectively, were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to the statement of
operations. A pre-tax loss of $51.8 million is expected to be reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income
during 2008.

Net Investment Hedge

In October 2005, the Company entered into a U.S. dollar to Euro cross currency and interest rate swap agreement with a
notional value of $150 million, which was designated as and qualified as a net investment hedge of the Company’s net
investment in its European operations, in order to hedge the elfects of the changes in spot exchange rates on the value of the
net investment. The swap had a term of just over two years and matured on November 15, 2007. On November 15, 2007,
the Company paid approximately $30.5 million to settle the net investment hedge. As a result, the Company recorded; an
unrealized loss in other comprehensive income (loss) of $(20.1) million that will be recorded in the statement of operations if
the Company divests of its European operations. Changes in the fair value of the swap as they relate to the interest rate
differcntial since the last marked-to-market date of $0.3 million was recognized in earnings for 2007.

At December 31, 2006, the net unrealized loss on the swap was $15.2 million. The swap was marked-to-market quarterly
using the “spot method” to measure the amount of hedge inetfectiveness. Changes in the fair value of the swap as they relate
to spot exchange rates were recorded as other comprehensive income (loss) whereas changes in the fair value of the swap as
they relate to the interest rate differential since the last marked-to-market date, equaling approximately $(0.3) million as of
December 31, 2006, was recognized in carnings for the period.

Fair Value of Designated Derivatives
The notional amounts and fair values of these designated cash flow and net investment hedge financial instruments at

December 31, 2007 and 2006 are shown below {in millions). The carrying amount of the financial instruments was a net
liability of $33.3 million and a net liability of $31.1 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006. respectively.

2007 2006

Notional Fair Notional Fair

Amount Value Amount Value
Cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swap ) 9.0 5 (0.5 b 9.0 5 (0.4)
Commodity futures 297.7 (18.8) 217.6 {10.8)
Foreign currency forward exchange 380.5 (34.0) 152.0 (5.6)
Net investment hedges:
Cross currency and interest rate swap - - 150.0 (14.3)

3 63 3_GLY
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Other Forward Pricing Agreements

In the normal course of business, General Cable enters into forward pricing agreements for the purchase of copper and
aluminum for delivery in a future month to maich certain sales transactions. The Company accounts for these forward
pricing arrangements under the “normal purchases and normal sales™ scope exemption of SFAS No. 133 because these
arrangements are for purchases of copper and aluminum that will be delivered in quantities expected to be used by the
Company over a reasonable period of time in the normal course of business. For these arrangements, it is probable at the
inception and throughout the life of the arrangements that the arrangements will not settle net and will result in physical
delivery of the inventory. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, General Cable had $90.1 million and $165.4 million,
respectively, of future copper and aluminum purchases that were under forward pricing agreements. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, General Cable had an unrealized gain {loss) of 5(4.0) million and $(10.1) million, respectively, related to these
transactions. General Cable expects the unrealized losses under these agreements to be offset as a result of firm sales price
commitments with customers.

12. Income Taxes
For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes includes the following components:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2000 2005

United States $ 1126 § 721 $ (12.3)
Foreign 195.2 128.1 73.3
Total § 307.8 S 2002 $ 610

The provision (benefit) for income taxes attributable to continuing operations consisted of the following (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Current tax expense:
Federal $ 244 $ 6.8 $ 1.1
State 38 0.3 0.2
Foreign 59.7 53.1 232
Delerred tax expense (benefit):
Federal 15.7 225 (2.8)
State (6.1) (5.8) -
Foreign 1.9 (12.0) 0.1
Total $ 994 $ 049 § 218

The reconciliation of reported income tax expense {benefit) to the amount of income tax expense that would result from
applying domestic federal statutory tax rates to pretax income from continuing operations is as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Statutory federal income lax $ 1076 $ 701 S 214
State and foreign income tax differential'” (5.8) 4.7 1.6
Other, net (2.4) (0.5) (1.2)
Total $ 994 S 649 $ 218

" The 2007 and 2006 state and foreign income tax differential amount includes $12.2 million and $6.3 million of tax

benefits, respectively, atiributable to the release of valuation allowances against certain state and foreign deferred tax
assels.

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in millions):
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December 31,

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Nel operating loss carryforwards § 240 $ 218
Pension and retiree benefits accruals 248 20.2
Inventory 100.2 37.6
Depreciation and fixed assets 6.5 -
Tax credit carryforwards 8.1 5.6
Other liabilities 65.8 369
Valuation allowance (19.3) {21.3)
Total deferred tax assets 2101 150.58
Deferred tax liabilities:
Inventory 59 1.0
Depreciation and fixed assets 69.9 304
Intangibles 74.7 -
Total deferred tax habilities 150.5 314
Net deferred tax assets $ 5596 S 1194

The valuation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on, among other things, the ability of the Company to generate a
sufficient level of future taxable income in relevant taxing jurisdictions. [n estimating future taxable income, the Company
has considered both positive and negative evidence and has considered the implementation of prudent and feasible 1ax
planning strategies. The Company has and will continue to review on a quarterly basis its assumptions and tax planning
strategies and. if the amount of the estimated realizable net deferred tax asset is less than the amount currently on the balance
sheet, the Company would reduce its deferred tax asset, recognizing a non-cash charge against reported carnings.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance for certain foreign net operating loss
carryforwards and temporary differences due to uncertainties regarding the ability to obtain future tax benefits for these tax
attributes.  In 2007 and 2006, the Company determined that improved business performance, expectations ol future
profitability. and other relevant factors constituted sufficient positive evidence to recognize certain foreign and state deferred
tax assets. Accordingly, the Company released the related valuation allowances and recognized income tax benefits of $12.2
million and $6.3 mitlion in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company has recognized deferred tax assets of approximately $10.0 million for tax loss carryforwards in various taxing
jurisdictions as follows:

Tax Loss
Jurisdiction Carryforward Expiration
United States $10.8 2008-2009
Australia 5.1 Indefinite
Brazil 13.2 indefinite
Mexico 0.9 Indefinite
Total $30.0

The Company also has various foreign subsidiaries with approximately $52 million of tax loss carryforwards in various
jurisdictions that are subject to a valuation allowance due to statutory limitations on utilization, uncertunty of future
profitability, and other relevant factors.

The Company had undistributed eamning of foreign subsidiarics of approximately $423 million as of December 31, 2007. No
deferred tax liability has been provided for these earnings since they are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. It is not
practicable to determine the amount of additional taxes that would result if these eaming were repatriated.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Beard Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet
before being recognized in the financial statements and provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition issues.
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In connection with the January 1. 2007 adoption of FIN 48. the Company recognized an $18.8 million decrease in opening
retained earnings and had total unrecognized tax benefits of $45.6 million, of which $37.2 million would have a favorable
impact on the effective tax rate if recognized. The following is a tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized
1ax benefits for the year:

Millions
Unrecognized Tax Benelit — Adoption $ 4506
Gross Increases — Tax Positions in Prior Period 1.9
Gross Decreases — Tax Positions in Prior Period (0.4}
Gross Increases — Tax Positions in Current Period 6.0
Gross Increases — Business Combinations 4.2
Settlements (0.2)
Lapse of Statute of Limitations (1.0
Foreign Currency Translation 1.8
Unrecognized Tax Benefit — Ending Batance $57.8

Included 1 the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007, are $45.5 million of tax benefits that, if
recognized. would affect the effective tax rale. Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31,
2007, arc $2.6 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in a decrease to goodwill recorded in purchase business
contbinations, and $9.8 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in adjustments to deferred taxes.

The Company classifies interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company
recognized tax-related penalties of $(0.5) million and interest of $2.3 million in its statement of operations during 2007 and
has recorded labilitics of $1.1 million for penalties and $4.6 miilion for interest as of December 31, 2007,

in addition, the Company believes that it is reasonably possibie that approximatety $1.4 million related to various state and
forcign unrecognized tax positions could change within the next twelve months due to the expiration of the statute of
limitations or tax audit settlements.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and numerous foreign, state, and local tax jurisdictions. Tax years
that are open for examination and assessment by the Internal Revenue Service are 2004 — 2007, With limited exceptions, tax

years prior 1o 2003 are no longer open in major foreign, state or local tax jurisdictions.

13. Employee Benefit Plans

General Cable provides retirement benefits through contributory and noncontributory qualified and non-qualified defined
benefit pension plans covering eligible domestic and international empioyees as well as through defined contribution plans
and other postretirement benefits.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Benefits under General Cable’s qualified U.S. defined benefit pension plan generally are based on years of service multiplied
by a specific fixed dollar amount. and benefits under the Company’s qualified non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans
genetally are based on years of service and a vancty of other factors that can include a specific fixed dollar amount or a
percentage of either current salary or average salary over a specific period of time. The amounts funded for any plan year for
the qualified U.S. defined benefit pension plan are neither less than the minimum required under federal law nor more than
the maximum amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. General Cable’s non-qualified unfunded U.S. defined
benefit pension plans include a plan that provides defined benefits to select senior management employees beyond those
benefits provided by other programs. The Company’s non-qualified unfunded non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans
include plans that provide retirement indemnities and other post-retirement payments to employees within the Company’s
European and ROW segments. The Company's pension obligation increased $40.1 million due to the NSW acquisition on
April 30, 2007, see Note 3. Pension obligations for the majority of non-qualified unfunded detined benefit pension plans are
provided for by book reserves and are based on local practices and regulations of the respective countries. General Cable
makes cash contributions for the costs of the non-qualified unfunded defined benetit pension plans as the benefits are paid.

On June 27. 2007, the Board of [hrectors of the Company approved amendments to the General Cable Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP™) and the General Cable Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (“DCP™) and the
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merger of the SERP into the DCP. The Company received written acknowledgement and acceptance of the SERP
amendments and merger from each participant in the SERP. The amendments and merger were made in order to simplify,
limit and better align these specific compensation plans with the Company’s compensation policies. The amendments and
merger (i} provided to each active SERP participant an enhanced benefit which reflected an additional period of credited
service through December 31, 2008, and each participant’s estimated 2007 and 2008 base and bonus compensation, {ii) froze
the accrual of benefits under the SERP following the addition of the enhanced benefit, (iii) converted the SERP from a non-
account balance plan into an account balance plan by replacing the accrued benefit of a participant with a benefit based on the
value of an account balance, being credited initially by the present value of the participant’s unvested enhanced benefit in the
SERP, (iv) required the participants to make an clection with regard to time and form of payment of the amounts credited to
the account balance which became effective as of June 27, 2007, and (v) transferred all account balances and all account
liabilities under the amended SERP 1o the DCP to be governed by the provisions of the DCP, including, but not limited to,
those relating to the time and form of benefit payment, investment recommendations and vesting. The Company funded each
participant’s account balance with contributions to the Company’s Rabbi Trust as part of the DCP, as amended. As a result
of the amendments and merger and based on the guidance provided in SFAS No. 88, Employer's Accounting for Settlements
and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, a curtailment loss of approximately
$3.2 miilion and a settlement gain of approximately $4.3 million were recognized, resulting in a net gain of approximately
$1.1 million.

The changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets, the funded status of the plans and the amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in millions);

U.S. Plans Non-U.5. Plans
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006
Changes in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning benefit obligation $ 1507 $ 1521 3 374 5 284
Impact of foreign currency exchange rate change - - 7.2 2.0
Acquisitions - - 50.5 6.9
Service cost 1.6 1.8 1.7 0.9
Interest cost 8.4 8.6 36 1.7
Curtailment loss (1.6) - - -
Benefits paid (18.4) {9.9) (2.6) (1.4)
Employee contributions - - 0.1 0.1
Amendments 0.3 0.4 - -
Assumption change - 0.5 - -
Actuarial gain (0.9 (2.8) (5.5) (1.2)
Ending benefit obligation 5 140.1 g 150.7 § 0924 ¥ 374
Changes in Plan Assets:
Beginning fair value of plan assets 126.5 118.0 259 21.6
Impact of foreign currency exchange rate change - - 3.0 1.0
Actual return on plan assets 9.0 12.4 0.2 22
Company contributions 12.3 6.0 4.1 23
Benefits paid (18.4) (9.9 (2.6) (1.2
Ending fair value of plan assets $ 1294 $ 1265 $ 306 § 259
Funded status at end of year $ (10.7) $ (24.2) 3 (61.8) S (il.5)
Amounts Recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Accrued liabilities S (04 S (0.5 5 2.0 S5 03
Other liabilities £ (0.3 5 (23.7) $_(59.8) S (11.2)
Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income:
Net actuarial loss $ 362 S 334 3 41 $7.4
Prior service cost 1.4 6.7 1.0 1.0
Transition obligation - - 0.4 0.4
5 376 $  40.1 $ 5.5 $8.8
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The accumulated benefit obligation for all of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans was $224.0 million and $180.6
million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The information for defined benefit pension plans with an
accurmnutlated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets is as follows (in millions):

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation $ 1360 § 1364 $ 2438 $ 222
Accumulated benefit obligation 1353 1354 237 220
Fair value of plan assets 1294 126.5 213 18.0
Pension expense included the following components {in millions):
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Pension expense:
Service cost F L6 $ 1.8 S 18 § 17 S 09 $ 04
Interest cost 8.4 8.6 8.4 3.6 1.7 1.4
Expected return on plan assets (10.5) {(9.8) (9.4) (2.0) (1.5) (1.4)
Amortization of prior service cost 0.8 1.3 1.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Amortization of net loss 2.1 28 20 0.5 0.3 03
Amortization of transition obligation - - - 0.1 0.1 -
Curtailment loss 32 - 0.7 - - -
Settlement gain (4.3) - - - - -
Net pension expense $ 13 S 47 $ 4.6 5 4.0 $§ 1.6 $ 08

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated
other comprehensive income into net pension expense over the next fiscal year are $2.6 million and $0.7 million,
respectively.

Gencral Cable evaluates its actuarial assumptions at least annually, and adjusts them as necessary. The Company uses a
measurement date of December 31 for all of its defined benefit pension plans. The weighted average assumptions used in
determining benefit obligations were:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2007 2006 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.00% 6.00% 5.62% 5.16%
Expected rate of increase in future
compensation levels 2.50% 4.00% 3.66% 3.45%

The weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension expense were:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2007 2006 2005 2007 20006 2005
Discount rate 6.00% 5.75% 6.00% 4.99% 4.72% 5.57%
Expected rate of increase in future
compensation levels 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 3.35% 2.72% 4,44%
Long-term expected rate of return on plan
assets 8.50% 8.50% 8.50% 6.74% 6.90% 7.08%

Pension expense for the defined benefit pension plans sponsored by General Cable is determined based principally upon
certain actuarial assumptions, including the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on assets. The discount
rates for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans were determined based on a review of long-term bonds that receive one of the
two highest ratings given by a recognized rating agency which are expected to be available during the peried to maturity of
the projected pension benefit obligations and based on information received from actuaries. Non-U.S. defined benefit
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pension plans followed a similar evaluation process based on financial markets in those countries where General Cable
provides a defined benefit pension plan.

The weighted-average long-term expected rate of return on assets is based on input from actuaries, including their review of
historical 10-year, 20-year, and 25-year rates of inflation and real rates of return on various broad equity and bond indices in
conjunction with the diversification of the asset portfolio. The expected long-term rate of return on assets for the qualified
U.S. defined benefit pension plan is based on an asset allocation assumption of 65% allocated to equity investments, with an
expected real rate of return of 7%, and 35% to fixed-income investments, with an expected real rate of return of 3%, and an
assumed long-term rate of inflation of 3%. The actual asset allocations were 60% of equity investments and 40% of fixed-
income investments at December 31, 2007 and 64% of equity investments and 36% of fixed-income investments at
December 31, 2006. The expected long-term rate of return on assets for qualified non-U.S. defined benefit plans is based on a
weighted-average asset allocation assumption of 54% altocated to equity investments, 42% to fixed-income investments and
4% to other investments. The actual weighted-average asset allocations were 52% of equity investments, 43% of fixed-
income investments and 5% of other investments at December 31, 2007 and 56% of equity investments, 40% of fixed-income
investments and 4% of other investments ai December 31, 2006. Management believes that long-term asset allocations on
average and by location will approximate the Company’s assumptions and that the long-term rate of return used by each
country that is included in the weighted-average long-term expected rate of return on assets is a reasonable assumption.

The determination of pension expense for the qualified defined benefit pension plans is based on the fair market value of
assets as of the measurement date. Investment gains and losses are recognized in the measurement of assets immediately.
Such gains and losses will be amortized and recognized as part of the annual benefit cost to the extent that unrecognized nct
gains and losses from all sources exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market value of assets.

General Cable’s expense under both U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans is determined using the discount rate as
of the beginning of the fiscal year, so 2008 expense for the pension plans will be based on the weighted-average discount rate
of 6.00% for U.S. defined benefit pension plans and 5.62% for non-U.5. defined benelit pension plans.

The Company expects to contribute, at a minimum, $6.8 million to its defined benefit pension plans for 2008. The estimated
future benefit payments expected to be paid for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans are $12.9 million in 2008, $12.5
million in 2009, $13.4 million in 2010, $14.0 million in 2011, $15.1 million in 2012 and $84.6 million in the five years
thereatter.

The Company has additional contracts related to pension benefits outside of the United States not included in the tables and
financial figures above due to their designation as nonparticipating annuity contracts as defined by SFAS 87. These annuity
contracts cover 12 retired and 12 current employees in the Company’s active operations in Spain and 33 employees from the
former Saenger, Spain manufacturing facility. The contracts act as irrevocable transfers of risk from the Company to the
other party to the contracts, an insurance company. The cost of the benefits covered by the annuity contracts is recorded
based on the premiums, or costs, required to purchase and maintain the contracts. The service cost component of net pension
cost was approximately $1.6 million in 2007, $2.9 miliion in 2006, and $0.3 million in 2005. The 2007 and 2006 premiums
include a charge for reducing the retirement age. The 2006 premium also included a charge for the purchase of additional
protection from inflation. The benefits covered by the annuity contracts are excluded from the projecied benefit obligation
and the accumulated benefit obligation of the Company, and the annuity contracts are excluded from the Company’s plan
assets as required by SFAS 87.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

General Cable has postretirement benefit plans that provide medical and life insurance for certain retirecs and eligible
dependents. General Cable funds the plans as claims or insurance premiums are incurred.
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The changes in accrued postretirement benefits were as follows (in millions):

December 31,

2007 2006
Changes in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning benefit obligation § 118 S 105
Service cost 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 0.6 0.7
Actuarial loss 0.6 23
Benefits paid (1.7) (1.8)
Ending benefit obligation $ 114 $§ 118
Funded status at end of year § (1.4 S (11.8)
Amounts Recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Accrued liabilities 3 (1.6 8 an
Other liabilities S (9.8) S (10.1)
Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income:
Net actuarial loss 3 4.0 s 4.2
Prior service cost (0.5) (0.6)
py 35 $ 3.6

Net postretirement benefit expense included the following components (in millions):

Year ended December 31,

2007 20006 2005
Postretirement benefit expense:

Service cost § 0.1 F 01 S 02
Interest cost 0.6 0.7 0.6
Amortization of prior service cosl 0.1) 0.1) (0.1)
Amortization of net loss 0.3 0.3 -
Curtailment gain - - (0.2)
Net postretirement benefit expense § 09 $ 1.0 § 05

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the postretirement benefit plans that will be amortized from accumulated
other comprchensive income into net pension expense over the next fiscal year are $0.3 million and $(0.1) million,
respectively.

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 5.50% for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and 5.75% for the year ended December 31, 2006. The discount rate used in determining the net
postretirement benefit expense was 5.8% for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 5.5% for the years ended December 31§,
2006 and 2005. The assumed health-care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
in 2007 was 9.00% decreasing gradually to 4.50% in year 2013 and thereafier, and the assumed health-care cost trend rate
used in 2006 was 8.00%. decreasing gradually to 4.50% in year 2011 and thereafier. Increasing the assumed health-care cost
trend rate by 1% would result in an increase in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of $0.6 million for 2007.
The effect of this change would increase net postretirement benefit expense by less than $0.1 million. Decreasing the
assumcd health-care cost trend rate by 1% would result in a decrease in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of
50.5 million for 2007. The effect of this change would decrease net postretirement benefit expense by less than $0.1 million.

The estimated future beneftt payments expected to be paid for the Company’s postretirement benefits other than pensions are
$1.6 million in 2008, $1.6 mtllion in 2009, $1.6 million in 2010, $1.4 million in 2011, $1.2 million in 2012 and $4.5 million
in the five years thereafter.
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Defined Contribution Plans

Expense under both U.S. and non-U.S. defined contribution plans generally equals up to six percent ol each eligible
employee’s covered compensation based on the location and status of the employee. The net defined contribution plan
expense recognized was $8.5 million, $8.0 million and $7.2 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005.

Statutory Severance Programs

In connection with the acquisition of PDIC on October 31, 2007, as a matter of law, the governments of Chile and Venezuela,
which operate within the Company’s ROW segment, require the Company to provide certain benefits to former or inactive
employees after employment but before retitement. Generally, benefits under these statutory severance programs include a
one-time lump-sum payment based on years of service, as defined.  As a result, the Company has recorded a liability of
approximately $1.6 million as of December 31, 2007. There was no liability recorded as of December 31. 2006.

14. Shareholders’ Equity

General Cable is authorized to issue 200 million shares of common stock and 25 miilion shares of preferred stock.

The Company issued 2,070,000 shares of General Cable 5.75% Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A
preferred stock™) on November 24, 2003, 101,940 shares of which are outstanding under the original terms of the Series A
preferred stock issuance as of December 31, 2007. The Company paid fees and expenses of 54.2 million related to this
transaction, which included an underwriting discount of $3.4 million. The Series A preferred stock was offered only to
qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

The preterred stock has a liquidation preference of $50.00 per share. Dividends accrue on the convertible preferred stock at
the rate of 5.75% per annum and are payable quarterly in arrears. Dividends are payable in cash, shares of General Cable
common stock or a combination thereof. Holders of the convertible preferred stock are entitled to convert any or all of their
shares of convertible preferred stock into shares of General Cable common stock, at an initial conversion price of $10.004 per
share. The conversion price is subject o adjustments under certain circumstances. General Cable is obligated to redeem all
outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock on November 24, 2013 at par. The Company may, at its option, elect to pay
the redemption price in cash or in shares of General Cable common stock with an equivalent fair value, or any combination
thereof. The Company has the option to redeem some or all of the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock in cash
beginning on the fifth anniversary of the issue date. The redemption premium will initially equal one-half the dividend rate
on the convertible preferred stock and decline ratably to par on the date of mandatory redemption. In the event of a change in
control, the Company has the right to either redeem the preferred stock for cash or to convert the preferred stock to common
stock.

On November 9, 2005, the Company commenced an offer (*“the inducement offer”) to pay a cash premium to holders of its
Series A preferred stock who elected to convert their Series A preferred stock into shares of General Cable common stock.
The inducement offer expired on December 9, 2005 and a total of 1,939.991 shares, or 93.72%, of the Company’s
outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock were surrendered and converted by General Cable as part of the inducement
offer. The former holders of the Series A preferred stock received, in the aggregate, the following:

s 9,696,075 shares of General Cable common stock:
A cash premium of approximately $15.3 million ($7.88 per share); and

»  Approximately $0.3 million of accrued and unpaid dividends on the Series A preferred stock from November 24,
2005 10 December 13, 2005, the date immediately preceding the inducement offer’s seitlement date of December 14,
2005.

The $16.6 million cash dividend, which included approximately $1.0 million in costs related to the inducement offer, was
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 and represented the difference between the fair value of all securities and other
consideration transferred in the transaction by the Company to the preferred sharcholders and the fair value of securities
issuable pursuant to the original conversion terms of the Series A preferred stock less the costs related to the inducement
offer.
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The Company maintains a deferred compensation plan (“Deferred Compensation Plan™). This plan is available to dircctors
and certain officers and managers of the Company. On June 27, 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company approved
amendments to the General Cable Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP”) and the General Cable Corporation
Deterred Compensation Plan (“DCP”) in order to merge the SERP into the DCP.  The plan allows participants to defer all or
a portion of their directors’ fees and/or salary and annual bonuses, as applicable, and it permits participants to elect to
contribute and defer all or any portion of their nonvested stock, resiricted stock and stock awards.  All deferrals to the
participants’ accounts vest immediately; Company contributions vest according to the vesting schedules in the qualified plan
and nonvested stock and restricted stock vests according to the schedule designated by the award. The Company makes
matching and retirement contributions (currently equal to 6%) of compensation paid over the maximum allowed for qualified
pension benefits, whether or not the employee elects to defer any compensation. The Deferred Compensation Plan does not
have dollar limits on tax-deferred contributions. The assets of the Deferred Compensation Plan are held in a Rabbi Trust
{“Trust™) and, thercfore, are available to satisfy the claims of the Company’s creditors in the event of bankruptcy or
insolvency of the Company. Participants have the right 1o request that their account balance be determined by reference to
specified investment alternatives (with the exception of the portion of the account which consists of deferred nonvested and
subsequently vested stock and restricted stock). With certain exceptions, these investment alternatives are the same
alternatives offered to participants in the General Cable Retirement and Savings Plan for Salaried Associates. [n addition,
participants have the right to request that the Plan Administrator re-allocate the deferral among available investment
alternatives; provided, however that the Plan Administrator is not required to honor such requests. Distributions from the
plan are generally made upon the participants’ termination as a director and/or employee, as applicable, of the Company.
Participants receive payments from the plan in cash, either as a lump sum payment or through equal annual installments from
between onc and ten years, except for the nonvested and subsequently vested stock and restricted stock, which the
participants receive in shares of General Cable stock. The Company accounts for the Deferred Compensation Plan in
accordance with EITF 97-14, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where Amounts Eamed are Held in a
Rabbi Trust and Invested.”

Assets of the Trust, other than the nonvested and subsequently vested stock and resiricted stock of the Company, are invested
in funds covering a variety of securities and investment strategies, approximately 86% are tnvested in mutual funds and the
remaining 14% are invested in a General Cable stock fund. Mutual funds available to participants are publicly quoted and
reported at market value. The Company accounts for these investments as available-for-sale securities in accordance with
SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” The Trust also holds nonvested and
subsequently vested stock and restricted stock shares of the Company. The Company’s nonvested and subsequently vested
and restricted stock that is held by the Trust has been accounted for in additional paid-in capital since the adoption of SFAS
123(R) on January 1. 2006. and prior to that date. had been accounted for in other shareholders’ equity in the consolidated
balance sheet, and the market value of this nonvested and subsequently vested stock and restricted stock was $45.8 million as
of December 31, 2007 and $30.5 million as of December 31, 2006. The market value of the assets held by the Trust,
exclusive of the market value of the shares of the Company’s nonvested and subsequently vested stock and restricted stock, at
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 was $18.2 million and $12.3 million, respectively, and is classified as “other
non-current assets” in the consolidated balance sheet. Amounts payable to the plan participants at December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, excluding the market value of the shares of the Company’s nonvested and subsequently vested stock and
restricted stock, was $21.1 million and $12.3 million, respectively, and is classified as “other liabilitics™ in the consolidated
balance sheet. The total aggregate net gain/loss in accumulated other comprehensive income was $7.2 million and $6.4
million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, the gross realized gain/less included in the
consolidated statement of operations was $0.6 million and $1.9 million for 2007and 2006, respectively. The net unrealized
holding gain/loss on available for sale securities included in accumulated other comprehensive income was $0.8 million and
£2.9 million as of December 31, 2607 and 2006, respectively. The Company uses the specific identification method to
determine the cost of the securities sold or reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income and into earnings.

in accordance with EITF 97-i4, all market value fluctuations of the Trust assets, exclusive of the shares of nonvested and
subsequently vested stock and restricted stock of the Company, have been reflected in other comprehensive income (loss).
Increases or decreases in the market value of the deferred compensation liability, excluding the shares of nonvested and
subscquently vested stock and restricted stock of the Company held by the Trust, are included as compensation expense in
the consolidated statements of operations, Based on the changes in the 1otal market value of the Trust’s assets. exclusive of
the nonvested and subsequently vested stock and restricted stock, the Company recorded net compensation expense of $0.6
million in 2007, $2.9 million in 2006, and $1.1 million in 2005. See Note 15 for compensation costs recorded on nonvested
and subsequently vested stock shares and restricted stock.
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The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following {in millions):

December 31,

2007 2006

Foreign currency translation adjustment $ 9.1 $ 448
Defined benefit plan adjustments, net of tax (22.2) (27.0)
Change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax (64.8) (20.2)
Unrealized investment gains, net of tax 7.2 6.4
Adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax (7.0 (7.0)
Other 0.3 (.4
Total $ 9.6 $ (2.6)

15. Share-Based Compensation

The adoption of SFAS 123(R)’s fair value method has resulted in share-based expense in the amount of $2.0 million and $1.1
million related 1o stock options for the year ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, which is
included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses. No compensation expense related to stock options
was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2005 under APB 25. In addition, the Company continued to record
compensation expense related to nonvested stock awards as a component of selling, general and adminisirative expense. The
years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 included $0.3 million and $1.3 million, respectively, of
compensation costs related to performance-based nonvested stock awards (as compared to $1.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005) and $3.5 million and $2.5 million, respectively related to all other nonvested stock awards (as compared
to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005). The Company recorded an expense of $0.5 million related to stock
unit awards in 2007 and immaterial amount in 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2007, all share-based compensation
costs lowered pre-tax earnings by $6.3 million, lowered net income by $3.8 million, and lowered basic and diluted earnings
per share by $0.07 per share. A summary of all share-based compensation expense, along with the related income tax
benefit, for each of the past three vears is as follows (in million):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Share-based compensation expense recognized § 63 S 49 £ 1.7
Income tax benefit recognized 2.5 1.8 0.6
Afier-tax share-based compensation expense $ 38 $ 3.1 5 1.1

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, cash received from stock option exercises was §5.0 million,
$22.7 million, and $2.6 million, respectively, The total tax benefit to be realized for tax deductions from these option
exercises was $7.4 mitlion, $17.7 million, and $0.4 million, respectively. The $32.5 million tax deduction for all share-based
compensation for the year ended December 31, 2007, includes $11.1 million of excess tax benefits that are classified as a
financing cash flow and would have been classified as an operating cash inflow prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R). The
Company has elected the alternative method, as discussed in SFAS 123(R}-3, to calculate the pool of excess tax benefits
available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 123(R).

General Cable currently has share-based compensation awards outstanding under three plans. These plans allow the
Company to fulfill its incentive award obligations generally by granting nonqualified stock options and nonvested stock
awards. New shares are issued when nonqualified stock options are exercised and when nonvested stock awards are granted.
There have been no material modifications made to these plans during the year ended December 31, 2007. On May 10, 2005,
the General Cable Corporation 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (*2005 Plan™) was approved and replaced the two previous equity
compensation plans, the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2000 Stock Option Plan. The Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors will no longer grant any awards under the previous plans but will continue to administer awards which
were previously granted under the 1997 and 2000 plans. The 2005 Plan authorized a maximum of 1,800 thousand shares to
be granted. Shares reserved for future grants, including options, under the 2005 Plan, approximated 1,011 thousand at
December 31, 2007.

The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan authorizes the following types of awards to be granted: (i) Stock Options (both Incentive
Stock Options and Nonqualified Stock Options); (ii} Stock Appreciation Rights; (ii1) Nonvested and Restricted Stock
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Awards; (iv) Performance Awards; and (v) Stock Units, as more fully described in the 2005 Plan. Each award is subject 1o
such terms and conditions consistent with the 2005 Plan as determined by the Compensation Committee and as set forth in an
award agreement and awards under the 2005 Plan were granted at not less than the closing market price on the date of grant.

The 2000 Stock Option Plan (2000 Plan”), as amended, authorized a maximum of 1,500 thousand nen-qualified options to
be granted. No other forms of award were authonized under this plan. Stock options were granted to employees selected by
the Compensation Committee of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer at prices which were not less than the closing
market price on the date of grant. The Compensation Committee {or Chiet’ Executive Officer) had authority to set all the
terms of each grant.

The 1997 Stock [ncentive Plan (*1997 Plan™) authorized a maximum of 4,725 thousand nonvested shares, options or units of
common stock to be granted. Stock options were granted to employees selected by the Compensation Committee of the
Board or the Chief Executive Officer at prices which were not less than the closing market price on the date of grant. The
Compensation Committee {or Chief Executive Officer) had authority to st all the terms of each grant,

Stack Options

All options awarded under the 2005 Plan have a term of 10 years from the grant date. The majority of the options vest three
ycars from grant date. The majority of the options granted under the 2000 Plan expire in 10 years and become fully
exercisable ratably over three years of continued employment or become fully exercisable after three years of continued
employment.  The majority of the options granted under the 1997 Plan expire in 10 years and become fully exercisable
ratably over three years of continued employment or become fully exercisable after three years of continued employment,

A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2007, is as follows (options in thousands and aggregate
intrinsic value in millions):

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Options Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Outstanding Price Term Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 1,089 $ 1222
Granted 218 61.19
Exercised (405) 12.44
Forfeited or Expired (14 29.61
Qutstanding at December 31, 2007 888 § 2388 6.3 years 3 439
Excrcisable at December 31, 2007 441 g 9.65 4.1 years S 28.1
Options expected to vest in the next twelve months 179 S 2496 7.5 years S 8.7

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. the weighted average grant date fair value of options granted
was $24.76, $12.75, and $5.56, respectively, the total intrinsic value of options exercised was $19.4 million, $50.9 million,
and $1.5 million, respectively, and the total tair value of options vested during the periods was $0.3 million, $2.7 million, and
$5.0 million, respectively. At December 31, 2007. the total compensation cost related to nonvested options not yet
recognized was $4.4 million with a weighted average expense recognition period of 2.5 years.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model using the
following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Risk-free interest rate'" 3.8% 4.7% 3.7%
Expected dividend yield™’ N/A N/A N/A
Expected option life'” 3.9 years 4.6 years 5.5 years
Expected stock price volatility™’ 47.5% 62.6% 45.3%
Weighted average fair value of options granted 524.76 $12.75 $5.56
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" Risk-free interest rate — This is the U.S. Treasury rate at the end of the period in which the option was granted having
a term approximately equal to the expected life of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will increase
compensation expense.

@ Expected dividend yield — The Company has not made any dividend payments on commeon stock since 2002 and it
does not have plans to pay dividends on common stock in the foreseeable future. Any dividends paid in the future
will decrease compensation expense.

™ Expected option life — This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding
and is based on historical experience. Options granted have a maximum term of ten years. An increase in expected
life will increase compensation expense.

“) Expected stock price volatility — This is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to
fluctuate. The Company uses actual historical changes in the market value of the Company’s stock to calculate the
volatility assumption as it is management’s belief that this is the best indicator of future volatility. An increase in the
expected volatility will increase compensation cxpense.

Additional information regarding options outstanding as of December 31, 2007 is as follows (options in thousands):

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Range of Options Exercise Remaining Options Exercise
Option Prices Outstanding Price Contractual Life  Exercisable Price
$0-314 S18 $9.27 5.3 years 380 $8.29
$i14 - 828 156 21.03 5.4 years 61 18.03
328 - 342 0.7 31.98 8.3 years 0.1 31.98
$42 - §56 91 50.97 9.1 years - -
$56-3%70 122 69.29 9.9 years - -

Nonvested Stock

The majority of the nonvested stock and stock unit awards issued under the 2005 Plan are restricted as o transferability and
salability with these restrictions being removed in equal annual installments over the five-year period following the grant
date. The majority of the nonvested stock awards issued under the 1997 Plan are restricted as to transferability and salability
with these restrictions expiring ratably over a three-year or five-year period, expiring after six years from the date of grant or
expiring ratably from the second anniversary to the sixth anniversary of the date of grant. A minimal amount of immediately
vesting restricted stock held by certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors in the Deferred Cormpensation Plan is
included in this presentation as nonvested stock.

During the first quarter of 2001 and 2004, approximately 356 thousand and 341 thousand, respectively, nonvested common
stock shares with performance accelerated vesting features were awarded to certain senior executives and key employees
under the Company’s 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. The nonvested shares vest either six years from the date of
grant or ratably from the second anniversary of the date of grant to the sixth anniversary unless certain performance criteria
are met. The performance measure used to determine vesting is either the Company’s stock price or earnings per share. As of
December 31, 2007, all shares issued with performance accelerated vesting features had fully vested and all related
compensation costs had been recognized.

Prior to January 1, 2006, unearned stock compensation was recorded within shareholders” equity at the date of award based
on the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and was amortized to expense using the
straight-line method from the grant date through the carlier of the vesting date or the estimated retirement cligibility date.
Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R), the $4.8 million of unearned stock compensation as of December 31, 2005 was required to
be charged against additional paid-in capital.

A summary of all nonvested stock and restricted stock units activity for the year ended December 31, 2007, is as follows
{shares in thousands):
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Weighted
Average

Shares Grant Date

QOutstanding Fair Value
Balance At December 31, 2006 712 $ 16.19
Granted 209 62.69
Vested (276) 12.85
Forfeited (28) 26.58
Balance At December 31, 2007 617 $ 32.88

The weighted-average grant date fair value of all nonvested shares granted. the total fair value {in millions) of all nonvested
shares granted, and the fair value (in millions) of all shares that have vested during each of the past three years is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average grant date fair value $ 62.69 $ 2595 § 12.07
Fair value of nonvested shares granted $ 131 $ 7.2 $ 4.0
Fair value of shares vested S 134 s 77 $§ 02

As of December 31, 2007, there was $15.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to all nonvested stock.
The cost is expected 1o be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.9 years. There are 183 thousand nonvested stock

and restricted stock units with a weighted average grant price of $19.31 and a fair value of $13.4 miilion expected to vest in
2008,
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16. Earnings Per Common Share of Continuing Operations

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of earnings per common share of continuing operations-basic to earnings
per common share of continuing operations-assuming dilution is as follows (in millions, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
EPS from continuing operations — basic:
Income from continuing operations 5 2086 $ 1353 § 392
Less: Preferred stock dividends on convertible stock (0.3) {0.3) (0.4)
Preferred stock dividends on converted stock - - (5.3)
Inducement payment and offering costs - - {16.3)
Income from continuing operations for basic EPS
computation‘” $ 2083 $ 1350  § 172
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic EPS computation'® 51.2 50.0 41.1
Eamings per common share from continuing
operations — basic £ 407 § 270 ,Si 042
EPS from continuing opcrations — assuming dilution:
Income from continuing operations $ 2086 $ 1353 392
Less: Preferred stock dividends on convertible stock, if applicable - - (0.4)
Preferred stock dividends on converted stock, if applicable - - (3.3)
Inducement payment and offering costs, if applicable - - (16.3)
Income from continuing operations for diluted EPS
computation'" $ 208.6 $ 1353 S 172
Weighted average shares outstanding including nonvested shares 522 51.0 41.1
Dilutive effect of convertible bonds 1.5
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units 04 0.5 0.8
Dilutive effect of assumed conversion of preferred
stock, if applicable 0.5 0.5 -
Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted EPS
computation'” 54.6 520 419

Eamings per common share from continuing
operations — assuming dilution $ 382 § 2.60 $ 041

(1) Numerator
(2) Denominator

On November 9, 2005, the Company commenced an offer (“the inducement offer”) 1o pay a cash premium to holders of its
Series A preferred stock who elected to convert their preferred stock into shares of General Cable common stock. The
inducement offer expired on December 9, 2005 and a total of 1,939,991 shares, or 93.72%, of the Company’s outstanding
shares of Series A preferred stock were surrendered and converted by General Cable as part of the inducement offer. The
former holders of the Series A preferred stock received, in the aggregate, the following:

9,696,073 shares of General Cable common stock;
A cash premium of approximately $15.3 million (37.88 per share); and

e  Approximately $0.3 million of accrued and unpatd dividends on the Sertes A preferred stock from November 24,
2005 to December 13, 2005, the date immediately preceding the inducement offer’s settlement date of December 14,
2005.

The $16.6 million cash payment, which included approximately $1.0 million in costs related to the inducement offer, was
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005, As set forth m Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Topic D-42, “The Effect on the
Calculation of Earnings per Share for the Redemption or Induced Conversion of Preferred Stock,” when convertible preferred
stock is converted pursuant to an inducement offer, the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the
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transaction to the holders of the convertible preferred stock over the fair value of the sccuritics issuable pursuant to the
original conversion terms should be subtracted from net income to arrive at net income appticable to common shareholders in
the calculation of carnings per share.  As such, the inducement payment and offering costs paid by the Company in
connection with the inducement offer resulted in a reduction of net income available to common shareholders.

As of December 31, 2005, 129,916 shares, or 6.28%, of the Series A preferred stock remained outstanding under the original
terms of the Scries A preferred stock issuance, and all shares of Series A preferred stock surrendered for conversion in the
inducement offer were canceled and retired.  As set forth in EITF Topic D-53. “Computation of Earnings per Share for a
Period That Includes a Redemption or an Induced Conversion of a Portion of a Class of Preferred Stock,” when a company
enters into an induced conversion of only a portion of a class of the company’s outstanding preferred stock, any excess
consideration should be attributed to the converted shares, and the converted shares should be considered separately from the
shares that were not converted for purposes of applying the “if-converted™ method from the beginning of the period. As
such, for purposes of General Cable’s computation of diluted net income per common share for the year ended December 31,
2003, the portion of the Company’s Series A preferred stock that was converted was considered separately from the portion
of the Company’s Serics A preferred stock that was not converted. The inducement payment and offering costs paid by the
Company in connection with the inducement offer were attributed to the portion of the Company’s Series A preferred stock
that was converted. As a result, conversion of the portion of the Company’s Series A preferred stock that was converted into
9.696.075 weighted average common shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2005 was not assumed because the
resulting impact on the calculation of diluted net income per comman share would have been anti-dilutive. The portion of
the Company's Series A preferred stock that was not converted was also not assumed because the resulting impact on the
calculation of diluted net income per common share would have been anti-dilutive, As of December 31, 2007, 101,940
shares of the Series A preferred stock remained outstanding under the original terms of the Series A preferred stock issuance.

The camings per common share — assuming dilution computation also excludes the impact of an insignificant amount of
stock options and restricted stock units in 2007 and 2006 and 0.4 million stock options and restricted stock units in 2005
because their impact was anti-dilutive.

Certain effects on diluted net income per common share may result in future periods as a result of the Company’'s issuance of
(i) $355.0 million in 0.875% Convertible Notes and the Company’s entry into note hedge and warrant agreements during the
fourth quarter of 2006 and (i1) $475.0 million in 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes during the fourth quarter of 2007. See Note
10 for a description of the key terms of these transactions.

Under EITF (-8, “The Effect of Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings Per Share”, and EITF 90-19, and
because ol the Company’s obligation to settle the par value of the 0.873% Convertible Notes and 1.00% Senior Convertible
Notes in cash, the Company is not required to include any shares underlying the 0.875% Convertible Notes and 1.00% Senior
Convertible Notes in its weighted average shares outstanding — assuming dilution until the average stock price per share for
the quarter exceeds the $50.36 and $83.93 conversion price of the 0.875% Convertible Notes and 1.00% Senior Convertible
Notes, respectively, and only to the extent of the additional shares that the Company may be required to issue in the cvent
that the Company’s conversion obligation exceeds the principal amount of the 0.875% Convertible Notes converted and the
1.00% Senior Convertible Notes.

Regarding the 0.875% Convertible Notes, these conditions had been met as of December 31, 2007 and 1.5 million shares that
were considered issuable under the “treasury” method of accounting for the share dilution, have been included in the
Company’s earning per share — assuming dilution calculation based upon the amount by which the average stock price of
$63.28 exceeds the conversion price. On February 22, 2008, the Company’s average stock price for 2008 was $59.79 per
share, or $9.43 per share above the conversion price. If this stock price is the average price per share for the first quarter,
approximately 1.111.432 additional shares would be included in the carnings per share — assuming dilution calculation as of
the end of the quarter. [n addition, shares underlying the warrants will be included in the weighted average shares
outstanding — assuming dilution when the average stock price per share for a quarter exceeds the $§76.00 strike price of the
warrants, and shares underlying the note hedges, per the guidance in SFAS 128. Earnings per Share, will not be included in
the weighted average shares outstanding — assuming dilution because the impact of the shares will always be anti-ditutive.
The condition to include underlying shares retated to the warrants had not been met as of December 31, 2007 and was not
mel as of February 22, 2008,

The following tables provides examples of how changes in the Company’s stock price would require the inclusion of
additional shares in the denominator of the weighted average shares outstanding — assuming dilution calculation for the
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Total Treasury Incremental Shares

Shares Underlying Method Shares Due to the Issued by the
0.875% Convertible Warrant Incremental Company under Company upon

Share Price Notes Shares Shares!" Note Hedges Conversion”

$ 5036 - - - - -

¥ 6036 1,167.502 - 1,167,502 (1,167,502) -

§ 7036 2,003,400 - 2,003,400 (2,003,400) -

§ 8036 2,631,259 382,618 3,013,877 (2,631,259 382,618

¥ 9036 3,120,150 1,120,363 4,240,513 (3,120,150) 1,120,363

$ 100.36 3.511.,614 1,711,088 5,222,702 {3.511,614) 1,711,088

)" Represents the number of incremental shares that must be included in the calculation of fully diluted shares under U.S.
GAAP.

‘Y Represents the number of incremental shares to be issued by the Company upon conversion of the 0.875% Convertible
Notes, assuming concurrent settlement of the note hedges and warrants.

Regarding the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, the average stock price threshold conditions had not been met as of
December 31, 2007. At any such time in the future the threshold conditions are met, only the number of shares issuable under
the “treasury’” method of accounting for the share dilution would be included in the Company’s earning per share — assuming
dilution calculation, which is based upon the amount by which the average stock price exceeds the conversion price. On
February 22, 2008, the Company’s average stock price for 2008 was $59.79 per share. The condition to include underlying
shares had not been met as of December 31, 2007 and was not met as of February 22, 2008 based on the average stock price
for 2008.

The following tables provides examples of how changes in the Company’s stock price would require the inclusion of
additional shares in the denominator of the weighted average shares outstanding — assuming dilution calculation for the
1.00% Senior Convertible Notes.

Total Treasury
Method Incremenial
Shares!"’

Shares Underlying
1.00% Senior
Share Price Convertible Notes

$ 83.93

§ 9393

602,288

602,288

§ 103.93

1,088,861

1,088,861

§113.93

1,490.018

1.490.018

$ 123.93

1,826,436

1.826,436

$133.93

2,112,616

2,112,616

) Represents the number of incremental shares that must be included in the calculation of fully diluted shares
under U.S. GAAP.

17. Segment Information

During the fourth quarter of 2007, General Cable announced a change in the management reporting structure that resulted in

a change in the Company’s reportable segments. The Company now conducts its operations through three geographic
operating segments — North America, Europe and North Africa, and ROW, which consists of operations in Latin America,
Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and Asia Pacific. The Company’s operating segments align with the structure of the
Company’s internal management organization. All three segments engage in the development, design, manufacturing,
marketing and distribution of copper, aluminum, and fiber optic communication, electric utility and electrical infrastructure
wire and cable products. In addition to the above products, the ROW segment and the Europe and North Africa segment
develops, designs, manufactures, markets and distributes construction products and the ROW segment develops, designs.
manufactures, markets and distributes rod mill wire and cable products,
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General Cable has reclassified prior year segment disclosures to conform 1o the new segment presentation. The change
represents only reclassifications between segments and does not change the Company’s consolidated net sales, operating
income, identifiable assets, capital expenditures and depreciation expense as reported in previous quarterly and annual filings.
The eftects of the segment change on previously reported historical results are included in this footnote.

Net revenues as shown below represent sales to external customers for each segment. Intercompany revenues have been
eliminated. The Company evaluates segment performance and allocates resources based on segment operating income.
Segment operating ncome represents income from continuing operations before interest income, interest expense, other
income (expense), other financial costs or income tax.

Where applicable, “Corporate” represents items necessary to reconcile to the consolidated financial statements, which
generally include corporate activity and corporate eliminations. Corporate assets include cash, deferred income taxes, certain
property, including property held for sale and prepatd expenses and other certain current and non-current assets. The
property held for sale consists of real property remaining from the Company’s closure of certain manufacturing operations in
the amount of $2.4 million and $3.1 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The amount of property held
for sale as of December 31, 2007 was immaterial.

North America operating results in 2007 include a pre-tax charge to write-off production equipment of $6.6 million as the
Company closed a portion of its telecommunications capacity located primarily at its Tetla, Mexico facility. This action will
free approximately 100,000 square feet of manufacturing space, which the Company plans to utilize for other products for the
Central and South American markets. Similarly, North America operating results in 2005 included a pre-tax charge of $18.6
million related to the rationalization of certain of the Company’s communications cable manufacturing facilities, which
includes a $0.5 million gain from the sale of previously closed manufacturing plant.

Y ear Ended December 31

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales:
North America $2,243.7 $2,058.6 $1,574.5
Europe and North Africa 1,939.7 1,446.8 682.0
ROW 431.4 159.7 1243
Total 46148 $3,665.1 $2,380.8
Operating Income:
North America $179.4 $128.9 $36.2
Europe and North Africa 162.4 101.9 54.9
ROW 24.3 5.1 7.4
Total $366.1 $235.9 $98.5
Total Assets:
North America $784.9 §728.7 $644.7
Europe and North Africa 1,379.5 985.1 642.8
ROW 1.380.8 94.8 68.8
Corporate 252.8 410.1 166.9
Total $3,798.0 $2,218.7 $1,5232
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Year Ended December 31

{in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Capital Expenditures:
North America $419 $23.5 $25.0
Europe and North Africa 97.7 44.6 16.3
ROW 14.0 3.0 1.3
Total $153.6 $71.1 $42.6
Depreciation Expense:
North America $34.3 $28.6 $26.6
Europe and North Africa 22.0 14.5 8.0
ROW 7.2 24 1.8
Corporate - - 11.1
Total $63.5 $45.5 $47.5

Revenues by Major Product Lines Revenues to external customers are attributable to sales of electric utility, electrical
infrastructure, construction, communications and rod mill wire and cable product lines.

Year Ended December 3|

2007 2006 2005
Electric Utility $1,665.2 $1,366.9 $822.6
Electrical Infrastructure 1,234.1 907.1 575.7
Construction 872.5 662.9 371.7
Communications 807.0 728.2 610.8
Rod Mill Products 36.0 - -
Total $4,614.8 $3,665.1 $2,380.8

Geographic Information The following table presents net sales to unaffiliated customers by country of destination for the
last three years:

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
United States  $1,933.5 $1,778.7 $1.355.0
Spain 820.9 681.2 441.4
France 546.5 400.8 278.4
Others 1,313.9 804.4 306.0
Total $4.614.8 $3.665.1 $2.380.8

The following table presents long-lived assets by country as December 31:

Year Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005
United States $235.1 $216.7 $2351.3
Spain 187.7 143.5 94,5
France 65.0 29.5 27.7
Others 732.6 94.6 80.2
Total $1,220.4 $484.3 $453.7

The following summary of net sales, operating profit and identifiable asscts by year for North America, Europe and North
Africa and ROW, Europe and North Africa and ROW illustrates the segment contribution by quarter as it relates to the
change in reportable segments.
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2007
Net Sales Quarter | Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quartecd  Total
North America $545.1 $615.2 $583.4 $500.0 §2.2437
Europe and North Africa 426.0 506.7 4939 513.1 1.939.7
ROW 38.1 50.6 58.0 284.7 431.4

_Operating Profit Quarter | Quarter 2 Quarter3  Quarter4  Total

North America §46.8 £56.7 £51.0 $24.9 $179.4
Eurepe and North Africa 303 423 36.8 44.0 162.4
ROW 5.0 4.0 4.5 10.8 243
Identifiable Assets Quarter |  Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
North America $829.9 $880.5 S863.4 $784.9
Europe and North Africa 1.028.1 1.273.3 1.363.9 1,380.0
ROW 1049 1233 1258 1.386.1
Corporate 368.4 402.6 451.1 247.0

2006
Net Sales Quarter I Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter4  Total
North America £464.2 £579.5 $535.7 $4792 820586
Europe and North Africa 3074 368.8 368.5 402.1 1.446.8
ROW 32.7 38.8 442 44.0 159.7
Operating Profit Quarter |  Quarter 2 Quarter 3  Quarter4  Total
North America 520.2 $41.9 $36.4 $30.4 $128.9
Europe and North Africa 223 279 274 24.5 101.9
ROW (0.3) 0.8 2.0 2.6 L
ldentifiable Assets Quarter | Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
North America STHL.2 $772.9 $770.6 §728.7
Europe and North Africa 694.8 814.8 944.8 985.1
ROW 66.0 75.9 81.8 94 8
Corporate 158.0 160.5 162.6 41011

2005
Net Sales Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter4  Total
North America $353.5 $408.1 $412.6 $400.3  $1.574.5
Europe and North Africa 173.5 167.7 155.1 185.7 682.0
ROW 27.2 32.8 32.8 31.5 124.3
Operating Profit Quarter | Quarter2  Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total
Narth America $8.2 $133 829 SI1.8 $36.2
Europe and North Africa 13.6 12.4 12.7 16.2 349
ROW 24 2.3 1.7 1.0 7.4
Identifiable Assets Quarter | Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
North America $667.2 S676.8 $662.2 $644.7
Europe and North Africa 401.3 407.5 411.7 6428
ROW 63.1 66.4 75.0 68.8
Corporate 135.0 142.5 133.0 166.9

18. Commitments and Contingencies

Certain present and former operating sites, or portions thereof, currently or previously owned or leased by current or tormer
operating units of General Cable are the subject of investigations, monitoring or remediation under the United States Federal
Comprehensive Environmental Response. Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund), the Federal Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act or comparable state statutes or agreements with third parties. These proceedings are in
various stages ranging from initial investigations to active settlement negotiations to implementation of the cleanup or
remediation of sites.

Certain present and former operating units of General Cable in the United States have been named as potentially responsible
partics {PRPs} at several off-site disposal sites under CERCLA or comparable state statutes in federal court proceedings. In
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each of these matters. the operating unit of General Cable is working with the governmental agencies involved and other
PRPs 1o address environmental ¢laims in a responsible and appropriate manner.

At December 31. 2007 and 2006. General Cable had an accrued liability of approximately $1.8 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, for various environmental-related liabilities of which General Cable is aware. American Premier Underwriters
Inc., a former parent of General Cable, agreed to indemnify General Cable against all environmental-related liabilities arising
out of General Cable's or its predecessors’ ownership or operation of the Indiana Steel & Wire Company and Marathon
Manufacturing Holdings, Inc. businesses (which were divested by General Cable), without limitation as to time or amount.
While it is difficult to estimate future environmental-related liabilities accurately, General Cable does not currently anticipate
any material adverse impact on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows as a result of compliance with
federal, state, local or foreign environmental laws or regulations or cleanup costs of the sites discussed above.

As part of the acquisition of the worldwide energy cable and cable systems business of BICC ple. BICC ple agreed 1o
indemnify General Cable against environmental liabilities existing at the date of the closing of the purchase of the business.
The indemnity is for an eight-year period ending in 2007 while General Cable operates the businesses subject to certain
sharing of losses (with BICC plc covering 95% of losses in the first three years, 80% in ycars four and five and 60% in the
remaining three years). The indemnity is also subject to the overall indemnity limit of $150 million, which applies to all
warranty and indemnity claims in the transaction. In addition, BICC plc assumed responsibility for cleanup of certain specific
conditions at several sites operated by General Cable and cleanup is mostly complete at those sites. In the sale of the
European businesses to Pirelli in August 2000, the Company generally indemnified Pirelli against any environmental-related
liabilities on the same basis as BICC plc indemnified the Company in the earlier acquisition. However, the indemnity the
Company received from BICC ple related to the European businesses sold to Pirelli terminated upon the sale of those
businesses to Pirelli. At this time. there are no claims outstanding under the general indemnity provided by BICC plc. In
addition, the Company generally indemnified Pirelli against other claims relating to the prior operation of the business. Pirelli
has asserted claims under this indemnification, The Company is continuing to investigate and defend against these claims and
believes that the reserves currently included in the Company’s balance sheet are adequate to cover any obligation it may
have.

General Cable has also agreed to indemnify Southwire Company against certain environmental liabilities arising out of the
operation of the business it sold to Southwire prior to its sale. The indemnity is for a ten year period from the closing of the
sale. which ends in the fourth quarter of 2011, and is subject to an overall limit of $20 million. At this time. there are no
claims outstanding under this indemnity.

As part of the acquisition of Silec, SAFRAN SA agreed to indemnify General Cable against environmental losses arising
from breach of representations and warranties on environmental law compliance and against losses arising from costs
General Cable could incur to remediate property acquired based on a directive of the French authorities to rehabilitate
property in regard 1o soil, water and other underground contamination arising before the closing date of the purchase. These
indemnities are for a six-year period ending in 2011 while General Cable operates the businesses subject to sharing of certain
losses (with SAFRAN covering 100% of losses in year one. 75% in years two and three, 50% in year four, and 25% in years
five and six). The indemnities are subject to an overall limit of 4.0 million euros. As of December 31, 2007, there were no
claims outstanding under this indemnity.

In addition. Company subsidiaries have been named as defendants in lawsuits alleging exposure to asbestos in products
manufactured by the Company. As of December 31, 2007, General Cable was a defendant in approximately 1.275 cases
brought in various jurisdictions throughout the United States. With regards to the approximately 1.275 remaining cases.
General Cable has aggressively defended these cases based upon either lack of product identification as to General Cable
manufactured asbestos-containing product and/or lack of exposure to asbestos dust from the use of General Cable product. In
the last 20 years, General Cable has had no cases proceed 1o verdict. In many of the cases, General Cable was dismissed as a
defendant before trial for lack of product identification.

For cases outside the Multidistrict Litigation (“MDL™) as of December 31, 2007, Plaintiffs have asserted monetary damages
in 389 cases. In 253 of these cases. plaintiffs allege only damages in excess of some dollar amount (about $232.0 thousand
per plaintift); in these cases there are no claims for specific dollar amounts requested as to any defendant. [n 135 other cases
pending in state and federal district courts (outside the MDL), plaimiffs seck approximately $236.0 million in damages from
as many as |10 defendants. In five cases, plaintiffs have asserted damages related to General Cable in the amount of $2.0
million. [n addition, in refation to these 389 cases, there are claims of $74.0 million in punitive damages from all of the
defendants. However. many of the plaintiffs in these cases allege non-malignant injuries. At December 31, 2007 and 2006,
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General Cable had accrued, on a gross basis, approximately $5.2 million, respectively, and had recorded approximately $0.5
million, respectively, ol insurance recoveries for these lawsuils.

[n January 1994, General Cable entered into a settlement agreement with certain principal primary insurers concerning
liability for the costs of defense, judgments and settlements, if any, in all of the asbestos litigation described above. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the settlement agreement, the insurers are responsible for a substantial portion of the costs and
expenses incurred in the defense or resolution of this litigation. In recent years one of the insurers participating in the
settlement that was responsible for a significant portion of the contribution under the settlement agreement entered into
insurance liquidation proceedings. As a result, the contribution of the insurers has been reduced and the Company has had to
bear a larger portion of the costs relating to these lawsuits,  Moreover, certain of the other insurers may be financially
unstable, and if one or more of these insurers enter into insurance liquidation proceedings, General Cable will be required to
pay a larger portion of the costs incurred in connection with these cases. In 2006, the Company reached an approximate $3.0
million settlement in cash for the resolution of one of these insurers” obligations that effectively exhausted the limits of the
insurance company’s policies that were tncluded in the 1994 settlement agreement.

In 2007, the Company acquired the worldwide wire and cable business of Freeport-McMoRan Copper and Gold I[nc., which
operates as PDIC. As pant ol this acquisition, the seller agreed to indemnify the Company for certain environmental
liabilities existing at the date of the closing of the acquisition. The seller’s obligation to indemnify the Company for these
particular liabilities generally survives four years from the date the parties executed the definitive purchase agreement unless
the Company has properly notified the seller before the expiry of the four year period. The seller also made certain
representations and warranties related to environmental matters and the acquired business and agreed to indemnify the
Company for breaches of those representation and warranties for a period of four years from the closing date.
Indemnification claims for breach of representations and warranties are subject to an overall indemmnity limit of
approximately $105 million with a deductible of $5.0 million, which generally applies to all warranty and indemnity claims
for the transaction.

The Company does not believe that the outcome of the litigation will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated results
ot operations, financial position or cash flows.

General Cable is also involved in various routine legal proceedings and administrative actions. Such proceedings and actions
should not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its result ol operations, cash flows or financial
position.

The General Cable Executive Severance Benefit Plan (“Severance Plan™), effective January 1, 2008, applicable to the
Company’s executive officers includes a change in control provision such that the executlives may receive payments or
benefits in accordance with the Scverance Plan to the extent that both a change of control and a triggering event, each as
defined in the Severance Plan, occur. Unless there are circumstances of ineligibility, as defined, the Company must provide
payments and benefits upon both a change in control and a triggering event. A similar existing severance policy that entitled
certain executives to payments and benefits upon a change in control was terminated effective December 31, 2007.

General Cable has entered into various operating lease agreements related principally to certain administrative,
manufacturing and distribution facilities and transportation equipment. Future minimum rental payments required under non-
cancelable lease agreements at December 31, 2007 were as follows: 2008 — $10.3 million, 2009 — $7.6 million, 2010 — $6.5
million, 2011 — $4.7 million, 2012 - $2.2 million and thereafler $5.3 million. Rental expense recorded in income from
continuing operations was $14.4 million, $11.3 million and $12.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

[n conjunction with the assessment that the Company carried out as a result of the requirements of FIN 47, “Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” the Company has estimated environmental liabilities that it may be required to
incur upen future retirement of fixed assets. The Company identified, evaluated and recorded an immaterial amount that
represents under existing legislation the Company’s liability to dispose of certain environmental hazards upon a demolition or
major renovation of the facilities.

In Europe and North Africa as it relates 1o the 2005 purchase of shares of Silec Cable, S.A.S (Silec), the Company has

pledged to the bank the following: Silec Cable, S.A.S shares, segment assets such as land and buildings and General Cable
Spain and Portugal have been designated as guarantors.
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As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $95.1 million in letters of credit, $112.0 million in various performance bonds
and 5237.5 million in other guarantees. These letters of credit, performance bonds and guarantees are periodically renewed
and are generally related to risk associated with self insurance claims, defined benefit plan obligations, contract performance
and quality and other various bank financing guarantees.

19. Unconsolidated Affiliated Companies

Unconsolidated affiliated companies are those in which the Company generally owns less than 50 percent of the outstanding
voting shares. The Company does not control these companies and accounts for its investments in them on the equity basis.
The investments in these companies primarily consist of PDTL Trading Company Ltd. (49.00 percent ownership), Phelps
Dodge Philippines, Inc. (39.99 percent ownership), Colada Continua Chilena, S.A. (40.79 percent ownership). and Keystone
Electric Wire & Cable Co., Ltd. (20.00 percent ownership). The unconsolidated affiliated companies primarily manufacture
or market wire and cable products in our ROW segment. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has recorded on its
consolidated balance sheet an investment in unconsolidated affiliated companics of $29.5 million. The Company’s share of
the income of these companies is reported in the consolidated statement of operations under “Equity in net earnings of
affiliated companies.” In 2007, equity in net earnings of affilialed companies was $0.4 million.

20. Quarterly Qperating Results (Unaudited)

The interim financial information is unaudited. In the opinion of management. the interim financial information reflects ail
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of quarterly financial information, Quarterly results have been influenced by
seasonal factors inherent in General Cable’s businesses. The sum of the quarters’ earnings per share amounts may not add to
full year carnings per share because each quarter is calculated independently, and the sum of the quarters’ other figures may
not add to the full year because of rounding. Summarized historical quarterly financial data for 2007 and 2006 are set forth
below (in millions, except per share data):

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2007
Net sales $1,009.2 $1.1725 $1.1353 51,2978
Gross profit 849.4 173.1 163.5 166.3
Net income 379 62.9 61.2 46.7
Net income applicable to common sharcholders 378 62.8 6l1.1 46.6
Earnings per common share — basic £ 074 § 123 $ 1.19 § 091
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution $ 071 $ 115 § 111 § 0.34
Earnings per commen share — basic $ 074 § 1.23 § 119 $ 091
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution § 071 S s 111 5 0.84
20062
Net sales $ 8043 $ 987.1 $ 948.4 $ 9253
Gross profit 97.6 129.5 122.0 121.9
Net income 214 41.5 371 354
Net income applicable to common shareholders 21.3 41.4 37.0 353
Earnings per common share — hasic 3 043 £ 0381 $ 074 § 070
Earnings per common share — assuming
dilution $ 041 $ 0.80 S 0.71 § 067
Earnings per common share — basic $ 043 $ 0.81 $ 074 $ 070
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution § 041 S 0.80 $ 071 $ 0.67

" Results for the second and fourth quarters of 2007 include benefits from deferred tax valuation allowance releases of

$5.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively.
Results for the second and fourth quarters of 2006 include benefits from deferred tax valuation allowance releases of’
$3.7 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

2}
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21. Supplemental Guarantor Information

General Cable Corporation and its U.S. wholly-owned subsidiaries fully and unconditionally guaraniee the 5475 million of
1.00% Senior Convertible Notes, the $355.0 million of 0.875% Convertible Notes and the 8325 million of 7.125% Senior
Notes due in 2017 and Senior Floating Rate Notes of General Cable Corporation (the Issuer) on a joint and several basis.
The following presents financial information about the lssuer, guarantor subsidiaries and non-guarantor subsidiaries in
millions. All of the Company’s subsidiaries are “restricted subsidiaries” for purposes of the 1.00% Senior Convertible Notes
and 0.875% Convertible Notes. Intercompany transactions are eliminated.

Candensed Statements of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
[ssuer Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sales:
Customers $ - $ 22085 $ 24063 $ - $ 46148
Intercompany 487 - - (48.7} -
487 2,208.5 24063 (48.7) 46148
Cost of sales - 1,887.7 2.064.4 - 3,952.1
Gross profit 48.7 3208 3419 (48.7) 662.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 44.5 144.1 156.7 (43.7) 296.6
Operating income 4.2 176.7 1852 - 366.1
Other income (¢xpense) 1.2 0.2 (4.8) - (3.4)
Interest income (expense):
Interest expense (33.3) (68.0) (17.9) 70.8 (48.4)
[nterest income 74.7 5.5 94 (70.8) 8.8
Loss on extinguishment of debt (25.3) - - - (25.3)
16.1 (62.5) (8.5) - {54.9)
Income before income taxes 21.5 114.4 171.9 - 307.8
Income tax provision (7.8) (41.0) (50.6) - (99.4)
Minority intercst - - (0.2) - {0.2)
Equity in net carnings of affiliated companies 194.9 121.5 0.4 (316.4) 0.4
Net income (loss) 208.6 194.9 121.5 (316.4) 208.6
Less: preferred stock dividends {0.3) - - - (0.3)
Net income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders $ 2083 S 1949 § 1215 $ (3l6.4) 5 2083
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Condensed Statements of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sales:
Customers 5 - § 2,0281 $ 1,637.0 $ - $ 3,665.1
[ntercompany 50.1 - - (50.1) -
50.1 2,028.1 1,637.0 (50.1) 3,665.1
Cost of sales - 1.774.6 1.419.5 - 3.194.1
Gross profit 501 2535 217.5 {50.1) 471.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 46.1 133.3 105.8 (50.1) 235.1
Operating income 4.0 120.2 111.7 - 2359
Other income (expense) - (0.3) 0.2 - 0.1)
Interest income (expense):
[nterest expense (27.8) (61.6) (8.6) 58.0 (40.0)
Interest income 559 1.3 5.2 (58.0) 44
28.1 {60.3) (3.4) - {35.6)
Income before income taxes 32.1 59.6 108.5 - 200.2
Income tax provision (1L.7) (20.1) (33.1) - (64.9)
Equity in net eamings of affiliated companies 114.9 75.4 - {190.3) -
Net income {loss) 1353 1149 754 {190.3) 1353
Less: preferred stock dividends (0.3) - - - (0.3)
Net income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders $ 1350 $ 1149 S 754 3 (190.3) $ 1350
Condensed Statements of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
[ssuer Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sales:
Cuslomers 3 - $ 1.559.3 $ §21.5 S - $ 2,380.8
Intercompany 480.4 - - (480.4) -
480.4 1,559.3 821.5 (480.4) 2,380.8
Cost of sales 4148 1,426.7 699.8 (431.2) 2,110.1
Gross profit 65.6 132.6 121.7 (49.2) 270.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 58.6 106.7 56.1 (49.2) 172.2
Operating income 7.0 259 65.6 - 98.5
Other expense - - (0.3) - {0.5)
Interest income (expense):
Interest expense (27.8) (49.5) (3.2) 40.6 (39.9)
Interest income 38.4 20 3.1 (40.6) 29
10.6 (47.5) (0.1) - (37.0)
Income (loss) before income taxes 17.6 (21.6) 65.0 - 61.0
Income tax (provisicn) benefit {6.2) 4.6 (20.2) - (21.8)
Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies 27.8 44.8 - (72.6) -
Net income {loss}) 39.2 27.8 44 8 (72.6) 39.2
Less: preferred stock dividends {22.09 - - - (22.0)
Net income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders $ 172 § 278 $ 448 $  (72.6) b 17.2
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Assets
Curreni asscts:
Cash
Receivables. net of allowances
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other
Tolal current assels

Property. plant and equipment. net
Deferred income taxes
Intercompany accounts

[nvestment in subsidiaries

Goodwill

[ntangible assets, net
Unconsolidated affiliated companies
Other non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current habilities

Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Intercompany accounts
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries

Total sharcholders™ equity (deficit}

Total liabilities and sharcholders™ equity

Condensed Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Issuer Subsidiarics Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
S 7.2 S 13.2 ) 3053 S - 3257
- 241.1 880.3 - 1.121.4
- 3014 627.4 - 928.8
4.5 1047 31.1 - 140.3
8.1 21.1 32.2 - o0l.4
19.8 681.5 1.876.3 - 2.577.6
0.7 1854 552.7 - 73K.8
- 211 21.5 - 42.6
9442 487.7 305.1 (1.737.00 -
815.8 914.8 - (1.730.6) -
- - 116.1 - 116.1
- 0.7 236.0 - 236.7
- - 295 - 295
234 25.3 8.0 - 56.7
S 1,803.9 $ 23165 S 3,1452 § (3.467.6) 3.798.0
S - S 133.3 S 804.0 S - 9373
(15.1) 151.9 290.5 - 4273
335.0 1.0 144.9 - 500.9
3399 286.2 1,2394 - 1,865.5
800.0 714 26.5 - 8979
- - 118.5 - 118.5
0.5 1.042.3 694.2 (1.737.0) -
122 100.8 77.0 - 190.0
1,152.6 1.500.7 21556 (1.737.0) 30719
_ - 74.8 - 74.8
651.3 8158 914.8 {1,730.6) 651.3
$ 1.803.9 S 23165 S 3.145.2 $ (3.467.6) 3.,798.0
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Condensed Balance Sheets
December 31, 2006

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 1977 S 10.9 g 101.9 $ - $ 3105
Receivables, net of allowances - 234.0 489.7 - 723.7
Inventories - 284.3 278.8 - 563.1
Deferred income taxes 4.8 86.9 12.4 - 104.1
Prepaid cxpenses and other 35 19.8 9.6 - 329
Total current assets 206.0 635.9 8924 - 1,734.3
Property, plant and equipment, net 0.7 175.3 240.7 - 416.7
Deferred income taxes - 16.8 12.0 - 28.8
Intercompany accounts 798.1 93.1 95.6 (986.8) -
Investment in subsidiaries 124.4 3418 - {466.2) -
Other non-current asscts 13.8 20.8 4.3 - 389
Total assets $ 1,143.0 $ 1,283.7 $ 1,245.0 $ (1,453.0) $ 2.218.7
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ - S 1838 3 471.6 S - § 6354
Accrued liabilities 17.8 122.3 144.2 - 2843
Current portion of long-term debt - 1.0 54.5 - 55.5
Total current habilities 17.8 307.1 6703 - 995.2
Long-term debt 640.0 12.2 329 - 685.1
Deferred income taxes - - 13.2 - 13.2
Intercompany accounts 385 7824 1659 {986.8) -
Other liabilities 12.3 57.6 20.9 - 90.8
Total liabilities 708.6 1.159.3 903.2 (986.8) 1,784.3
Total sharcholders™ equity (deficit) 434.4 124.4 341.8 (466.2) 434 .4
Total liabilities and sharcholders™ equity $1,143.0 $ 1.2837 $ 12450 $ (14530 § 22187
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2005

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Issuer Subsidiarics  Subsidiarics Eliminations  Total
Net cash flows of operating activitics § (184 S 666 S 728 5§ - § 1210
Cash flows of investing activities:
Capital expenditures - (24.0) (18.6) - (42.6)
Acquisitions. net of cash acquired - (9.8) (K2.8) - (92.6)
Proceeds from properties sotd - 24 0.6 - 3.0
Intercompany accounts 37.7 - - (37.7) -
Other. net - 1.9 (0.2) - 1.7
Net cash flows of investing activities 37.7 (29.5) (101.09 (37.7) (130.5)
Cash flows of financing activitics:
Dividends paid (22.0) - - - (22.0
Intercompany accounts {69.0) 313 377 -
Proceeds from revolving credit borrowings - 327.1 - - 3271
Repayments of revolving credit borrowings - (290.6) - - (290.6)
Proceeds {repayments) of other debt - - 354 - 354
Procceds from exercise of stock options 2.6 - - - 2.6
Net cash tlows of financing activities (19.4) (32.5 60.7 37.7 52.5
Eftect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents - - (7.2) - (7.2)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (0.1) 4.6 31.3 - 358
Cush and cash equivalents — beginning of period 0.1 6.5 29.8 - 36.4
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period S - 5 11 § ol S - § 722
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Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(in millions)

For the Year
Ended December 31,

2007 2000 2005
Accounts Receivable Allowances:

Beginning balance $ 100 $ 8.6 S 160
Impact of foreign currency exchange rate change 0.6 0.7 (1.2)
Provision 9.7 22 04
Write-offs'” (2.4) (1.5) (6.6)

Ending balance § 179 § 100 $ 8.6

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance:

Beginning balance 8 213 $ 185 § 175
Additions charged to expense 3.8 23 2.5
Additions attributable to acquisitions 6.4 9.8 -
Reductions from utilization and reassessments (12.2) (9.3) (1.5)

Ending balance®”’ $ 193 S 213 S 185

" During 2005, the Company s European operations wrote-off approximately $5.2 million of accounts receivable

that had been fully provided for in prior years.
@ [mpact of forcign currency exchange rate change was $1.4 million, $0.8 million and $0.1 million in 2007, 2006

and 2005, respectively.
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GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

EARNINGS AS DEFINED

(in millions)

Year ended December 31,

Earnings (loss) from operations before income taxes and before

adjustments for minority interests in consolidated

subsidiaries and after eliminating undistributed carnings

of equity method investees
Preferred stock dividend (pre-tax equivalent)
Fixed charges
TOTAL EARNINGS, AS DEFINED

FIXED CHARGES. AS DEFINED

Interest expense
Amortization of capitalized expenses related to debt
Preferred stock dividend (pre-tax equivalent)
Interest component of rent expense

TOTAL FIXED CHARGES, AS DEFINED

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
$3078 S2043 $ 615 S 185 5 (1.2) $(27.6)
(0.5) (0.5)  (33.8) 92)  (0.9) :
52.5 43.3 76.7 494 536 475
$359.8  $247.0 S1044 §$ 587 S 515 § 199
$ 439 $369 $ 365 § 350 $ 453 S 413
45 3.1 34 2.7 4.5 37
0.5 0.5 33.8 92 0.9 .
3.6 28 3.0 2.5 2.9 2.5
$.525 $433 $ 767 S 494 $.536 § 475
6.9 5.7 1.4 1.2 -

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges by $2.1 million and

$27.6 million, respectively.
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List of Subsidiaries

Name

Alambres y Cables Venezolanos, C.A.

Alcap Comercial, S.A.

Cables Electricos Ecuatorianos C.A,

Cahosa, S.A,

Cobre Cerillos, S.A.

Colada Continua Chilena S.A.

Condel-Fabrica de Contudores Electricos de Angola SARL
Conducen, S.A.

Dominion Wire and Cables Ltd.

E.C.N. Cable Group, S.L.

Electroconductores de Honduras, S.A. de C.V,
GC Latin America Holdings, S.L.

GC Specialty & Automotive

GCNZ India BW | Limited

GCNZ India BW 2 Limited

GCNZ India Cable 1 Limited

GCNZ India Cable 2 Limited

General Cable (Jiangyin) Co. Ltd.

General Cable Argentina S.A.

General Cable Asia Pacific Limited

General Cable Australia Pty. Ltd.

General Cable Automotriz, S.A. de C.V,

General Cable Brasil Participacoes Ltda

General Cable Canada, Ltd.

General Cabte Caribbean

General Cable Celcat, Energia e Telecomunicacoes SA
General Cabte Commerce and Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
General Cable Company

General Cable Corporation

General Cable de Latinoamerica, S.A. de C.V,
General Cable de Mexico del Norte, S.A. de C.V.
General Cable do Brasil S.A.

General Cable Global Holdings, Inc.

General Cable Holdings (Spain) S.L.

General Cable Holdings (UK) Limited

General Cable Holdings de Mexico, S.A de C.V.
General Cable Holdings Netherlands C.V.
General Cable Holdings New Zealand

General Cable Industries, Inc.

Gencral Cable Industries, LLC

General Cable Investments, SGPS, Sociedade Uinipessoal, SA
General Cable Management LLC

General Cable New Zealand Limited

General Cable Norge A/S

General Cable Overseas Holdings, LL.C
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Venezuela
Panama
Ecuador
Panama

Chile

Chile

Angola

Costa Rica

Fiji

Spain

Honduras

Spain

Mauritius

New Zealand
New Zealand
New Zealand
New Zealand
China

Argentina

New Zealand
Australia
Mexico

Brazil

Canada (Ontario)
Dominican Republic
Portugal

China

Canada (Nova Scotia)
USA (Delaware)
Mexico

Mexico

Brazil

USA (Delaware)
Spain

England

Mexico
Netherlands
New Zealand
USA {Delaware)
USA (Delaware)
Madeira

USA (Delaware)
New Zealand
Norway

USA (Delaware)
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List of Subsidiaries - continued

General Cable Services Europe Limited

General Cable Services Limited

General Cable Sistemas S.A.

General Cable Superconductors Investment Limited
General Cable Superconductors Limited

General Cable Technologics Corporation

General Cable Texas Operations L.P.

General Cable Trading

General Cable Trinidad Limited

GK Technologies. Inc.

Grupo General Cable Sistemnas. S.A.

Marathon Manufacturing Holdings, Inc.

Metal Fabricators of Zambia Limited

National Cables (P1y) Ltd.

Plaza General Cable Energy Private Limited
Navratna Wires Private Limited

Norddeutsche Seekabelwerke GmBH

NSW Technology Limited

PD Colombia, 5.A,

PDIC Mexico. S.A. de C.V.

PDIC Peru S.A.C.

Phelps Dodge (Suzhou) Magnet Wire Company. Ltd.
Phelps Dodge Africa Cable Corporation

Phelps Dodge Brasil, Ltda.

Phelps Dodge Centro America El Salvador, S.A. de C.V.
Phelps Dodge Centro America Honduras, S.A. de C.V.
Phelps Dodge Centro America, S.A. Nicaragua
Phelps Dodge Enfield Corporation

Phelps Dodge International Corporation

Phelps Dodge National Cabies Corporation

Phelps Dodge Suzhou Holdings. [ne.

Phelps Dodge Thailand Ltd.

Phelps Dodge Wire & Cable Sales Corporation
Phelps Dodge Yantai Cable Company, Ltd.

Phelps Dodge Yantai China Holdings. Inc.

Proveedora de Cables Y Alambres PDCA Guatemala, S.A.

Servicios Latincamericanos. S.A. de C.V,
SILEC Cable. S.A.S.
YA Holdings, Ltd.

England
IEngland

Spain

New Zealand
New Zealand
USA {Delaware}
USA (Delaware)
Mauritius
Trinidad & Tobago
USA (New lersey)
Spain

USA (Delaware)
Zambia

South Africa
India

India

Germany
Scotland
Colombia
Mexico

Peru

China

USA (Delaware)
Brazil

El Salvador
Honduras
Nicaragua

USA (Delaware)
USA (Delaware)
USA (Delaware}
Cayman Islands
Thailand

USA (Delaware)
China

Cayman Islands
Guatemala
Mexico

France

Cayman Islands
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

General Cable Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-28965, 333-31865, 333-31867, 333-31869,
333-31871, 333-89629, 333-51812, 333-51818, 333-51822, 333-58792 and 333-125190 on Form S-8; Post-effective
Amendment No, | 1o Registration Statement No. 333-59125 on Form S-8; and Registration Statenent No. 333-138511 on
Form S-3 of our reports dated February 29, 2008 (which reports express an unqualified opinion and include an explanatory
paragraph relating to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 109, on January
1. 2007. the recognition and related disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans - an amendment of FASE
Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R), " on December 31. 2006, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” on January 1, 2006), relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial
statemnent schedule of General Cable Corporation and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of mternal control over financial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation and subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2007.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
February 29, 2008
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Gregory B. Kenny, certify that:

L}

2)

3)

4)

5)

| have reviewed this Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation;,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial mformation included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other centifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and [5d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that malterial information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

{d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materiaily affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting. to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record. process. summarize and
report financial information; and

{b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2008

/s/ GREGORY B. KENNY

Gregory B. Kenny
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1, Brian J. Robinson, certify that:

D

2)

3)

4)

3)

1 have reviewed this Form 10-K of General Cable Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary 10 make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15({)) for the registrant and have:

(2) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensurc that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

{b)} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

{d)} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal contrel over financial reporting that cccurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors {or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

{a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b} Any fraud, whether or not matcrial, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2008

/s/ BRIAN J. ROBINSON

Brian J. Robinson
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 32.1

GENERAL CABLE CORPORATION
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350,
AS ADOPTED UNDER
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States
Code}, each of the undersigned officers of General Cable Corporation (the “Company™) does hereby certify with respect to
the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (the “Report™) that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2y The information contained in the Report fairly presents. in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 29, 2008 /s/ GREGORY B. KENNY
Gregory B, Kenny
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 29, 2008 /s/ BRIAN J. ROBINSON
Brian J. Robinson
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification 1s being furmnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Section
1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure document.
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The 2008 annual meeting of
shareholders will be held on
Thursday, May 15, 2008 at
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Canas Km 11, San Jose, Costa
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the Phelps Dodge Internaticnal
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